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FOREWORD

Fiscal transparency provides legislatures, markets, and citizens with the information they need to hold governments
accountable for their fiscal performance and use of public resources. Since the IMF first adopted the Code of Good
Practices in Fiscal Transparency in 1998, and introduced voluntary assessments of fiscal transparency practices in our
member countries, research has shown the importance of fiscal transparency for the effective management of public
finances, improving governance, and reducing corruption. In particular, a lack of fiscal transparency can undermine
accountability and provide opportunities for the misappropriation of public funds. The growing distrust between
citizens and governments on how public moneys are used, and how to tackle poverty and inequalities, also calls for
greater transparency in public accounts.
For 20 years, the IMF has remained at the forefront of the fiscal transparency agenda, adapting the Code as needed.
The current, 2014, version of the Code reflects lessons from the global financial crisis; it received much input from a
broad-based global consultation process that involved, among others, governments, civil society, academia, and market participants. It was launched together with a new Fiscal Transparency Evaluation (FTE) tool to help assess actual
country practices against the Code.
I am now pleased to introduce the 2018 Fiscal Transparency Handbook. The Handbook reflects on our experiences with
FTEs, provides detailed guidance on implementing the Code’s principles and practices, and breaks new ground for
enhancing countries’ fiscal transparency and accountability. Promoting greater fiscal transparency requires both clear
reporting standards, as well as effective monitoring and enforcement of those standards. The Handbook offers examples and case studies from countries around the globe on how to achieve this. As a companion to the Code and the
FTEs, the Handbook will help countries strengthen their economic institutions in the area of public financial management. Together they form an important part of IMF surveillance tools and efforts to encourage countries to improve
fiscal governance, including accountability of governments for their delivery on policies related to reduction of poverty and gender inequality.
I recommend this Handbook to all those—officials, researchers, representatives of civil society organizations, and
others—in the public or private sectors, who have an interest in promoting transparency and effective management
of public finances. Together, we can push the transparency agenda and close the trust gap between citizens and their
governments.
Christine Lagarde,
Managing Director
International Monetary Fund

v
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PREFACE

The 2014 Fiscal Transparency Code and its companion, the Fiscal Transparency Handbook, mark important milestones in
the IMF’s efforts to promote transparency and accountability in the use of public resources and support governments’
efforts to strengthen economic governance, policymaking, and economic institution building. The Code, which is one
of the 12 standards under the IMF’s Standards and Codes Initiative that was launched in the late 1990s to strengthen
the international financial architecture, has evolved into being the most widely recognized international standard for
disclosure of information about public finances. The Fiscal Transparency Evaluation (FTE) is the IMF’s main diagnostic
tool for a comprehensive assessment of country practices against the transparency standards set by the Code.
This Handbook explains the 2014 Code’s principles and practices and provides more detailed guidance on their implementation, including through country examples that derive from the FTEs. It covers the first three Pillars of the
Code (i.e., fiscal reporting, fiscal forecasting and budgeting, and fiscal risk analysis and management); discusses key
dimensions and principles under each pillar; provides guidance on the requirements for meeting the basic, good, and
advanced practices for each principle; and includes practical examples from countries around the globe. The Handbook also notes relevant international standards and guidance material related to the Code’s principles. A subsequent
version of the Handbook, planned for 2019, will incorporate the fourth Pillar of the Code on natural resource revenue
management, which is currently being finalized.
The Handbook also aims to provide guidance on the application of the 2014 Code to a range of stakeholders: governments with an interest in promoting fiscal transparency; national oversight and accountability institutions, such as
legislatures, supreme audit institutions, parliamentary budget offices, national statistics agencies, and independent
fiscal agencies; representatives of civil society organizations; international organizations; investors; academia and
researchers studying public finance and fiscal transparency; and others with an interest in further improving fiscal
transparency practices around the globe.
The Handbook has been a vast collaborative undertaking by the Fiscal Affairs Department staff and in close cooperation with external stakeholders. We are grateful, in particular, to the governments who have undertaken fiscal
transparency evaluations, IMF Executive Directors’ offices, and colleagues from other departments of the IMF who
provided helpful comments on the draft. The Handbook also benefited from comments and suggestions from World
Bank staff, the Global Initiative on Fiscal Transparency (GIFT), the International Budget Partnership (IBP), and the
Public Expenditure and Financial Accountability (PEFA) secretariat.
Vitor Gaspar
Director
Fiscal Affairs Department
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THE FISCAL TRANSPARENCY CODE

Pillar I. Fiscal Reporting
Fiscal reports should provide a comprehensive, relevant, timely, and reliable overview of the
government’s financial position and performance.
Dimension 1.1. Coverage: Fiscal reports should provide a comprehensive overview of the fiscal activities of the
public sector and its subsectors, according to international standards.
Principle 1.1.1. Coverage of Institutions: Fiscal reports cover all entities engaged in public activity according to
international standards.
Principle 1.1.2. Coverage of Stocks: Fiscal reports include a balance sheet of public assets, liabilities, and net
worth.
Principle 1.1.3. Coverage of Flows: Fiscal reports cover all public revenues, expenditures, and financing.
Principle 1.1.4. Coverage of Tax Expenditures: The government regularly discloses and manages revenue loss
from tax expenditure.
Dimension 1.2. Frequency and Timeliness: Fiscal reports should be published in a frequent, regular, and timely
manner.
Principle 1.2.1. Frequency of In-Year Reporting: In-year fiscal reports are published on a frequent and regular
basis.
Principle 1.2.2. Timeliness of Annual Financial Statements: Audited or final annual financial statements are
published in a timely manner.
Dimension 1.3. Quality: Information in fiscal reports should be relevant, internationally comparable, and internally and historically consistent.
Principle 1.3.1. Classification: Fiscal reports classify information in ways that make clear the use of public
resources and facilitate international comparisons.
Principle 1.3.2. Internal Consistency: Fiscal reports are internally consistent and include reconciliations between
alternative measures of summary fiscal aggregates.
Principle 1.3.3. Historical Revisions: Major revisions to historical fiscal statistics are disclosed and explained.
Dimension 1.4. Integrity: Fiscal statistics and financial statements should be reliable, subject to external scrutiny,
and facilitate accountability.
Principle 1.4.1. Statistical Integrity: Fiscal statistics are compiled and disseminated in accordance with international standards.
Principle 1.4.2. External Audit: Annual financial statements are subject to a published audit by an independent
supreme audit institution which validates their reliability.
Principle 1.4.3. Comparability of Fiscal Data: Fiscal forecasts, budgets, and fiscal reports are presented on a
comparable basis, with any deviations explained.

xiii
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Pillar II. Fiscal Forecasting and Budgeting
Budgets and their underlying fiscal forecasts should provide a clear statement of the government’s budgetary objectives and policy intentions, and comprehensive, timely, and credible
projections of the evolution of the public finances.
Dimension 2.1. Comprehensiveness: Fiscal forecasts and budgets should provide a comprehensive overview of
fiscal prospects.
Principle 2.1.1. Budget Unity: Revenues, expenditures, and financing of all central government entities are presented on a gross basis in budget documentation and authorized by the legislature.
Principle 2.1.2. Macroeconomic Forecasts: The budget projections are based on comprehensive macroeconomic
forecasts, which are disclosed and explained.
Principle 2.1.3. Medium-Term Budget Framework: Budget documentation includes outturns and projections of
revenues, expenditures, and financing over the medium term on the same basis as the annual budget.
Principle 2.1.4. Investment Projects: The government regularly discloses its financial obligations under multiannual investment projects, and subjects all major projects to cost-benefit analysis and open and competitive
tender.
Dimension 2.2. Orderliness: The powers and responsibilities of the executive and legislative branches of government in the budget process should be defined in law, and the budget should be presented, debated, and approved
in a timely manner.
Principle 2.2.1. Fiscal Legislation: The legal framework clearly defines the timetable for budget preparation and
approval, key contents of the budget documentation, and the powers and responsibilities of the executive and
legislature in the budget process.
Principle 2.2.2. Timeliness of Budget Documents: The legislature and the public are consistently given adequate time to scrutinize and approve the annual budget.
Dimension 2.3. Policy Orientation: Fiscal forecasts and budgets should be presented in a way that facilitates policy
analysis and accountability.
Principle 2.3.1. Fiscal Policy Objectives: The government states and reports on clear and measurable objectives
for public finances.
Principle 2.3.2. Performance Information: Budget documentation provides information regarding the objectives
and results achieved under each major government policy area.
Principle 2.3.3. Public Participation: The government provides citizens with an accessible summary of the implications of budget policies and an opportunity to participate in budget deliberations.
Dimension 2.4. Credibility: Economic and fiscal forecasts and budgets should be credible.
Principle 2.4.1. Independent Evaluation: The government’s economic and fiscal forecasts and performance are
subject to independent evaluation.
Principle 2.4.2. Supplementary Budget: Any material changes to the approved budget are authorized by the
legislature.
Principle 2.4.3. Forecast Reconciliation: Budget documentation and any subsequent updates explain any material changes to the government’s previous fiscal forecasts, distinguishing the fiscal impact of new policy measures from the baseline.
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xv

Pillar III. Fiscal Risk Analysis and Management
Governments should disclose, analyze, and manage risks to the public finances and ensure
effective coordination of fiscal decision making across the public sector.
Dimension 3.1. Risk Disclosure and Analysis: Governments should publish regular summary reports on risks to
their fiscal prospects.
Principle 3.1.1. Macroeconomic Risks: The government reports on how fiscal outcomes might differ from baseline forecasts as a result of different macroeconomic assumptions.
Principle 3.1.2. Specific Fiscal Risks: The government provides a regular summary report on the main specific
risks to its fiscal forecasts.
Principle 3.1.3. Long-Term Fiscal Sustainability Analysis: The government regularly publishes projections of
the evolution of the public finances over the long term.
Dimension 3.2. Risk Management: Specific risks to public finances should be regularly monitored, disclosed, and
managed.
Principle 3.2.1. Budgetary Contingencies: The budget has adequate and transparent allocations for contingencies that arise during budget execution.
Principle 3.2.2. Asset and Liability Management: Risks relating to major assets and liabilities are disclosed and
managed.
Principle 3.2.3. Guarantees: The government’s guarantee exposure is regularly disclosed and authorized by law.
Principle 3.2.4. Public-Private Partnerships: Obligations under public-private partnerships are regularly disclosed and actively managed.
Principle 3.2.5. Financial Sector Exposure: The government’s potential fiscal exposure to the financial sector is
analyzed, disclosed, and managed.
Principle 3.2.6. Natural Resources: The government’s interest in exhaustible natural resource assets and their
exploitation is valued, disclosed, and managed.
Principle 3.2.7. Environmental Risks: The potential fiscal exposure to natural disasters and other major environmental risks are analyzed, disclosed, and managed.
Dimension 3.3. Fiscal Coordination: Fiscal relations and performance across the public sector should be analyzed,
disclosed, and coordinated.
Principle 3.3.1. Subnational Governments: Comprehensive information on the financial condition and performance of subnational governments, individually and as a consolidated sector, are collected and published.
Principle 3.3.2. Public Corporations: The government regularly publishes comprehensive information on the
financial performance of public corporations, including any quasi-fiscal activity undertaken by them.
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1

OVERVIEW

FISCAL TRANSPARENCY AND ITS IMPORTANCE
1. Fiscal transparency refers to the information available to the public about the government’s fiscal policymaking process. It refers to the clarity, reliability, frequency, timeliness, and relevance of public fiscal reporting and the openness of such information.
•

Clarity is the ease with which reports can be understood by users.

•

Reliability is the extent to which reports are an accurate representation of government fiscal operations and
finances.

•

Frequency (or periodicity) is the regularity with which reports are published.

•

Timeliness refers to the time lag involved in the dissemination of these reports.

•

Relevance refers to the extent to which reports provide users (legislatures, citizens, and markets) with the
information they need to make effective decisions.

•

Openness refers to the ease with which the public can find information, and influence and hold governments accountable for their fiscal policy decisions.1

2. Fiscal transparency is a critical element of effective fiscal management. It helps ensure that the economic
decisions of governments are informed by a shared and accurate assessment of the current fiscal position,
the costs and benefits of any policy changes, and the potential risks to the fiscal outlook. Fiscal transparency
also provides legislatures, markets, and citizens with the information they need to make efficient financial
decisions and to hold governments accountable for their fiscal performance and the management and use of
public resources. And it facilitates international surveillance of fiscal developments and helps mitigate the
transmission of fiscal spillovers between countries. Greater transparency can also help underpin the credibility of a government’s management of public finances and improve market confidence. Empirical evidence
points to a positive relationship between the degree of fiscal transparency and sovereign credit ratings (IMF,
2012a).

THE IMF’S FISCAL TRANSPARENCY CODE
3. The IMF’s Fiscal Transparency Code (the Code) is the most widely recognized international standard for
disclosure of information about public finances (Box 1.1). The Code is part of the IMF’s efforts to strengthen
fiscal surveillance, support policymaking, and improve fiscal accountability among its member countries. It is
1

Ideally, the information should be published online for ease of public access. This ensures that budget documents are not available at the discretion of governments to only a privileged few that have access to ministries of finance/government agencies. Some
countries also have freedom of information legislation that requires government agencies to make available to the public on request
any information they hold, subject to certain clearly specified exceptions (which generally include national security, obligations of
confidentiality to a third party, law enforcement, and personal privacy). Such legislation can create a presumption in favor of public
release and place the onus on government to demonstrate an overriding public interest in case of nondisclosure.

1
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one of the 12 standards that have been recognized by the international community under the IMF and World
Bank’s Standards and Codes Initiative launched in 1999 to strengthen the international financial architecture.2



Box 1.1.

The IMF’s Fiscal Transparency Code (the Code)

The IMF has a long history in setting fiscal transparency standards dating back to 1998.
•

In 1998, the IMF introduced the Code (Code of Good Practices on Fiscal Transparency),1 which led to a voluntary program of fiscal
transparency assessments called fiscal transparency modules of Reports on the Observance of Standards and Codes (fiscal ROSCs)
that were the first comprehensive fiscal transparency assessments at the international level. The Manual on Fiscal Transparency was
issued in the same year (IMF, 1998).

•

In 2007, the Code was updated to reflect some emerging good practices and broaden its coverage but retained the original four
pillars of fiscal transparency: (i) clarity of roles and responsibilities; (ii) open budget processes; (iii) public availability of information;
and (iv) assurances of integrity. The Manual was also revised (IMF, 2007).

•

Reflecting the unique set of challenges faced by countries that derive a significant share of revenues from natural resources, the IMF
issued a Guide on Resource Revenue Transparency in 2005, which was subsequently updated (IMF, 2007). This guide provided an overview
of generally recognized good practices for transparency of resource revenue management consistent with the principles of the Code.

•

In 2014,2 in the aftermath of the global financial crisis, which started in 2007, the IMF revised the Fiscal Transparency Code and launched
the Fiscal Transparency Evaluation (FTE), which replaced the fiscal ROSC (IMF, 2012a). The new Code updates the 2007 version, reflects the
lessons of the global financial crisis, incorporates developments in international standards, and builds on feedback from stakeholder consultations. It comprises a set of principles built around four “pillars.” Pillars I, II, and III were finalized following an extensive consultation exercise
in two rounds between December 2012 and August 2013. An additional two rounds of public consultation were undertaken for Pillar IV.

Source: IMF staff.

1

2

The Asian financial crisis of the late 1990s highlighted shortcomings in financial reporting in both the public and the private sectors and regarding the linkages
between the two (Lane and others, 1999). This led to the introduction of the IMF Code of Good Practices on Fiscal Transparency in 1998 as one of the 12 new
international standards and codes designed to improve the functioning of the international financial system.
See http://blog-pfm.imf.org/files/ft-code.pdf.

4. In 2012, the IMF reviewed the state of fiscal transparency shortcomings that were revealed in the context
of the 2008 global financial crisis and decided to update international fiscal transparency standards and
monitoring arrangements (IMF, 2012a).3 The crisis revealed that, even among advanced economies, reporting by governments of their fiscal operations and finances was incomplete, as illustrated by the emergence of
previously unrecorded deficits and debts. The crisis also demonstrated that, in many cases, countries had substantially underestimated the risks to their fiscal position and prospects, especially those emanating from the
financial sector. The sharp deterioration in government finances that accompanied the crisis, and the related
need for fiscal adjustment, increased the incentives faced by governments to engage in activities that clouded
the true state of their finances (Irwin, 2012 and 2015).
5. The IMF’s new Fiscal Transparency Code, issued in 2014, is part of the renewed global interest in promoting fiscal transparency.4 Several other transparency initiatives in the fiscal area have been established,
including the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development’s (OECD) Best Practices for Budget
Transparency,5 the multi-stakeholder Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative (EITI) to address resource
revenue transparency issues in resource-rich countries,6 and the International Budget Partnership’s (IBP’s)
2

http://www.imf.org/external/NP/rosc/rosc.aspx.

3

See http://www.imf.org/en/Publications/Policy-Papers/Issues/2016/12/31/Fiscal-Transparency-Accountability-and-Risk-PP4709.

4

The Fiscal Transparency Code complements other standards and helps to anchor the work of other organizations in the fiscal area. It
reflects the IMF’s focus on macro-critical issues. To minimize overlap and ensure that various standards are fully aligned, IMF staff
has worked closely with relevant stakeholders.

5

http://www.oecd.org/gov/budgeting/best-practices-budget-transparency.htm.

6

https://eiti.org/.
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Open Budget Survey7 of information provided to citizens in budget documents. In addition, assessments
under the multi-donor Public Expenditure and Financial Accountability (PEFA) program include a series of
performance indicators covering aspects of fiscal transparency, which are derived in part from the Code. More
recently, the Global Initiative on Fiscal Transparency (GIFT), a multi-stakeholder network, has promulgated a
set of high-level principles of fiscal transparency, participation, and accountability.8 The OECD, with the participation of the GIFT network, has also recently developed a Budget Transparency Toolkit aimed at serving
as a guide/gateway to existing standards and guidance materials and reinforcing some key practical messages
in budget and fiscal transparency.9
6. The 2014 Code comprises a set of principles built around four “pillars” (Figure 1.1). Each pillar contains
three to four dimensions, and each dimension, two to four principles.10
•

Pillar I: Fiscal Reporting, requires the availability of relevant, comprehensive, timely, and reliable
information on the government’s fiscal operations and performance. The 12 principles under this pillar
are grouped under four dimensions of fiscal reports: coverage, frequency and timeliness, quality, and
integrity.

•

Pillar II: Fiscal Forecasting and Budgeting, requires the provision of a clear statement of the government’s
budgetary objectives and policy intentions, together with comprehensive, timely, and credible projections
of the evolution of public finances. The 12 principles under this pillar are grouped under four dimensions
of fiscal forecasts and budgets: comprehensiveness, orderliness, policy orientation, and credibility.

Figure 1.1. Architecture of the Revised Fiscal Transparency Code
Four Pillars of the New Code
I. FISCAL
REPORTING

II. FISCAL
FORECASTING &
BUDGETING

III. FISCAL RISK
ANALYSIS &
MANAGEMENT

1.1. Coverage

2.1. Comprehensiveness

3.1. Risk Analysis
& Disclosure

1.2. Frequency
and Timeliness

2.2. Orderliness

3.2. Risk
Management

1.3. Quality

2.3. Policy
Orientation

3.3. Fiscal
Coordination

1.4. Integrity

2.4. Credibility

IV. RESOURCE
REVENUE
MANAGEMENT
4.1. Legal &
Fiscal Regime

4.2 Allocation
of Rights and
Collection of
Revenue

4.3. Company
Reporting

4.4. Resource
Revenue
Management

Source: IMF staff.

7

https://www.internationalbudget.org/opening-budgets/open-budget-initiative/open-budget-survey/.

8

http://fiscaltransparency.net/.

9

See http://www.oecd.org/gov/budgeting/Budgeting-Transparency-Toolkit.pdf.

10

Each dimension focuses on a key attribute of the respective pillar, whereas a principle typically highlights a specific output or observable characteristic under the respective dimension.
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•

Pillar III: Fiscal Risk Analysis and Management, requires that risks to the public finances are disclosed,
analyzed, and managed and that fiscal decision making across the public sector is effectively coordinated.
The 12 principles under this pillar are grouped under three dimensions of fiscal risk management: risk
analysis and disclosure, risk management, and fiscal coordination among different levels of government.

•

Pillar IV: Resource Revenue Management, requires the provision of a transparent framework for the
ownership, contracting, taxation, and use of natural resource endowments.11 The 12 principles under this
pillar are grouped under four dimensions: legal and fiscal regime, allocation of resource rights and collection of revenue, company reporting, and resource revenue management.

7. Reflecting the aftermath of the global financial crisis, the new Code updates the 2007 Code in several
respects. It emphasizes the need for information that fosters good fiscal management and decision making in
a postcrisis world where more attention is being paid to the full extent of government operations and the risks
they entail. Specifically, the new Code
•

Focuses on outputs more than on processes. The Code emphasizes the quality of published information
as an objective basis for evaluating the degree of effective fiscal transparency.

•

Takes account of different levels of countries’ institutional capacity. The Code formally differentiates
between basic, good, and advanced practice. This allows countries to develop a sequenced path for reform,
by providing them with a clear set of milestones toward full compliance with international standards. The
new approach also facilitates cross-country benchmarking:
•

Basic practice should be viewed as a minimum standard that should be achievable by all IMF member
countries.

•

Good practice provides an intermediate goalpost that would require stronger institutional capacities.

•

Advanced practice reflects relevant international standards and is in line with current state-of-the-art
policies and practices.12

•

Emphasizes the importance of fiscal risks management. The Code devotes a full pillar (with 12 principles)
to the analysis and management of fiscal risks that are likely to be relevant to all countries. It analyzes
risks arising from a wide range of sources, including macroeconomic shocks, government guarantees and
other contingent liabilities, fiscal pressures from demographic and other long-term trends, budgetary
contingencies, changes in asset and liability values, public-private partnerships, the financial sector, the
availability and price volatility of natural resources, environmental factors, subnational governments, and
public corporations.

•

Captures recent advances in fiscal management and in international standards and practices.13 Examples
of new “advanced” practices include (i) the publication of information on fiscal activities of the entire public sector; (ii) the preparation of full balance sheets, including all financial and nonfinancial assets and liabilities; (iii) monthly fiscal reporting of general government operations and publication of audited annual
financial statements within six months; (iv) the alignment of information provided in budgets, accounts,
and fiscal statistics; and (v) public participation in deliberations on budget preparation and execution.

8. Several other standards and diagnostic tools have been developed by the IMF in the fiscal area that complement the Code. These tools analyze issues relating to transparency (Box 1.2).

11

Pillar IV has undergone two rounds of public consultations, has been tested in several countries, and will be finalized at end-2018.

12

Achieving the advanced practice would require enhanced institutional capacity and resources and therefore should receive priority
only after a country has successfully implemented the good practice under the respective principle of the Code.

13

The IMF’s Government Finance Statistics Manual (GFSM) in fiscal statistics; International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS)
in government accounting; International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI) in external audit; and OECD Best Practices
for Budget Transparency in the budget area.
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Complementary Fiscal Standards and Assessment Tools1

Government Finance Statistics Manual (GFSM), 2014, the international standard for compiling and disseminating government finance
statistics, including for publication in the IMF GFS Yearbook (see http://www.imf.org/external/Pubs/FT/GFS/Manual/2014/gfsfinal.pdf).
Public Investment Management Assessment (PIMA) instrument, which evaluates 15 institutions that shape decision making at the three key
stages of the public investment cycle: planning sustainable investment across the public sector, allocating investment to the right sectors
and projects, and implementing projects on time and on budget (see http://www.imf.org/external/np/fad/publicinvestment/index.htm#3).
Public-Private Partnerships Fiscal Risks Assessment Model (PFRAM), an analytical tool to assess the potential fiscal costs and risks
arising from public-private partnership (PPP) projects (see http://www.imf.org/external/np/fad/publicinvestment/index.htm#4).
Public Expenditure and Financial Accountability (PEFA) (jointly with other partners), a tool that helps governments assess public
financial management (PFM) practices. It was updated in 2016 (see http://www.pefa.org).
Tax Administration Diagnostic Assessment Tool (TADAT) (jointly with other partners), which is designed to provide an objective assessment of the health of key components of a country’s system of tax administration (see http://www.tadat.org/overview/overview.html).
Source: IMF staff.
1

Other fiscal assessment tools used by the IMF include the Revenue Administration Fiscal Information Tool (RA-FIT), a web-based data gathering tool used to
assess revenue administration performance; the Revenue Administration Gap Analysis Program (RA-GAP) that assists countries to assess taxpayer compliance
through tax gap analysis; and Fiscal Analysis of Resource Industries (FARI), a methodology for fiscal analysis of extractive industries.

FISCAL TRANSPARENCY EVALUATIONS
9. Fiscal Transparency Evaluations (FTEs) assess country practices against the Code and replace the previous
fiscal ROSCs. FTEs provide countries with
•

a comprehensive assessment of their fiscal transparency practices against the various standards set by the Code;

•

rigorous and quantified analyses of the scale and sources of fiscal vulnerabilities, including measures of the
coverage of fiscal reports, the quality of fiscal forecasts, and the size of unreported contingent liabilities;

•

an accessible summary of the strengths and weaknesses of country practices related to fiscal transparency
and their relative importance. This is achieved through a set of summary “heatmaps,” a major innovation
of the FTEs, which facilitate benchmarking against comparator countries, identification of reform needs,
and prioritization of recommendations. FTEs include individual heatmaps for each pillar (covering all the
principles under that pillar) and an overall heatmap covering all pillars;

•

an optional sequenced action plan to help define reform priorities designed to address the main shortcomings in fiscal transparency; and

•

an option for countries to undertake a modular assessment focused on just one or two pillars of the Code,
aimed at addressing the most pressing transparency issues.

10. FTEs are carried out at the request of governments and form part of the IMF’s policy dialogue and capacitybuilding efforts with its member countries. They support the identification of fiscal transparency strengths,
weaknesses, and challenges as well as the prioritization and delivery of technical assistance by the IMF and
other development partners. Many FTEs, across a broad spectrum of countries, have been completed.14
11. An analysis of completed FTEs reveals that fiscal transparency levels vary both across and within countries and are positively correlated with the level of income (Figure 1.2). While low-income countries have
generally scored relatively lower than emerging market and advanced economies, there is scope for countries at
all income levels to improve practices, particularly in fiscal reporting and fiscal risk analysis and management.
14

For published FTE reports, see http://www.imf.org/external/np/fad/trans/.
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Figure 1.2. Summary Results of Fiscal Transparency Evaluations Conducted as of the End of March 2018
1. Results by Income Level
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Source: IMF staff calculations, using data from 23 FTEs completed by March 2018.

12. FTEs have an important part to play in providing input to the IMF’s surveillance through exposing strengths
and weaknesses in institutional public financial management frameworks. In several cases, findings and
recommendations from FTEs have fed into IMF’s country reports in the context of Article IV or other surveillancerelated missions.15

THE ROLE OF THE HANDBOOK
13. This Handbook explains the 2014 Code’s principles and practices and provides more detailed guidance on
their implementation. In particular,
•

It defines each pillar of the Code, and the dimensions and principles under each pillar.16

•

It sets out the importance of each principle and describes recent trends in implementation of the principle,
also noting relevant international standards.

•

It describes basic, good, and advanced practices for each principle, setting out both the benefits and the
challenges of moving beyond basic practices. Selected country examples are also provided.

•

It specifies the indicators to be used to measure adherence to the principles.

14. The Handbook aims to provide guidance on the application of the Fiscal Transparency Code to a range of
stakeholders.
•

First, governments with an interest in promoting fiscal transparency can review the detailed descriptions,
standards, and country examples and use them to guide the development of more robust fiscal transparency practices.17

15

For further information, see “The 2017 Joint Review of the Standards and Codes Initiative—Policy Area Background Paper.”

16

Each pillar contains three to four dimensions, and each dimension, two to four principles.

17

In addition to national/central governments, most elements of the Code can be applied to subnational governments, and their compliance with recommended fiscal transparency practices should be encouraged.
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•

Second, the Handbook provides a reference guide for the international community (bilateral and multilateral agencies), with an interest in transparency issues or in complementing their assessment tools.

•

Third, it is a tool to assist national oversight and accountability institutions such as legislatures, supreme
audit institutions (SAIs), parliamentary budget offices, national statistics agencies, and independent fiscal
agencies.

•

Fourth, national and international civil society organizations may find the Handbook useful to support and
complement their efforts in promoting fiscal transparency.

•

Fifth, it can serve as a reference for academia and researchers studying public finance and fiscal
transparency.

15. Promoting greater fiscal transparency requires not only clear reporting standards as described in this
Handbook but also effective monitoring and enforcement of those standards. Institutions that can help promote fiscal transparency include (i) national institutions such as legislatures; SAIs, independent fiscal agencies, and professional and civic organizations; (ii) regional economic, monetary and customs unions, and
statistics agencies;18 (iii) international institutions such as the IMF, the World Bank, and the OECD; (iv) international standard-setting bodies such as the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC), the International
Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB), and the International Organization of Supreme Audit
Institutions (INTOSAI); and (v) international civil society groups such as the IBP.
16. This Handbook covers Pillars I to III of the Fiscal Transparency Code.19 The three following chapters cover
each pillar, respectively.
•

Each chapter starts with a brief introductory section that describes the pillar, its main dimensions, and the
underlying concepts.

•

Each dimension is then presented in a section, including subsections for each related principle and specific
references to applicable international standards, norms, and relevant guidance material.

•

Each subsection on principles is followed by a description of each of the three levels of practice, illustrated
by practical country examples.

•

A glossary of terms, a bibliography, and a list of website references are included.

•

For the ease of readers, the Handbook uses the following colors: (i) blue for highlighting each pillar of the
Code; (ii) red for highlighting a dimension under each pillar of the Code; (iii) dark green for highlighting
a principle under a dimension; (iv) light green for highlighting a practice under a principle as well as
country examples for practices; and (v) pink for the tables with relevant standards, norms, and guidance
material. Grey color is used for all the other boxes with definitions of key concepts and/or factual descriptions, including trends in implementation of the Code’s principles.

18

Regional bodies play an increasingly important role in harmonizing fiscal reporting practices and enforcing transparency standards
among their member states. These regional harmonization efforts are typically most extensive in monetary unions where timely,
reliable, and comparable fiscal data from member states are needed to monitor and enforce regional fiscal convergence criteria.
Examples of regional bodies include the European Union, the West African Economic and Monetary Union (WAEMU), the Eastern
Caribbean Currency Union (ECCU), the Central African Economic and Monetary Community (CEMAC), and the East African Community (EAC).

19

Once Pillar IV is finalized, it will be integrated into the Handbook by providing detailed guidance on specific principles and practices
applicable to resource-rich countries, which are not already covered by the other three pillars.
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  Fiscal reports should provide a comprehensive, relevant, timely, and reliable overview of the
government’s financial position and performance.

17. Fiscal reporting refers to the preparation and publication of summary information about the past and
present state of a country’s public finances. More specifically, fiscal reports can be defined as retrospective
reports on fiscal developments, including in-year and year-end budget outturn/execution reports, fiscal statistics, and annual financial statements.
18. Three main categories of fiscal reports can be distinguished:
•

Budget execution reports, which follow the annual budget’s presentation and classification and compare outturns of revenue, expenditure, and other fiscal aggregates with the corresponding values in the
approved budget.

•

Fiscal statistics, which are produced in accordance with national or international statistical standards20
and summarize the impact of the public finances on the wider economy.

•

Government financial statements or accounts, which are produced in accordance with national or international accounting standards and summarize the government’s financial position and performance.

19. Fiscal reporting is the foundation of good fiscal management. Quality fiscal reports are essential to ensure
that the government’s fiscal decisions are based on the most complete, up-to-date, and accurate understanding of its financial position. Fiscal reports are also the main mechanism through which legislatures, auditors,
and the public hold governments accountable for their financial performance. Finally, fiscal reports are a
critical source of information for markets and other external stakeholders to understand the government’s
financial position (including debt) and its implications for economic and fiscal policy.
20. Fiscal reporting (under Pillar I of the Code) covers four dimensions:
1.1. The coverage of fiscal reports, in terms of institutions, stocks, and flows.
1.2. The frequency and timeliness of fiscal reporting.
1.3. The quality of fiscal reports, in terms of their international comparability and internal and historical
consistency.
1.4. The integrity of reported information, in terms of the degree of external validation and the comparability
of budget and outturn data.

20

Standards such as the special data dissemination standard (SDDS) set the government obligations regarding data compilation and
dissemination.

9
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DIMENSION 1.1. COVERAGE OF FISCAL REPORTS
Fiscal reports should provide a comprehensive overview of the fiscal activities of the
public sector and its subsectors, according to international standards.
21. Comprehensive fiscal reporting is necessary for governments, legislators, citizens, and markets to have
a complete understanding of a country’s fiscal position and a full account of the use of public resources.
Accordingly, the four principles under this dimension call for fiscal reports to:
•

cover all public entities (1.1.1). The scope of fiscal reporting should cover not only the central and subnational governments but also other entities that are part of the wider public sector;

•

capture all public assets and liabilities (1.1.2). A consolidated balance sheet covering all public financial
and nonfinancial assets and liabilities helps provide a comprehensive picture of the overall financial position and net worth of the public sector and its subsectors;

•

cover all revenue, expenditure, financing, and other economic flows (1.1.3). Fiscal reports should
cover not only cash transactions but also any accrued revenue, expense, and financing, as well as fiscally
significant other economic flows, such as volume and value changes in assets and liabilities; and

•

provide a comprehensive statement of the revenue foregone from tax expenditures (1.1.4). Such a statement is important not only to understand the cost of tax expenditures themselves but also to estimate the
full cost of policies, which are in part supported through tax expenditures.

Table 2.1 provides a list of relevant standards, norms, and guidance material related to dimension 1.1 of the Code.
22. In practice, the coverage of fiscal reports varies widely from country to country depending on its national
legal requirements, the standards that it uses, and the frequency, quality, and timeliness of its data (Figure 2.1). Coverage—of institutions, assets and liabilities, and flows—also tends to vary in different fiscal
reports produced by a country.

Table 2.1. Relevant Standards, Norms, and Guidance Material
Standards/Guidance
Materials
IMF, Government
Finance Statistics
Manual (GFSM, 2014)

Brief Description
GFSM 2014 includes definitions and discussion of:
•

the public sector and its subsectors (Chapter 2);

•

the sources and uses of cash (Chapter 4);

•

the concept and classification of revenues (Chapter 5);

•

the concept and classification of expenses (Chapter 6);

• the concept and classification of assets, liabilities, and net worth, as well as various balance sheet
memorandum items (Chapter 7);
• transactions in non-financial assets and their classification (Chapter 8);
• transactions in financial assets and liabilities and their classification (Chapter 9); and
• other economic flows that are recorded in the GFSM framework (Chapter 10).
https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/gfs/manual/gfs.htm
International Public Sec- IPSAS 6 and IPSAS 1 deal with Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and Presentation of
tor Accounting Standards Financial Statements respectively. IPSAS 24 provides guidelines on the Presentation of Budget Information in Financial Statements.
(IPSAS)
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Table 2.1. (Continued)
Standards/Guidance
Materials

Brief Description
Standards dealing specifically with the recording and evaluation of stocks are: IPSAS 11 (construction contracts),
12 (inventories), 13 (leases), 16 (investment property), 17 (property, plant and equipment), 19 (provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets), IPSAS 21 and 26 (impairment of assets), 25 (employee benefits), 28, 29,
and 30 (financial instruments), 31 (intangible assets), and 32 (service concession arrangements).
Standards dealing with cash flows are: IPSAS 2 (Cash Flow Statement) and Cash Basis IPSAS (Financial Reporting
under the Cash Basis of Accounting).
http://www.ipsasb.org/

IMF Technical Notes and
Technical Notes and Manuals: Khan and Mayes (2009); and Flynn, Moretti, and Cavanagh (2015).
Manuals, and Other Papers
Other Papers: Dippelsman, Dziobek, and Gutiérrez (2012); and Bova and others (2013).
IMF Guide on Coverage
and Sectorization of the
Public Sector

This guidance note (based on the GFSM 2001) describes the scope of the general government and public sector and discusses in some detail their components. It also provides a decision tree for identifying
government and other public sector units that is based on two fundamental questions: (i) who controls the
unit? and (ii) is it a market or nonmarket producer?
http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/gfs/manual/pdf/compan.pdf.

OECD Principles of
Budgetary Governance,
2014

Principle 6 requires that budgets provide a comprehensive, accurate, and reliable account of the public finances.

IMF, Public Sector Debt
Statistics: Guide for
Compilers and Users
(PSDSG, 2011b)

PSDSG provides a conceptual framework (consistent with GFSM 2014), guidance on the measurement,
compilation, analytical use, and presentation of public sector debt statistics, and a description of the work
of international agencies on this topic.

Tax Expenditures in
OECD Countries, 2010

This study of ten OECD countries clarifies the technical and policy issues behind the use of tax expenditures.

http://www.oecd.org/gov/budgeting/principles-budgetary-governance.htm

https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/Manuals-Guides/Issues/2016/12/31/Public-Sector-Debt-StatisticsGuide-for-Compilers-and-Users-Guide-for-Compilers-and-Users-24905
http://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/governance/tax-expenditures-in-oecd-countries_9789264076907-en

Figure 2.1. Examples of the Difference in Coverage in Various Fiscal Reports
1. United Kingdom: Coverage of Public Sector Balance Sheet in Fiscal Reports FY 2014/15 (Percentage of GDP)
General Government
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WGA = whole of government accounts; ESA= European System of Accounts; PSF = public sector finances.
Source: IMF (2016f).

©International Monetary Fund. Not for Redistribution

170

12 FISCAL TRANSPARENCY HANDBOOK
2. Guatemala: Coverage of Public Sector Institutions in Fiscal Reports (Percentage of Expenditure)
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Source: IMF (2016c).

PRINCIPLE 1.1.1. 	 Coverage of Institutions
Fiscal reports cover all entities engaged in public activity according to international standards.
23. All public sector entities should be part of fiscal reports to provide a complete picture of the country’s fiscal
operations and reduce the incentive for governments to use some entities for off-budget fiscal activity.21
Fiscal reports should include all government entities at the central and subnational levels as well as those
under the control of government.22 This would include ministries, departments and agencies at the central
and subnational levels, as well as any extrabudgetary entities or funds, nonprofit institutions, or corporations
owned or controlled by the government.23 Ensuring that the institutional coverage of fiscal reports follows
international standards allows capturing fiscal policy and operations conducted by extrabudgetary entities,
local governments, or public corporations. This reduces the scope for governments to circumvent their fiscal
rules or artificially improve their reported fiscal performance or position by shifting operations outside the
narrowly covered reports (Irwin, 2012). It also facilitates cross-country comparisons.
24. The public sector may be divided into three main subsectors—namely, central government, subnational
government, and public corporations (Box 2.1). The general government is composed of the first two of these
sectors, while the public sector is composed of all three. The central government and subnational government
sectors may be further decomposed into budgetary entities (i.e., those entities whose transactions are included
in the annual budget) and entities that are not included in the budget (“extrabudgetary entities”), a large component of which, in many countries, is social security funds.
21

For example, fiscal targets focusing on general government deficit and debt may stir governments to shift debt-creating fiscal activity
into public corporations, as it was apparent in the 2008 sovereign debt crisis in Europe.

22

The national statistics agency and/or ministry of finance should maintain a list of all public sector entities, classified according to
their economic nature.

23

Two key criteria for classifying an entity as part of general government and/or public sector are the control test (i.e., whether an entity
is controlled by the government and is therefore part of the public sector) and the market test (i.e., whether that entity is part of the
general government sector or is a public corporation). The classification of entities in the public sector should be subject to regular
review to reflect any change in the entities’ status resulting from commercialization, privatization, or acquisition by the government.
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Box 2.1.

The Public Sector and Its Subsectors

Statistical and accounting standards require that economic substance take precedence over legal form. The GFSM 2014 defines
specific criteria to determine the true economic nature of each entity/unit, which follows an analysis that takes the form of a decision
tree.1 Entities/units that are deemed to be under government control should be classified to a specific subsector of the public sector as
illustrated in Figure 2.1.1.
Budgetary central government includes central/national government entities whose activities are financed through a “legislative budget” (namely, the budget that is approved by the legislature and enacted by law). They typically include central government ministries,
departments, specialized boards, commissions, or agencies. In practice, specialized boards, commissions, and agencies with significant
own-source revenues are often outside the boundary of the budgetary central government, and only the transfer from the budget to
those agencies, or budget income remitted by them, is included in the government’s budget and accounts.

Figure 2.1.1. The Public Sector and Its Main Components

The Public Sector and Its Main Components
Budgetary

Central
Government 1

Extrabudgetary

Social Security Funds

State
Governments 1

Subsectors 3

Local
Governments1

Subsectors 3

General
Government

Social Security
Funds 2
Public Sector

Public
Nonfinancial
Corporations

Public
Corporations

Central Bank
Public Deposit-Taking
Corporations
Public
Financial
Corporations

Other Public Financial
Corporations

1 Includes social security funds.
2 Alternatively, social security funds can be combined into a separate subsector, as shown in the box with dashed lines.
1
Includes social security funds.
3 Budgetary units, extrabudgetary units, and social security funds may also exist in state and local governments.

1

2

Alternatively, social security funds can be combined into a separate subsector, as shown in the box with dashed lines.

3

Budgetary units, extrabudgetary units, and social security funds may also exist in state and local governments.

See Figure 2.4 of the GFSM 2014.
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Extrabudgetary central government comprises the noncommercial central/national government entities whose revenue, expenditure,
and financing transactions are not recorded in the budget. Many of these entities have a legal and organizational status that is independent of government ministries and departments. Also included in this subsector are nonprofit institutions that are controlled by any
central government entity/unit. An important example of extrabudgetary entities in many countries is social security funds,2 established
to provide pension, health care, and other social insurance benefits that are financed by earmarked contributions or, in some countries,
levies on the personal income tax.
Subnational governments consist of entities/units exercising some of the functions of government at a state, regional, or local level.
As at the central level, state and local governments often include budgetary and extrabudgetary entities/units, and sometimes, social
security funds.
General government sector is a consolidation of central and subnational governments.
Public corporations sector consists of all resident corporations controlled by government entities/units or by other public corporations. The two main types are nonfinancial and financial public corporations. Financial public corporations include the monetary
authority (central bank) and nonmonetary financial corporations. As defined in GFSM 2014, entities that are legally constituted as
corporations, but do not produce goods and services for the market at economically significant prices, should not be classified as
public corporations.
Public sector comprises the general government sector and public corporations owned or controlled by central or subnational
governments.
Sources: IMF (2014a); and Allen and Radev (2010).
2

Social security funds can be part of central government. Alternatively, they can be combined into a separate subsector, as shown in this box (Figure 2.1.1) with
dashed lines.

25. The last decade has seen a steady expansion in the institutional coverage of fiscal reporting (Box 2.2).
Several factors contributed to this expansion, notably advances in technology, which allow a faster compilation and easier accessibility of financial data; the adoption of international standards of fiscal reporting and
accounting (GFSM 2014 and IPSAS); and pressures from international organizations, rating agencies, and
citizens for greater fiscal transparency.



Box 2.2.

Trends in the Institutional Coverage of Fiscal Reports

Significant progress has been made in the last decade in expanding the institutional coverage of fiscal reports. Figure 2.2.1 shows that
(out of 189 IMF member countries) the number of countries providing general government data to the IMF has nearly doubled.

Figure 2.2.1. Progress in Coverage of Budgetary, Central, and General Government Reporting (Number of Countries)
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Source: IMF GFS Yearbook.
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26. Fiscal reports should consolidate intrasectoral flows and stocks by eliminating all material transactions/flows
and cross-holdings of assets and liabilities among institutional entities. The consolidation process avoids double
counting of flows and stocks across subsectors of the public sector and ensures that fiscal reports present the net
fiscal impact of the sector on the rest of the economy (Box 2.3). The fiscal reports should consolidate not only budgetary entities but also extrabudgetary activities/funds, including social security funds (Box 2.4).24



Box 2.3.

Consolidation of Stocks and Flows within the Public Sector

Consolidation means presenting the assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses of the government and its controlled entities as if they were a
single entity. Internal transactions and balances should be eliminated. Consolidation is facilitated when the entities to be consolidated follow
similar accounting policies, classifications, and reporting timeframes. In the absence of a harmonized accounting framework across all entities,
templates should be defined that would require entities (e.g., subnational governments and/or public corporations) to provide reconciled data
from their own respective financial statements in conformity with the government chart of accounts and identify the amounts to be eliminated.
Consolidation of the full public sector is ideal, but frequently the unavailability of data requires it to be conducted at lower levels, such as
central government, general government, and the nonfinancial public sector. The type of transactions and stock positions to be eliminated
depends on the level of consolidation. For example, at the level of central or general government, the most important categories would be
grants/transfers, interest, and loans and debt securities. Intrasectoral consolidation should always be done before intersectoral consolidation.
While consolidation is not a technically challenging process, practical difficulties often make it challenging to consolidate all the relevant
transactions and stock positions, so materiality considerations should be applied (See Government Finance Statistics: Compilation Guide for
Developing Countries, Chapter 9). Further guidance on consolidation can be found in the GFSM 2014, paragraphs 3.152–3.168).
Source: IMF staff.



Box 2.4.

Extrabudgetary Funds

Extrabudgetary funds (EBFs) account on average for almost half of central government expenditure across a range of advanced, middle-income, and low-income countries. Social security and health funds account for about two-thirds of this amount, slightly less in
developing countries.
EBFs may be established to carry out specific government functions, such as road construction, or the nonmarket production of health
or education services. They may be managed by the ministry of finance or treasury, line ministries, or autonomous agencies.
There are many categories of EBFs, including special purpose funds (e.g., social security, environmental protection, and road maintenance funds); development funds, sovereign wealth funds, and stabilization funds; revolving funds that are replenished through charges
made for goods and services or on-lending; and sinking funds1 accumulated by the government to repay debt.
There are also many sources of finance used by EBFs including earmarked revenues (e.g., social insurance or health contributions, or
natural resource revenues, or motor vehicle license fees or gasoline taxes); transfers from the budget; user charges; sales of financial
and nonfinancial assets, including privatization receipts; sales of goods and services; borrowing; and donor funds, including direct aid
contributions, debt relief, and debt swap arrangements.
EBFs have been set up for a variety of reasons. These reasons may include avoiding the constraints of the budget process and protecting
funds from political scrutiny. On the other hand, well-designed EBFs provide an efficient mechanism for linking earmarked taxes and
levies to the services delivered (e.g., social benefits and road maintenance). If left outside the budget, the funds need to be subjected to
a robust and transparent system of control, reporting, and external audit.
Source: Allen and Radev (2010).

1

24

A sinking fund is a separate account that is made up of segregated contributions provided by the unit(s) that makes use of the fund (parent unit) for the gradual
redemption of the parent unit’s debt.

Consistent with the 2008 SNA, the GFSM 2014 allows for social security funds to be accommodated in two alternative subsectors of
general government. Either these entities can be combined as a separate subsector (this is often the case for countries that compile
fiscal statistics in the context of national accounts) or they can be classified according to the level of government that organizes and
manages them and, therefore, be combined with the other entities at the same level. This manual adopts the latter approach as it
helps provide the full picture at each level of government.
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LEVELS OF PRACTICE UNDER PRINCIPLE 1.1.1
BASIC PRACTICE: Fiscal reports consolidate all central government entities according to international standards.
27. Basic practice requires that fiscal reports cover all the activities of the central government. This requires
consolidation not only of central government ministries and other executive agencies that are on budget but
also of social security funds organized and managed by the central government and other extrabudgetary
activities/funds. Some countries have achieved this by eliminating extrabudgetary entities, minimizing them
or integrating them into the budget (see Box 2.5 for examples of Turkey25 and Brazil), or at least reporting them
in consolidation.



Box 2.5.

Turkey and Brazil: Rationalization of Extrabudgetary Funds

The number of extrabudgetary funds (EBFs) in Turkey has fallen from around 80 in the late 1990s to 13 in the 2000s to 5 in 2013. EBF’s
share of central government expenditure has similarly fallen from over 3 percent of GDP in the late 1990s to 1.4 percent of GDP in 2013.
The remaining 5 EBFs comprise the Defense Industry Support Fund, the Social Security Fund, the Privatization Fund, the Promotion Fund,
and the Support and Price Stability Fund. The last two funds are known as “budgetary funds” since they receive transfers from the budget
while the others receive a defined share of tax or nontax revenues.
A similar trend was observed in Brazil, following the implementation of the Fiscal Responsibility Law, in 2000. This law required that all
EBFs are brought under the federal government’s budget, accounts, and the single treasury account.
Sources: IMF (2017a and 2017d).

GOOD PRACTICE: Fiscal reports consolidate all general government entities and report on each subsector
according to international standards.
28. Good practice requires that fiscal reports present consolidated data for general government (namely, both
central and subnational governments).26 Subnational governments can raise, spend, and, in some cases, borrow significant resources. They provide basic goods and services, pay salaries, collect taxes, and build infrastructure. It is, therefore, important to capture their activities in the consolidated general government fiscal
position to assess the overall impact of government on the economy and get a better sense of the overall fiscal
situation of the country. The reporting of general government fiscal data is also important to compare countries
with different degrees of fiscal decentralization, as shown in the European Union (EU) example in Box 2.6.



Box 2.6.

European Union Member States: General Government Consolidation

European Union (EU) member countries are required to provide the main aggregates of general government on an annual basis to
Eurostat twice a year, under both the Excessive Deficit Procedure (Maastricht Treaty) and the European System of Accounts 2010 Transmission Program. Under the latter, they are also required to report quarterly financial and nonfinancial accounts for the general government and its subsectors. The data are accessible in Eurostat’s public databases: Annual Government Finance Statistics, Government
Deficit and Debt, and Quarterly Government Finance Statistics within government statistics. General government statistics are compiled/
consolidated by the EU member countries based on guidance and accounting rules provided by Eurostat. This helps to compare the
fiscal situation of EU member countries that have different degrees of fiscal decentralization (see http://ec.europa.eu/euostat/web/
government-finance-statistics).

25

Turkey meets “good practice” under this principle as it produces consolidated general government fiscal data (see IMF, 2017d). The
Box 2.5 under “basic practice” discusses, however, how Turkey has rationalized its EBFs over the years.

26

This requires the identification and elimination of all intra- and intersectoral flows and stocks. These transactions include grants,
interest, dividends, taxes, and any purchases/sales of goods and services by one entity from another, as well as changes in stock positions (including loans and other accounts receivable/payable, and the acquisition or disposal of assets from one entity to another).
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Other regional bodies that have adopted the general government coverage as the basis for fiscal rules and fiscal surveillance include
the West Africa Economic and Monetary Union (WAEMU), the Central Africa Economic and Monetary Community (CEMAC), and the East
African Community (EAC).
Sources: Eurostat; and IMF staff.

ADVANCED PRACTICE: Fiscal reports consolidate all public sector entities and report on each subsector
according to international standards.
29. Advanced practice requires that fiscal statistics and/or financial statements present consolidated data
for general government entities and public corporations they own and control.27 The challenge with
such consolidation is that often, public corporations follow commercial accounting standards that make
data difficult to combine without extensive adjustments. Compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)28 facilitates the consolidation of financial data on public corporations with data on
the general government sector in countries that follow IPSAS, GFSM 2014, or related standards. The
Whole of Government Accounts System developed in the United Kingdom provides a good example of
full consolidation (Box 2.7).



Box 2.7.

Full Public Sector Consolidation: The Whole of Government Accounts of the United Kingdom

The U.K. Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) is one of the most comprehensive set of audited consolidated accounts published globally, comprising all 5,500 public entities in the U.K. public sector. The U.K. Treasury defines the “Whole of Government” as “a group of
entities that appears to exercise functions of a public nature, or to be entirely or substantially funded from public money.” WGA provides
a comprehensive picture of the financial position of the U.K. public sector, including details of the revenue and expenditure, assets, and
liabilities, using IFRS-based accounting policies.
The WGA includes a balance sheet that is more complete than in most other advanced economies. It includes both financial and nonfinancial assets and liabilities, including liabilities arising from the defined benefit pension schemes of public employees. The WGA’s coverage of flows is equally comprehensive, including a statement of revenue and expenditure, including realized gains/losses in assets and
liabilities; a cash-flow statement that presents the cash flows from operating, financing, as well as from capital and financial investment;
and a statement of comprehensive income and expenditure, with information on unrealized asset revaluation gains/losses and actuarial
gains/losses associated with the pension liability.
Source: Flynn, Moretti, and Cavanagh (2016).

PRINCIPLE 1.1.2. Coverage of Stocks
Fiscal reports include a balance sheet of public assets, liabilities, and net worth.
30. Balance sheets, prepared in line with internationally recognized standards, provide a complete picture of
the financial position and overall net worth of a government or public sector. A government balance sheet
reports on its stocks of assets and liabilities and shows to what extent its liabilities are matched by corresponding assets (its net worth). A growing number of countries include some balance sheet data in their fiscal reports
27

This requires the identification and elimination of all intra- and intersectoral flows/transactions. These transactions include grants,
subsidies, interest, dividends, taxes, and any purchases/sales of goods and services by one entity from another, as well as changes in
stock positions (including loans and other accounts receivable/payable, the acquisition or disposal of assets from one entity to
another, and purchases of equity or other investment by a government entity in a public corporation).

28

International Financial Reporting Standards are prepared by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). See http://www.
ifrs.org.
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(Box 2.8). The change in net worth measures whether a government’s activities and decisions generate more
debt—that is, obligations for current or future generations for which availability of matching resources is not
certain at the time of reporting (Box 2.9 describes a nomenclature for public debt). It is one of the main measures of the sustainability of fiscal activities.



Box 2.8.

Trends in Balance Sheet Reporting by Governments

The number of countries reporting data on financial assets and liabilities to the IMF has increased from 13 in 2003 to 37 in 2016 (Figure 2.8.1), including almost all countries in the EU. The number of countries with comprehensive balance sheets, including both financial
and nonfinancial assets and liabilities and an overall picture of government net worth, increased from 7 to 29 between 2003 and 2016.
Countries that perform best in the coverage of stocks include not only some advanced economies (particularly those in the EU) but also
some emerging market and developing ones. Those that reported full balance sheets over most of the past decade include Australia,
Hong Kong SAR, El Salvador, Japan, Norway, Russia, and the Slovak Republic.

Figure 2.8.1. Reporting of Assets and Liabilities (Number of Economies)
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Box 2.9.

A Nomenclature for Public Debt

Public debt can be thought of as a subset of liabilities in a balance sheet. Liabilities are obligations that provide economic benefits to
the units holding the corresponding financial claims. The criterion to define a liability as debt is that future payments of interest and/
or principal are due by the debtor to the creditor. Six different instruments comprise gross debt: debt securities; loans; other accounts
payable; special drawing rights (SDRs); currency and deposits; and liabilities arising from insurance, pension, and standardized guarantee
schemes. These financial instruments can be grouped according to their marketability.
Securities are the most marketable debt instruments and the primary instruments used by countries with access to a developed financial
market. Loans are, by definition, less marketable debt instruments. For countries with underdeveloped or constrained financial markets,
loans tend to be a major share of the debt instrument portfolio. Debt securities and loans are frequently the only two debt instruments
reported in public sector debt. SDRs and currency and deposits are often measured at face value (e.g., the Maastricht definition of debt
used by the European Union Excessive Deficit Procedure). Other accounts payable (e.g., trade credit and unpaid bills) is a nonmarketable
debt instrument that can be of significant magnitude especially in times of financial distress. This instrument is often excluded in the
analysis of public-sector debt. Insurance, pensions, and standardized guarantee schemes are the other debt liabilities. Wider measures
of actual and potential liabilities also take into account nondebt liabilities, such as financial derivatives, social security entitlements, and
other contingent liabilities.
Source: Dippelsman and others (2012).
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31. Establishing a full balance sheet requires the following steps:
•

Adopting accruals accounting or statistical standards, such as IPSAS or GFSM 2014, which define the rules
and principles for recording and evaluating all types of assets and liabilities (Table 2.1).

•

Establishing a complete list of government/public sector assets and liabilities. To establish the opening
balance sheet, governments should (i) prepare a physical inventory of tangible assets, and (ii) compile lists of
other assets (both financial and nonfinancial) and liabilities, based on the available sources of information,
such as invoices and contracts. Once the initial lists of assets and liabilities are established, governments
should adopt procedures for capturing all movements on these assets and liabilities (e.g., additions, disposals, or transfers of tangible assets) and regularly update the inventories.

•

Valuing assets and liabilities. Valuations are required when the opening balance sheet is prepared, and
subsequently throughout the life of the assets/liabilities, using international standards29 that define the
valuation methods for the different categories of assets and liabilities.

LEVELS OF PRACTICE UNDER PRINCIPLE 1.1.2
BASIC PRACTICE: Fiscal reports cover government cash and deposits and all debt.
32. Basic practice requires the reporting on the government’s cash holdings, its deposits, and debt to provide
information on a country’s immediate financial liquidity position. Information on the amount of cash holdings and deposits in the government’s bank accounts and the government’s borrowing is the bare minimum
that a government should know to manage its liquidity position. This information should be available relatively easily to ministries of finance or central banks and should be published:
•

Bank statements are usually received either daily or weekly from the central bank and/or commercial
banks and should be reconciled with the accounts maintained by the treasury department/ministry of
finance. On this basis, treasury departments should be able to evaluate the government’s cash holdings
and deposits. Such an evaluation will be easier for countries that operate with a Treasury Single Account
(TSA)30 or with a limited number of commercial bank accounts.

•

Debt instruments that countries should report at a basic level of practice include (i) government-issued
debt instruments (marketable or nonmarketable), such as treasury bills, notes, and bonds, and (ii) loans
(including those arising from commercial contracts, like finance leases). These two instruments are described in Box 2.9.

33. Gathering data on all forms of government debt often requires considerable coordination across various
agencies. Most governments maintain records of “primary” debt, such as loans received and bonds held
and issued, and attempt to report on their debt as exhaustively as possible. However, where the capacity is
limited, the total of domestic debt and debt denominated in foreign currency, as well as details of individual
loan agreements, should at least be provided in the fiscal reports. Often, the data for loans and debt securities
come from debt management offices, which normally focus on marketable instruments. Data for other liabilities may be supplied by an accounting unit at the ministry of finance or a statistical agency. The ministry of
finance may compile data on debt owed to domestic residents, while the central bank may compile data on
debt owed to foreign residents when preparing a country’s external debt statistics. Interagency coordination
therefore plays an important role in the compilation of reliable and timely data.

29

Valuing assets and liabilities is not straightforward. Various methods exist for valuation as discussed in Chapter 3 of the GFSM 2014
or IPSAS 29.

30

See Pattanayak and Fainboim (2011).
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GOOD PRACTICE: Fiscal reports cover all financial assets and liabilities.
34. Good practice requires a financial balance sheet covering all financial assets and liabilities and hence net
financial worth,31 an important measure of the government’s medium-term solvency (see Box 2.10 for the
example of Austria). Preparing a financial balance sheet requires the identification and valuation of the following assets and liabilities:
•

Financial assets. In addition to cash and deposits, governments should report on their outstanding loans
(and possibly advances) as a lender, tax and trade receivables, as well as equity investments. The balance
sheet should also report the value of other types of assets, such as SDRs and monetary gold, which are
normally held by the central bank.

•

Liabilities. These would include debt instruments and other contractual liabilities, such as trade payables,
lease contracts, financial liabilities related to public-private partnerships, and the equity holdings of public corporations.

35. Valuation methods for financial assets and liabilities may change over time. Financial assets and liabilities
are usually valued at nominal value. However, more complex valuations may be required for some assets and
liabilities, such as equity investments, derivatives, and pensions. For example, governments may choose to
recognize their equity investments at book value until the preparation of audited financial statements by the
respective public corporation allows them to be recognized at their market value.



Box 2.10. Austria: The Statement of Financial Position of the Federal Government

Since December 2013, following the introduction of accrual accounting, the Federal Government of Austria has been publishing a statement of financial position (the balance sheet) containing details of all material categories of assets and liabilities, except for the civil
servants’ pension entitlements. The accounting of the Federal Government follows IPSAS to a large extent; deviations from the standards
are explained in the accounting policies section of the financial statements.
The asset side of the statement of financial position shows how financial resources have been used by showing the assets in which
investments have been made. The asset side is comprised of noncurrent assets and current assets. The noncurrent assets include intangible assets (e.g., software and licenses); property, plant, and equipment (e.g., land, buildings, and cultural assets); securities; and equity
investments and receivables. The current assets comprise short-term financial assets, short-term receivables, inventories, and cash and
cash equivalents (e.g., bank balances).
The liabilities side discloses the sources of the financial resources that made these investments possible. It comprises noncurrent liabilities and current liabilities, such as financial liabilities, payables, and provisions (e.g., provisions for severance payments or litigation
expenses), together with net assets as a balancing item. Although the civil servants’ pension entitlements are excluded from the statement, a 30-year forecast of future pension expenses and associated revenue is disclosed in notes to the financial statements to provide
an approximation of the future burden of those pension schemes on the federal budget.
Source: Adapted from Austrian Federal Ministry of Finance (2013).

ADVANCED PRACTICE: Fiscal reports cover all financial and nonfinancial assets and liabilities and net worth.
36. Advanced practice requires that all assets and liabilities be included in the balance sheet, thus allowing
governments to calculate their overall net worth, an important indicator of long-term fiscal sustainability.
Preparation of a full balance sheet requires the recognition of the following:
•

31

Nonfinancial assets, including all physical assets, intangible assets, and inventories. Physical assets can
include natural resources, infrastructure assets (road networks, sewerage systems, land, and buildings),

Net financial worth is defined as the total value of the financial assets minus the total value of liabilities. This balancing item is often
cited because of the general government and public sector’s influence on a country’s financial system and also because of the difficulties in valuing government-specific nonfinancial assets with unique characteristics.
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weapons systems, and heritage assets. These are likely to represent a large part of a government’s balance
sheet. Intangible assets include the value of contracts, of leases and licenses, as well as of goodwill and
other marketable assets. Inventories include goods held for sale, for use in production, or for some other
later use.
•

Contractual liabilities arising from insurance, pension, and standardized guarantee schemes, including
pension entitlements of public-sector employees (where these pensions are paid under nonautonomous
pension schemes), claims of pension funds on public-sector entities that retain the responsibility for funding any deficit (or claiming any excess funding) of the pension scheme, and the liabilities of standardized
guarantee schemes (see Pillar III, Principle 3.2.3).32

37. The valuation of governments’ nonfinancial assets can be challenging. The valuation methods for tangible
assets will typically be an initial recognition at cost, and a subsequent recognition at amortized (or historical)
cost, market value, or replacement cost. For assets that are valued at amortized (or historical) cost, a useful
life needs to be determined appropriately in the accounting policies, based on information provided by the
entities that supply or maintain these assets. Where initial recognition at cost or market value is not possible,
because supporting information is not available (e.g., roads or other infrastructure assets constructed a long
time ago), or there is no observable market price (e.g., heritage assets), accounting policies may authorize that
simpler methods, such as statistical estimations, be used.33

PRINCIPLE 1.1.3. Coverage of Flows
Fiscal reports cover all public revenues, expenditures, and financing.
38. To provide a complete picture of financial operations for a given year, fiscal reports should include information on all cash and accrued transactions and other economic flows. While fiscal reporting in many countries remains largely cash-based, some countries have made progress in moving government reporting onto
a partial or full accrual basis (see Box 2.11). Depending on the financial reporting standards used, reports on
government financial operations can take several forms, including:
•

budget execution reports that show how the government’s actual revenues, expenditures, and financing
operations compare with budgeted amounts;

•

cash flow statements that show the cash revenues, expenditures, financing, and net liquidity position at a
given point in time;

•

operating statements that provide a comprehensive picture of the accrued revenues and expenditures for
a given period; and

•

statements of other economic flows that affect net worth, such as revaluations, and the acquisition and
disposal of assets.

32

While these liabilities are actual liabilities, the fact that their measurement rests on various assumptions and methods often creates
difficulties in estimating their outstanding value. This is the reason why they are considered an element of the advanced level of
practice.

33

For more information on valuation methods for nonfinancial assets, including a detailed description of the three methods mentioned
in this paragraph, see Bova and others (2013).
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Box 2.11. Accounting Basis of Fiscal Reports (Number of Countries)

The number of countries reporting data to the IMF on a full-accrual basis increased from 9 in 2004 to 14 in 2016 (Figure 2.11.1).

Figure 2.11.1. Accounting Basis of Data Reported to the IMF, by Region (2016)

Note: Partial accrual includes countries that report transactions and other economic flows on an accrual basis but do not prepare a
full balance sheet. Full accrual includes countries that record transactions and other economic flows on an accrual basis and publish
a full balance sheet.
The regional split is done according to the area department of the IMF.
Source: Government Financial Statistics Yearbook (GFSY, 2003, 2013, 2016).

39. For comprehensive reporting on flows, it is important to record economic flows when the underlying economic event occurs. This requires the recognition of economic events in flow reports at the time at which
they occur, as well as when the related cash receipts and payments take place (Flynn, Moretti, and Cavanagh,
2016).34 These economic events may directly generate a corresponding or simultaneous cash flow, but in many
cases—such as depreciation, revaluation, and impairment—they do not.35 This is an important difference
between cash and accrual bases. Accrual accounting offers a number of benefits over traditional cash accounting from the point of view of government transparency, accountability, and financial management.
•

First, by capturing both cash transactions and noncash flows in financial statements, accrual-based fiscal
reports provide a more comprehensive view of the government’s financial performance and the cost of
government activities.

•

Second, accrual accounting can help focus greater attention on the part of policymakers and the public on
the acquisition, disposal, and management of government assets, as well as control and monitoring of all
liabilities, including arrears, contingent liabilities, and expenditure commitments.

•

Third, by consolidating not only central government ministries and agencies but also all institutional units
under government control, accrual-based financial reports prepared in line with internationally recognized standards provide a more complete picture of the financial position of the public sector as a whole.

34

For this purpose, an “economic event” is an event that results in the creation, transfer, or destruction of economic value. Economic
events can include the delivery of a taxable service by a private company (for which the government accrues tax revenue), performance of a public service by a government employee (for which the government accrues a salary and perhaps a pension expense), or
the loss or theft of a government asset such as a vehicle or equipment (for which a reduction in the asset stock will be recognized).

35

These other economic events are real and can be connected to previous or subsequent cash impacts, for example, depreciation usually represents the allocation of the cost of an asset over its useful life, and revaluation or impairment may reflect a changed view of
the (cash) amount that can be recovered from the asset when sold.
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Fourth, by reporting stocks and flows within an integrated accounting framework based on internationally recognized standards such as GFSM 2014 and IPSAS, accrual accounting can improve the reliability
and integrity of government financial data.

LEVELS OF PRACTICE UNDER PRINCIPLE 1.1.3
BASIC PRACTICE: Fiscal reports cover cash revenues, expenditures, and financing.
40. At the basic level of practice, governments should produce reliable and complete information on their
cash transactions and cash holdings. These data should include a cash flow statement that presents all cash
inflows, outflows, and changes in cash balance. Cash flows should be grouped under three broad categories:
(i) cash flows from operating activities, (ii) cash flows from investing activities, and (iii) cash flows from financing
activities. Cash flows from investing activities mainly comprise cash payments (receipts) to acquire (dispose)
tangible, intangible, and financial assets. Cash flows from financing activities comprise the proceeds from
issuing various forms of government debt (e.g., bonds and treasury bills), and repayments of previous loans.
Cash receipts and payments that do not fall into these categories should be reported as operating activities.
GOOD PRACTICE: Fiscal reports cover cash flows, accrued revenues, expenditures, and financing.
41. To conform with good practice, governments should prepare an accrual-based operating statement in addition to their cash flow statement to provide a more complete picture of their revenues and expenditures.
In addition to the data reported under a cash basis of accounting, the operating statement should report the
following information (see Box 2.12 for the Philippines example):
•

Accrued revenue. Tax and nontax revenue should be recorded and reported when the events generating
a legal right to receive such revenue have occurred.36 As governments record their tax revenue before the
actual receipt of tax payments, provision for tax amounts unlikely to be collected should also be made to
prevent an overestimation of the government’s income.

•

Accrued expenditures. Accrued expenditures should be recorded whenever an obligation is created—for
example, when goods or services are delivered or a subsidy or transfer is granted to a third party. Recording expenditures on an accrual basis will require the government to develop clear accounting policies
and procedures for recording accrued expenses/liabilities. Where accounting systems cannot immediately
support the recognition of such liabilities, it may be necessary to use indirect measures or approximations
such as an estimate of accrued expenses at the end of the year.



Box 2.12. Philippines: Coverage of Flows

The audited annual financial reports of national government agencies, local government units, and government-owned and controlled
companies include an income statement and a cash flow statement. These statements cover cash flows, accrued revenues and expenses, and
some realized and unrealized valuations and volume changes (other economic flows) based on accrual accounting with some modifications.
Income is recorded upon delivery of goods and services, except for tax revenue, duties, fees, fines and penalties, and user charges, which
are recognized upon collection in line with the government’s accounting policy. Expenses are recognized when obligations are incurred,
and these are reported in the financial statements in the period to which they relate. Some other economic flows related to the value of
nonfinancial assets are not recorded in the accounts, but these gaps will be closed by the government’s efforts to further move toward
implementing IPSAS.
Source: IMF (2015e).

36

Nontax revenues comprise revenue from the sale of goods and services, and other items (rent, interest, dividends, etc.). Where fiscal
reports cover the whole public sector, the nontax revenue received by public corporations—such as petroleum companies, railways,
and postal services—is likely to be significant. Sales of public assets may also generate significant financial inflows but have no impact on
a country’s net worth and are therefore excluded from revenue, as defined in the IPSAS and GFSM 2014.
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ADVANCED PRACTICE: Fiscal reports cover cash flows, accrued revenues, expenditures and financing, and
other economic flows.
42. The most comprehensive fiscal reports provide information not only on accrued revenues, expenditures
and financing but also on other economic flows, including changes in the value and volume of assets and
liabilities. These nontransactional “other economic flows” include, for example, the cost of writing off a government loan, some changes in the value of pension liabilities, or changes in the market prices of shares and
other equities. Such information would be reported by countries that are implementing accrual accounting in
full and are achieving advanced practice in terms of the coverage of stocks (see Principle 1.1.2 above). Providing such information enables full reconciliation of flows with changes in net worth shown in a comprehensive
balance sheet.

PRINCIPLE 1.1.4. Coverage of Tax Expenditures
The government regularly discloses and manages revenue loss from tax expenditure.
43. Disclosure of foregone revenue from tax concessions and exemptions (referred to as tax expenditure) helps
to illustrate the extent of indirect government support to corporations and households through the tax
system. There is a large literature on the concept and methodological questions related to tax expenditures
and their fiscal impact.37 By making exceptions in the tax law or regulations for certain classes of taxpayers,
activities, or transactions—in the form of special deductions, exemptions, allowances, rate reliefs, deferrals, or
credits—the government decides to forego revenue that it otherwise would have collected, in pursuit of social
or economic objectives. Since the foregone revenue benefits some taxpayers, activities, or products and not
others, it is equivalent to a subsidy on the expenditure side of the budget. Tax laws should require taxpayers
to file a tax return even when tax concessions and exemptions are granted so that the authorities can assess
the revenue cost of the tax expenditures. The extent of the loss of revenue through tax expenditures should
be disclosed in budget documentation.38 Disclosure of tax expenditure estimates should be accompanied by
appropriate methodological notes.
44. Available evidence suggests that tax expenditures vary greatly across countries (Figure 2.2).39
45. Before estimating the cost of tax expenditures, it is necessary to clearly identify all government policy measures and initiatives that can be defined as tax expenditures. These measures include:
•

Exemptions. Amounts excluded from the base on which tax liabilities are calculated.

•

Allowances. Amounts deducted from the benchmark tax (see later in this chapter) to arrive at the tax base.

•

Credits. Amounts deducted from tax liability.

•

Rate relief. A reduced rate of tax applied to specified classes of taxpayer or taxable transactions.

•

Tax deferral. A relief that takes the form of a delay in paying tax.

46. To estimate the revenue loss from tax expenditures, a “benchmark tax” needs to be defined. A benchmark
tax is defined as the tax rate structure, tax deductions, and tax accounting treatment prevailing in the absence

37

See, for example, Villela, Lemgruber, and Jorratt (2010); Tyson (2014); and OECD (1984, 1996, 2010b).

38

See, for example, Australia’s Charter of Budget Honesty Act, 1998, and the U.S. Congressional Budget and Impoundment Control
Act, 1974.

39

International comparability of tax expenditure estimates is significantly limited by the different approaches undertaken by different
countries when preparing tax expenditure reports.
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Figure 2.2. Revenue Loss from Tax Expenditures in Selected Countries (Percentage of GDP)
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Data are presented for illustration purposes rather than for comparison purposes.
Sources: IMF, FTE assessments.

of any tax expenditure (Box 2.13). Three estimation methods may be used to assess the extent of the tax expenditure (OECD, 1984; Villela, Lemgruber, and Jorratt, 2010):



•

Initial revenue loss. The amount by which tax revenue is reduced as a result of the introduction of a tax
expenditure, based on the assumption of unchanged behavior and unchanged revenues from other taxes.

•

Final revenue loss. The amount by which tax revenue is reduced by the introduction of a tax expenditure,
taking into account any changes in the behavior of taxpayers, and the effects on revenues derived from
other taxes, which result from the tax expenditure.

•

Outlay equivalence. The direct expenditure that would be required in pretax terms to achieve the same
after-tax effect on taxpayers’ incomes as the tax expenditure.

Box 2.13. OECD Approaches for Defining a Benchmark Tax System

The OECD outlines three broad approaches used by member countries for defining a benchmark tax system:
•
Conceptual approach seeks to link the benchmark to some concept of a “normal” tax structure.” It uses an “optimal” tax system as
the norm based on theoretical concepts of income, consumption, or value-added taxes. This norm may be modified to address data
limitations and technical problems in applying a pure theoretical concept.
•

Legal/regulatory approach seeks to link assessments to the taxation laws of a country. It largely uses a country’s own tax laws as a
basis to define the benchmark, isolating differential or preferential treatment judged as tax expenditures (e.g., targeted provisions
to address specific policy objectives).

•

Expenditure subsidy approach seeks to estimate the cost only of those tax concessions (or differential/preferential treatments) that
are clearly analogous to an expenditure subsidy.

Source: OECD (2010b).
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LEVELS OF PRACTICE UNDER PRINCIPLE 1.1.4
BASIC PRACTICE: The estimated revenue loss from tax expenditures is published at least annually.
47. At the basic level of practice, the estimated total revenue loss from tax expenditures should be disclosed
at least annually. Policies implemented through tax expenditures typically do not receive the same degree of
scrutiny during the budget process as spending estimates/appropriations. Therefore, it is important that an
estimate of the revenue loss from tax expenditures be included in the budget documentation so that it can be
compared and analyzed vis-à-vis the government’s spending proposals.40 Moreover, if tax expenditures are
not properly identified and reported, governments may overestimate revenues in the budget. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating tax expenditures should be clearly set out in the tax expenditure
report accompanied by a discussion of the risks associated with incorrect estimation.
GOOD PRACTICE: The revenue loss from tax expenditures is estimated by sector or policy area and is
published at least annually.
48. Good practice requires, in addition to the above, that tax expenditures be grouped by sector or policy area.41
This allows for analysis and comparison with the government’s spending programs. The key questions to consider are (i) what is the tax expenditure’s intended objective or purpose; (ii) whether performance measures
have been established to monitor success in achieving this objective; and (iii) whether the tax expenditure has
succeeded in achieving its objective. Reporting of tax expenditures by sector or policy area enhances legislative scrutiny of government policy (see Box 2.14 for the examples of India and Peru). It could also help expose
the ineffective, inefficient, or inequitable character, if any, of tax expenditures.42



Box 2.14. India and Peru: Reporting of Tax Expenditures

India prepared its first statement of tax expenditures in 2006/07. Starting fiscal year 2019, the statement is titled “Statement of Revenue
Impact of Tax Incentives under the Central Tax System.” It provides estimates of the revenue cost of various concessions to corporations, cooperatives, and individuals. It also analyzes the gap between statutory and effective corporate tax rates and how the effective
rate varies among larger and smaller corporations depending on the tax concessions available to them. Subsequently, the government
expanded the distributive analysis, which includes public/private and manufacturing/services differences in effective tax rates. The statements are submitted to Parliament as part of the Union Budget.
In Peru, the estimation of tax expenditures is an obligation under the Fiscal Responsibility and Transparency Law (2016 revised version).
The tax expenditure report is prepared by the Superintendencia Nacional de Administración Tributaria (SUNAT; National Superintendence for Tax Administration) and the Ministry of Economy and Finance. In Peru, tax expenditures are measured as deviations from the
benchmark system that imply a reduction in state revenue, with the aim of achieving economic and social objectives. SUNAT’s sources
of information are tax returns presented by taxpayers or tax informers, national accounts statistics, official and other diverse private
statistics, and requests for information from both public and private entities.
Sources: http://www.indiabudget.gov.in/ub2018-19/rec/annex7.pdf (for India) and Peru FTE (IMF, 2015d; http://www.imf.org/external/np/fad/trans/).

ADVANCED PRACTICE: The revenue loss from tax expenditures is estimated by sector or policy area and is
published at least annually. There is control on, or budgetary objective for, the size of tax expenditures.
49. Advanced practice requires, in addition, that once the costs of tax expenditures are well understood, governments consider establishing some control on their size. To meet the advanced level of practice, coun40

From an economic management point of view, a comparison of tax expenditures with peers also facilitates an analysis of its appropriateness.

41

For example, health, social security, and support to industry.

42

It could reveal, for example, that high-income households benefit more than needier households from tax credits and that the latter
group would be better served by family allowances targeted to low-income groups.
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tries may implement one or more of the following policies: (i) put a numerical cap on the overall size of tax
expenditures—in a similar way to a ceiling on aggregate spending—or a limit on the annual growth in the
aggregate size of tax expenditures; (ii) impose a limit on the number of years between the introduction of a
new tax expenditure and its expiry (a “sunset provision”); and/or (iii) ensure that estimates of spending proposals and tax expenditures are both presented in the budget documents and are reviewed together by the
government so that the trade-offs between spending and tax expenditures are taken into account in making
decisions on the allocation of budgetary resources.
50. This is necessary to take account of tax expenditures in assessing performance against a fiscal rule or an
expenditure rule (e.g., an overall expenditure ceiling). Performance should be assessed against quantitative
measures in an analogous manner to spending programs. Control mechanisms on the amount of tax expenditure should be built into the budget process. These mechanisms could include rules preventing tax expenditure
to reduce the expected aggregate revenue set in the medium-term budget through mandatory compensatory
revenue measure. They could also include a formal ceiling on the overall size of tax expenditure, such as an
average percentage of GDP over a given period, or the inclusion of tax expenditures in ministerial or sectoral
spending ceilings (see Box 2.15 for the Portugal example).43 Periodic evaluation of all tax expenditures is also
necessary to determine their distributional impact, scaling back those tax expenditures that are not generating
benefits commensurate to their cost,44 and to assess whether there continues to be a good justification for the
tax expenditure compared to other policy goals and instruments.



Box 2.15. Portugal: Reporting and Control on Tax Expenditures

The Ministry of Finance of Portugal first published an annual report on the estimated revenue foregone from tax expenditures with its
Relatório da Despesa Fiscal 2013. The report covers central, regional, and local governments and provides detailed information about the
evolution of tax expenditure and some international comparison. The report also analyses tax expenditure by function (e.g., economic
affairs, social protection), category of tax (e.g., taxes on income/wealth, production, imports), and the types of tax expenditure (e.g.,
exemptions, deductions, preferential rates, credits).
There are also controls on the size of tax expenditures. Budget documents provide targets and ceilings for tax expenditures. Under the
IMF-supported program, between 2011 and 2014 tax expenditures were set to be reduced by €4.8 billion or 35 percent. Of this total saving, fiscal year 2014, in particular, provided for a reduction of €640 million, which represents a decrease of 6.7 percent compared to 2013.
Source: Portugal FTE (IMF, 2014c; http://www.imf.org/external/np/fad/trans/).

DIMENSION 1.2. FREQUENCY AND TIMELINESS OF FISCAL REPORTS
Fiscal reports should be published in a frequent, regular, and timely manner.
51. Regular and timely publication of fiscal reports allows for a timely comparison of planned and actual fiscal
performance, and helps ensure that fiscal forecasts and decisions are based on an up-to-date assessment of the
government’s financial operations. Accordingly, the two principles under this dimension of the Code call for:
•

High frequency in-year fiscal reporting, in the form of budget execution reports and fiscal statistics (1.2.1).
This is critical to monitoring budget execution, enforcing fiscal discipline, and establishing a sound baseline for fiscal projections and policies; and

43

For example, Australia and France treat tax expenditures like ordinary expenditures when accounting against budget ceilings; that
is, ministries or departments that propose a new tax expenditure scheme in their budget submissions will need to compensate it
with a reduction in an existing tax expenditure scheme or an expenditure program.

44

Many tax expenditure provisions have fixed expiration dates; however, such provisions are often extended. It is a good practice to conduct
an evaluation/review before deciding on whether to extend an expiring tax expenditure provision or replace it with a direct expenditure
program. It is similarly good practice to evaluate an existing spending program that is about to expire before extending it.
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•

Timely preparation and audit of the government’s annual financial statements or accounts at year-end
(1.2.2). This is critical to ensure that the annual financial statements inform the preparation of future budgets and any irregularities identified by the auditor are addressed in a timely manner.

Table 2.2 provides a list of relevant standards, norms, and guidance material related to dimension 1.2 of
the Code.
52. The deadlines for publication of in-year and end-year fiscal reports are typically set out in fiscal legislation
or supporting regulations, though governments may choose to publish fiscal reports on a more frequent
basis than required by the law to increase the transparency of its operations. Governments should, in any
case, establish and adhere to clear procedures and timetables regarding the publication of fiscal reports to
ensure that legislators, markets, and the public know when to expect new information.
Table 2.2. Relevant Standards, Norms, and Guidance Material
Standards/Guidance Material
IMF Data Dissemination Standards

Brief Description
These standards are designed to enhance the dissemination of economic and financial data.
• The General Data Dissemination System (GDDS) was established for IMF member countries
with less developed statistical systems as a framework for evaluating their needs for data
improvement and setting priorities (IMF, 1998).
• The Special Data Dissemination Standard (SDDS) was established to guide IMF members that
have, or might seek, access to international capital markets in providing their economic and
financial data to the public.
• The SDDS Plus was created as an upper tier of the IMF’s Data Standards Initiatives to help
address data gaps identified during the global financial crisis.
• In 2015, the enhanced GDDS (e-GDDS) was created.
https://www.imf.org/en/About/Factsheets/Sheets/2016/07/27/15/45/Standards-for-DataDissemination
Guides on the use of e-GDDS, SDDS, and SDDS Plus can be found at: http://dsbb.imf.org/
Pages/GDDS/Home.aspx; http://dsbb.imf.org/Pages/SDDS/Home.aspx; and http://dsbb.imf.org/
Pages/SDDS/Home.aspx?sp=y

OECD Principles of Budgetary
Governance

Principle 4 requires that budget documents be open, transparent, and accessible. (OECD, 2014a).

PEFA

Includes two related indicators: PI-28.2 on the timing of in-year budget reports; and PI-30.2 on
the submission of audit reports to the legislature. (PEFA, 2016b)

http://www.oecd.org/gov/budgeting/principles-budgetary-governance.htm

www.PEFA.org
International Budget Partnership,
Open Budget Survey

Conducted bi-annually by the IBP, most recently in 2017, the Open Budget Survey measures
a wide range of budget transparency issues, and calculates an overall national score for each
country.
http://internationalbudget.org/what-we-do/open-budget-survey/

PRINCIPLE 1.2.1. Frequency of In-Year Reporting
In-year fiscal reports are published on a frequent and regular basis.
53. Frequent and regularly published in-year fiscal reports provide policymakers, budget managers, and other
stakeholders with a snapshot of the implementation of the budget. Timeliness of the in-year reporting is
also critical to a government’s ability to undertake any required midcourse corrections in budget implementation. To provide useful information, in-year fiscal reports should report government revenues, expenditures,
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and financing operations against the budget, and monitor whether the budget targets are on track. While statistical reporting standards call for quarterly general government fiscal reports, governments should aim to
publish provisional data each month. As shown in Figure 2.3, just over half of all countries currently publish
consolidated fiscal reports for central government on a monthly basis, with the remainder reporting quarterly,
semiannually, or annually. In addition, various daily or weekly reports are usually prepared for management
purposes within the ministry of finance or the line ministries.
Figure 2.3. Periodicity and Timeliness of Central Government Fiscal Reporting (Number of Countries)

Sources: IMF (2013d) and IMF (2013e).

54. In-year reports are also needed to inform budget preparation for the following year. Budgets are typically
prepared and approved before the start of the financial year to which they apply and therefore before the
publication of the end-year financial statements. A lack of timely data about in-year fiscal developments may
lead to inaccurate estimates during the budget preparation process and generate the need for substantial ex
post revisions to these estimates. Ideally, in-year reports should include information on (i) all commitments
made, invoices received, and payments made against approved budgetary allocations; (ii) revenues collected
and pending for collection (e.g., assessed tax revenues pending for collection) against budgetary forecasts;
and (iii) all financing operations, including debt operations.
55. Ensuring frequent and timely in-year fiscal reporting requires governments to establish and enforce rigorous and efficient procedures for collecting and consolidating data from government entities. These practices include:
•

Reporting standards and templates. All relevant entities (line ministries, tax collection agencies, etc.)
should be informed and comply with the government’s reporting requirements and the standards and
methods to be used in reporting data. These standards, templates, and guidelines may allow for certain
estimations or omissions in high-frequency reports, but would require more comprehensive and accurate
data for quarterly and annual submissions.

•

Reporting deadlines. All relevant entities should be aware of and comply with the deadlines for submitting information to the central reporting body and face sanctions for not complying with them.

©International Monetary Fund. Not for Redistribution

30 FISCAL TRANSPARENCY HANDBOOK

•

Reporting systems. In-year fiscal reporting is facilitated when the government’s financial management information system (FMIS) generates a sufficiently wide range of automatized reports. Manual procedures,
to the extent possible, should be avoided as they tend to create long delays in producing reports and reduce their reliability.

LEVELS OF PRACTICE UNDER PRINCIPLE 1.2.1
BASIC PRACTICE: In-year fiscal reports are published on a quarterly basis, within a quarter.
56. Publishing quarterly fiscal reports before the end of the following quarter ensures that the government
has enough lead time to adjust its policies in case of deviations from targets. It also ensures that information about the current fiscal year is available before beginning the preparation of next year’s budget and that
governments have at least two quarters of data on in-year fiscal developments before they present their fiscal
plans and budgets for the next financial year, which typically happens in the fourth quarter of the fiscal year.
There may be some exceptions, for example where reports are not generated automatically by the FMIS,
thus requiring significant manual efforts or where an in-year consolidation of public entities is undertaken.
Regularity in publishing the reports is also important—it is expected that governments should systematically
publish budget execution data on a quarterly basis.
GOOD PRACTICE: In-year fiscal reports are published on a quarterly basis, within a month.
57. Publishing quarterly fiscal data within one month of the end of each quarter enables the government
to take timely corrective action if fiscal performance is off track. When reporting fiscal data for each
new quarter, the government should take the opportunity to revise data from previous quarters taking
account of information received or errors discovered in the interim. This will help to avoid substantial
revisions to annual estimates of key fiscal aggregates and support the credibility of the government’s
fiscal policy statements.
ADVANCED PRACTICE: In-year fiscal reports are published on a monthly basis, within a month.
58. Under advanced practice, governments publish monthly fiscal reports before the end of the following
month, enabling them to track fiscal developments more closely and respond to problems as soon as
they emerge. High-frequency and quality fiscal data are especially important for countries that use fiscal
rules in setting their fiscal policy. Publishing fiscal data each month with a one-month lag gives governments between 8 and 10 observations before they submit their fiscal plans and budgets for the next fiscal
year to the country’s legislature. Where fiscal reports are generated automatically via the FMIS, such a
practice should be easily achievable. While monthly data are likely to be less detailed, more volatile, and
subject to greater revision than quarterly statistical data, they can help to improve policymakers’ and
the public’s understanding of in-year fiscal developments and patterns. Box 2.16 provides some country
examples based on FTEs conducted.



Box 2.16. Budget Execution Reports: Country Examples

Brazil, Colombia, Costa Rica, Romania, and Russian Federation’s cash-based budget execution reports are produced each month and
published within 30 days after the end of the month. However, these reports tend to cover only the budgetary central government or
central government. In addition, statistical in-year reports may be produced less frequently. In the case of Ireland, Portugal, and Greece,
monthly budget execution reports cover the general government and its subsectors, while for the United Kingdom they cover the whole
public sector.
Source: IMF, FTE Reports (see http://www.imf.org/external/np/fad/trans/).
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PRINCIPLE 1.2.2. Timeliness of Annual Financial Statements
Audited or final annual financial statements are published in a timely manner.45
59. Timely publication of year-end financial statements is key to effective government financial accountability
and management. The government’s annual financial statements or accounts, together with the SAI’s report,
show whether the budget was implemented as intended and provide important insight into the reliability and
integrity of the country’s overall PFM system. Audited annual financial statements are the principal means by
which governments report to their legislature on their stewardship of public funds. A complete, reliable, and
timely account of how those funds are used is critical to ensuring that any irregularities are swiftly remedied
and that future budgets are based on a full understanding of past fiscal performance. However, the timeliness of these reports remains a challenge in many low- and middle-income countries. In 2005–14, out
of 107 countries for which PEFA scores are publicly available, less than half submitted their annual financial
statements for audit within six months of the year end (Box 2.17). In francophone countries, year-end financial
statements take the form of a law for both budgetary and financial reporting. This law, known as the “loi de
règlement,” provides information on the fiscal balance, and presents (i) the cash flow statement; (ii) a comparison of budget execution with the approved budget; and (iii) the annual financial accounts. SAI’s audit covers
both budgetary and financial reporting. The SAI’s report on budget execution is attached to the law, and when
the accounts are prepared on accrual basis, the SAI should express an opinion on the financial statements.  



Box 2.17. Timeliness of Annual Financial Statements

Figure 2.17.1. Trends in Timeliness of Annual Financial Statements (Number of Countries)
19
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Source: PEFA Scores Data Set (2005–16).

60. Timely preparation, audit, and publication of year-end financial statements is facilitated by the following:
•

45

Clear and legally binding deadlines for the publication of audited annual financial statements. The legal
and regulatory framework should clearly specify the timeframe for preparing and publishing the financial
statements, transmitting them to the external auditor, finalizing the audit opinion, and laying the audited
accounts before the legislature. Ideally, the law should also require financial statements to be published
both before (as provisional financial statements) and after the audit (as audited financial statements).

Ideally, the audited annual financial statements should be published in a timely manner. In countries where there is no functioning
audit process or the external audit function is not well developed, this principle will assess the timeliness of the anuual financial
statements prepared and published by the ministry of finance/treasury.

©International Monetary Fund. Not for Redistribution

32 FISCAL TRANSPARENCY HANDBOOK

•

Accounting regulations, guidance, and circulars46 that define, first, the roles and responsibilities of the
actors involved in preparing the financial statements; second, the format and content of the statements;
third, deadlines to produce the information needed to prepare the statements; and, fourth, procedures to
centralize financial data in the FMIS and ensure their consistency.

•

Open channels of communication and cooperation between the ministry of finance and the SAI to ensure
that surprises are avoided and publication deadlines are met. To the extent possible, the auditor’s opinion
on accounting issues should be sought in advance. These accounting issues include the format and content of the financial statements and the application of accounting policies and standards.

LEVELS OF PRACTICE UNDER PRINCIPLE 1.2.2
BASIC PRACTICE: Audited or final annual financial statements are published within 12 months of the end of
the financial year.
61. As basic practice, governments should publish their financial statements within 12 months of the end of
the financial year. Financial information published with more than one-year lag is often only of historical
importance and is of little relevance either in the fiscal decision-making process or in effectively establishing
the executive’s accountability as some of the key personnel may have changed. Long delays in the publication
of audited accounts make it difficult to remedy or sanction any financial irregularities or misconduct identified, as the focus of discussion, and the public attention, shifts to the next budget and policies. Publishing
audited accounts within 12 months typically requires governments to prepare their financial statements and
transmit them to the SAI within seven to nine months of the end of the year.
GOOD PRACTICE: Audited or final annual financial statements are published within nine months of the end
of the financial year.
62. Governments that comply with good practice publish audited or final financial statements within nine
months of the end of the financial year (see Box 2.18 for Peru example). This helps legislators and the public
to assess whether the findings and recommendations of the audit report are being addressed in the preparation
of the accounts for the current year and the budget for the coming year. Governments that have comprehensive
and integrated accounting systems, automated through FMIS, should be able to fulfill this requirement.



Box 2.18. Peru: Consolidated Financial Statements

Peru publishes annual consolidated financial statements for the public sector within nine months of the end of the financial year.
The Accounting Unit of the Ministry of Economy and Finance (DGCP) collects annual financial statements from public-sector entities by
March 31 (three months after the end of the financial year). Financial statements are prepared and submitted for audit by the General
Auditor Office by June 20. After receiving the General Auditor’s report (by August 10), DGCP sends the audited accounts to the Congress
(by August 15). At the same time, financial statements are published on the ministry´s website, pending approval by the Congress.
Source: Peru FTE (IMF, 2015d; http://www.imf.org/external/np/fad/trans/).

ADVANCED PRACTICE: Audited or final annual financial statements are published within six months of the
end of the financial year.
63. Under advanced practice, governments publish their audited or final financial statements within six months
of year end, thus allowing the information to be effectively used for budget preparation (see Box 2.19
for Finland example). Publication of the annual financial statements within such a timeframe is likely to be
46

These procedures are usually referred as “year-end” or “closing” procedures.
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achieved by countries that have been able to set up a comprehensive FMIS and communicate and cooperate
regularly with the external auditor in the preparation of the accounts. Meeting the six-month deadline typically requires the annual accounts be prepared within three months of the end of the financial year, thus
allowing a further three months for examination by the SAI and discussion of any omissions, errors, or irregularities. To avoid delays, the auditor may also perform a concurrent audit of financial transactions even before
the closure of the annual accounts.



Box 2.19. Finland: Publication of Financial Statements of Central Government and Municipalities

In Finland, the annual financial statements of the central government are published in April each year as part of the government’s Annual Report, and are audited within five months of the end of the fiscal year, in time to inform the preparation of next year’s budget.
Moreover, financial statements of municipalities and joint municipal boards are published within six months of the end of the fiscal year.
Source: Finland FTE (IMF, 2015a; http://www.imf.org/external/np/fad/trans/).

DIMENSION 1.3. QUALITY OF FISCAL REPORTS
Information in fiscal reports should be relevant, internationally comparable, and internally and
historically consistent.
64. The quality of a fiscal report determines its usefulness to policymakers, citizens, markets, and other
users. The quality of a report is determined by the relevance and consistency of the information it contains. A similar set of characteristics has been proposed by IPSAS (Box 2.20). The fiscal information should
be presented in a format that is easy to comprehend and relevant to the users; cross-country comparability is also important to assess the information presented. Accordingly, the three principles under this
dimension require that
•

information is classified and presented in line with international standards (1.3.1);

•

data in fiscal reports are internally consistent and consistent over time (1.3.2); and

•

any material revisions to historical data are disclosed and explained (1.3.3).

	Table 2.3 provides a list of relevant standards, norms, and guidance material related to dimension 1.3 of the
Code.



Box 2.20. International Public Sector Accounting Standards: Key Characteristics of Financial Reporting

IPSAS identifies four principal quality characteristics for financial reporting. Information is:
•

understandable when it is presented in a manner that readers might reasonably be expected to comprehend its meaning;

•

relevant if it can be used for evaluating past, present, or future events;

•

reliable when complete in all material respects, free from any material error and bias, and represents faithfully the financial position/performance reflecting the economic substance of transactions and not merely the legal form; and

•

comparable when users can identify similarities and differences between that information and information in other reports, pertaining to the same entity or of different entities.

Source: Annex to IPSAS 1 (IPSASB, 2006a).
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Table 2.3. Relevant Standards, Norms, and Guidance Material
Standards/Guidance
Material

Brief Description

IMF, Government Finance
Statistics Manual (GFSM,
2014)

Provides a standard framework to design an economic classification of revenues and expenditures, and
a functional classification, based on the Classification of the Functions of Government (COFOG) developed by the United Nations. (IMF, 2014b)

OECD Best Practices for
Budget Transparency

Recommends that expenditures be classified by administrative unit (e.g., ministry, department, or
agency), supplemented by information classified by economic and functional categories. (OECD,
2002).

https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/gfs/manual/gfs.htm

http://www.oecd.org/gov/budgeting/best-practices-budget-transparency.htm
Provides guidance on compiling comparable statistics on government expenditure broken down by
function, according to COFOG. (European Commission, 2011b)

EUROSTAT Manual on
Sources and Methods for
the Compilation of COFOG
Statistics

http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-manuals-and-guidelines/-/KS-RA-07-022?inheritRedirect=true

PEFA

Includes one related indicator: PI-5 on the classification of the budget. (PEFA, 2016b)
www.PEFA.org

IMF’s Data Quality Assessment Framework

Provides a flexible structure for the qualitative assessment of data, including financial statistics, linked
to the system of Reports on Standards and Codes (ROSC). (IMF, 2003a).
http://dsbb.imf.org/pages/dqrs/dqaf.aspx

European Statistical System
(ESS) Guidelines on Revision
Policy for PEEIs

This document—endorsed by the ESS Committee—provides guidelines on a common revision
policy for Principal European Economic Indicators (PEEIs). It aims to improve the quality and comparability of macro-economic data of the EU, euro area, and national level. (European Commission,
2013a).
http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/en/web/products-manuals-and-guidelines/-/KS-RA-13-016

European Statistics Code
of Practice

This Code of Practice – adopted by the ESS Committee – is based on 15 principles that promulgate the
independence, integrity, and accountability of the national and Community statistical authorities. The
Code includes a set of indicators of good practice. (European Commission, 2011a).
http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-manuals-and-guidelines/-/KS-32-11-955

IMF Technical Notes
and Manuals

Jacobs and others (2009); and Cooper and Pattanayak (2011).

PRINCIPLE 1.3.1. Classification
Fiscal reports classify information in ways that make clear the use of public resources and facilitate international comparisons.
65. The budget classification determines the way government financial information is recorded and presented
in the budget and fiscal reports. A classification system provides a framework for presenting data related
to revenues, expenditures, and financing, based on clear categories such as administrative units, economic
categories, functions, programs, beneficiaries, and geographical location (Cooper and Pattanayak, 2011;
Jacobs, Helis, and Bouley, 2009; Tommasi, 2013). A standard classification allows tracking of transactions
throughout the overall public finance cycle, from budget formulation to execution and reporting. The budget
classifications should be integrated with the chart of accounts (COA) used by the treasury to record financial
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transactions.47 A coherent, transparent, and well-understood classification system is important for policy formulation, resource allocation, budget management, financial reporting, and ex post analysis.
66. Four main internationally adopted budget classifications are most frequently used in budget documents
(Table 2.4):
•

An administrative classification identifies the entities responsible for collecting and spending public
resources. It usually codifies the different levels of administration, from a ministry or department to the
public service delivery unit. Administrative classification is important for budget appropriations and accountability purposes.

•

An economic classification identifies the type of expenditure incurred and includes, for example, economic
categories such as salaries, goods and services, transfers, interest payments, and capital spending. The
GFSM 2014 provides summary economic classifications that could be further disaggregated to address
specific needs.

•

A functional classification presents the allocation of resources to a set of standardized functions, or broader
socioeconomic objectives, of government. A classification by functions or sectors is useful for policy design and economic analysis purposes. The United Nations’ Classification of Functions of Government
(COFOG) sets out 10 functions and various subfunctions. 48

•

A program classification provides information on the allocation of resources to assess the extent to which
public spending achieves its various goals and objectives. A program comprises a set of activities designed
to achieve a policy objective (e.g., a vaccination program, or universal primary education).

Table 2.4. The Four Main Types of Budget Classification
Classification

Information Provided

Standards

Administrative

Government entity (ministry, department, directorate, agency)
allowed to spend the funds and accountable for their use

No international standards as it is specific to each
country’s institutional arrangements

Economic

Nature of expenditure (wages, subsidies, social benefits)

GFSM 2014

Functional

Purpose of the expenditure (defense, health, education)

COFOG

Program

Link between the expenditure and the associated government
policies (provide water access, reduce child mortality)

No international standards as it is specific to each
government’s policy priorities

Source: IMF staff.

67. To produce meaningful, reliable, and comparable information, the classification system should be consistent and be stable over the time. A classification system should remain stable to allow for effective control
of budget execution, the analysis of fiscal policy over time, and the making of international comparisons.
When changes to the classification structure are made, they should be disclosed and their impact on fiscal

47

The COA provides a coding structure for the classification and recording of relevant financial information (both flows and stocks)
within the financial management and reporting system. The budget classifications define the structure of the COA codes/subcodes
that are related to government budgetary revenue, expenditure, and financing operations. Where the budget classifications are not
integrated with the COA, or only partially integrated, there is risk of loss of important information undermining the effectiveness
of budget control and reporting. A bridge table is used by some countries to link accounting data with budgetary operations when
budget classifications are not integrated with the COA. For further information on COA, see Cooper and Pattanayak (2011).

48

The functions are classified using a three-level scheme. There are 10 first-level categories, referred to as divisions (e.g., health is
Division 07). Within each division, there are several groups (e.g., hospital services are Group 073). Within each group, there are one
or more classes (nursing and convalescent home services are Class 0734). https://unstats.un.org/unsd/cr/registry/regcst.asp?Cl=4.
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information analyzed.49 Box 2.21 shows how selected low-income countries and emerging markets typically
classify their budgets.



Box 2.21. How Countries Classify Budgets

As shown in Figure 2.21.1, out of a set of 110 countries for which PEFA assessments are available, nearly all classify their budgets using
administrative and economic classifications; 60 countries follow at least a basic functional classification that broadly conforms to the 10
COFOG functions; and 27 of these have either detailed functional classifications or program classifications capable of producing reports
by COFOG subfunctions.

Figure 2.21.1. Classification Used (Number of Countries)
Different classification (e.g., not GFS compatible or with
administrative breakdown only)

8

Administrative and economic classification using GFS
standards

42

Administrative, economic, and functional classification
(using at least the 10 main COFOG functions)

23

Administrative, economic, and sub-functional
classification, using GFS/COFOG standards
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Source: PEFA Scores Data Set (2005–2016). See www.pefa. org.

LEVELS OF PRACTICE UNDER PRINCIPLE 1.3.1
BASIC PRACTICE: Fiscal reports include administrative and economic classifications consistent with
international standards, where applicable.
68. Classifying information in fiscal reports by administrative unit and economic category is a basic requirement for expenditure control and fiscal management.
•

49

An administrative classification allows governments to allocate resources to different ministries, agencies,
and levels of government. It also allows parliament and the public to hold them to account for the use of
those resources. The administrative classification should be organized according to the different levels of
responsibility and accountability in budget management. While there is no international standard for an
administrative classification, changes to administrative boundaries or assignment of financial responsibilities between government agencies should be explained and reconciled.

For example, if there has been a change in the structure of the ministries, a mapping table (between the old and new administrative
classifications) should be published to illustrate the administrative changes that have occurred.
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Classifying financial information by its economic nature allows governments to understand and manage
the impact of government activities on the wider economy and compare their fiscal performance internationally. An economic classification in line with the international standard (GFSM 2014) is analytically
meaningful. It allows the production of statistical tables, which, as discussed under principles 1.1.2 and
1.1.3, provide statements of operations, other economic flows, and the balance sheet. The economic classification defines a set of codes to identify the revenue, expenditures, or financing items and uses these
codes to identify types of transactions, other economic flows, or the stock position.50 See Box 2.22 for the
example of Kenya.

Box 2.22. Kenya: Administrative and Economic Classifications

Kenya produces fiscal reports, including quarterly economic and budgetary reviews and annual financial statements, with breakdowns
of revenues and expenditures by administrative and economic classifications. Annual reports published by the Kenya National Bureau of
Statistics provide GFS and COFOG compliant reports. Kenya’s reporting is supported by a standard chart of accounts introduced in July
2013. The structure provides multiple reporting segments, is harmonized across budget and accounting functions, and is shared by the
national and county levels of government. Despite it being consistent with international standards, its benefits are yet to be fully realized
as the improvements are still to be exploited in the annual financial statements.
Source: Kenya FTE (IMF, 2016d; http://www.imf.org/external/np/fad/trans/).

GOOD PRACTICE: Fiscal reports include administrative, economic, and functional classifications consistent
with international standards, where applicable.
69. In addition to the administrative and economic classification, good practice requires that countries classify
expenditure by function, which facilitates both international and intertemporal comparisons of the level
and composition of expenditure. As noted earlier, using a classification consistent with COFOG51 allows intertemporal international comparisons as functions are not affected by changes in the organizational structures
of governments or by administrative arrangements regarding the delivery of public services (see Box 2.23 for
Tunisia example).



Box 2.23. Tunisia: Classification of Fiscal Transactions

The government of Tunisia uses administrative, economic, and functional classifications for its fiscal statistics, which are reported to the
IMF and published.
The monthly fiscal statistics use an economic classification of revenue and expenditures based on the GFSM 1986, while the annual publication transmitted to the IMF uses an economic classification of revenue and expenditures based on the GFSM 2001. The fiscal statistics
also include a functional classification of expenditures based on the COFOG. When classification in the different subsectors differs, the
Tunisian authorities have developed a conversion table for the purpose of preparing fiscal statistics.
In addition, the government has developed a programmatic classification of budget expenditures, which is being implemented by pilot
ministries as part of a results-based budgeting initiative.
Finally, the government has started taking measures to comply with the new organic budget law, which requires the implementation of
an economic classification compliant with international standards.
Source: Tunisia FTE (IMF, 2016e; http://www.imf.org/external/np/fad/trans/).

50

Appendix 8 of the GFSM 2014 provides a comprehensive overview of all the classification codes used for revenues, expenses, assets,
and liabilities.

51

United Nations’ Classification of Functions of Government.
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ADVANCED PRACTICE: Fiscal reports include administrative, economic, functional, and program
classifications consistent with international standards, where applicable.
70. Advanced practice is to classify expenditure also by program, thus enabling governments to allocate resources
to different policy objectives and link those resources to specific nonfinancial performance indicators (see Box
2.24 for France example). A program classification is useful for countries trying to analyze the performance of
public policies or improve the delivery of public services (Robinson and Last, 2009; Robinson 2013). It is an important instrument of fiscal transparency as it informs the public on the impact of intended policies. Implementing a
program classification is a demanding task that requires careful design and coordination between multiple stakeholders, in particular between the ministry of finance and line ministries/program-implementing agencies. To be
meaningful, such a classification should directly link programs to outputs and outcomes.52 It should also ensure
that programs provide a full cost of the policy, including civil service employment costs or capital expenditure.
Moreover, the FMIS must be designed to ensure that transactions are recorded against a given program, as well as
conforming to internationally compliant economic and administrative classifications.



Box 2.24. France: Program Classification

Since 2006, France has implemented performance-based budgeting with a programmatic classification based on a three-tier structure.
The “Missions” are the high-level public policies. Each Mission comprises a set of “Programs,” which are the level where appropriations
are allocated. Programs comprise “Actions,” which are the operational activities aimed at implementing the Programs. This reform has
clarified the objectives of budget appropriations, enabled the cost of public policies to be estimated reliably, and aligned policies and
programs with the related administrative structures.
Source: Chevauchez (2007).

PRINCIPLE 1.3.2. Internal Consistency
Fiscal reports are internally consistent and include reconciliations between alternative measures
of summary fiscal aggregates.
71. Internally consistent fiscal reports are key to ensuring their credibility and accuracy. Every transaction made by the government—spending, revenue collection, or borrowing—has a counterpart,
allowing the accuracy of the information to be compared against and verified by independent data.
Fiscal documentation should provide a reconciliation 53 of internally generated reports (e.g., the annual
cash deficit in the budget) and externally generated figures (e.g., actual borrowing from domestic and
external sources, plus or minus cash holdings) to provide reasonable assurance of the quality and reliability of government fiscal data and verify that the budget deficit figure is accurate and reliable (see
Khemani and Wiest, 2016).
72. The key reconciliations to ensure internal consistency of fiscal reports are as follows:
•

Fiscal balance with net financing: This links the fiscal balance, calculated as revenue less expenditure
(“above-the-line”), to its net financing (“below-the-line”), calculated as the net acquisition of financial

52

Outputs represent the products and services produced directly by a program or activity. Outcomes represent the economic or social
changes brought about by a policy measure, program, or activity.

53

Reconciliation is a process of comparing two or more sets of related records/data from different sources to ensure consistency. When
differences arise (usually in balances), they should be explained and justified, and adjustments and corrections should be made in
accounting records as required. Timely and frequent reconciliation of data is fundamental for data reliability.
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assets minus the net incurrence of liabilities.54 Bank reconciliation plays an important role in achieving this.55
•

The stock of debt issued with the stock of debt held by counterparties. This links the reported amount of
gross public debt—liabilities of the government—to the amount of public debt assets held by other entities, such as foreign governments, banks, pension funds, and investors.56

•

Net financing with the change in the stock of government debt. In the absence of any valuation changes,
the stock of government debt should evolve consistently with the amount of net financing. For example,
if the government runs a budget deficit of $10 million, and finances the deficit through issuance of $10
million of bonds, the stock of government debt should increase by $10 million. Differences between the
two measures, known as stock-flow adjustments, can occur for several reasons, and should be disclosed in
the reconciliation table.

73. If reconciliations are not provided, or discrepancies exist, this can raise serious questions about the validity of the government’s fiscal reports. A reported fiscal deficit “above-the-line” that is smaller than the net
financing (below-the-line) may indicate that there are many off-budget operations. Large, unexplained stockflow variations, for example, could indicate that some public borrowing is not being used to finance the budget and may be diverted to alternative uses. Any discrepancies between the government’s debt liabilities and
private-sector debt holdings may indicate misreporting of public debt figures.
74. Preparing a full reconciliation of the three key measures can be a challenging task, although most of the
relevant information is usually available from government and central bank reports. Where countries are
producing accrual accounts, with operating, cash flow, and balance sheet statements, these reconciliations
are already being provided. If countries are operating on a cash basis without financial statements, the reconciliations can be made using the available “above-the-line“ and “below-the-line” information and be further
informed by variations in key parameters such as exchange and interest rates and the balance of government
deposits. Additional sources of data, where available, can assist in performing these reconciliations. For example, the central bank’s monetary survey and information on the balance of payments and the international
investment position provide most of the counterparty data that are required.

LEVELS OF PRACTICE UNDER PRINCIPLE 1.3.2
BASIC PRACTICE: Fiscal reports include one of the following reconciliations: (i) fiscal balance and financing,
(ii) debt issued and debt holdings, and (iii) financing and the change in the stock of debt.
GOOD PRACTICE: Fiscal reports include two of the following reconciliations: (i) fiscal balance and financing,
(ii) debt issued and debt holdings, and (iii) financing and the change in the stock of debt.
ADVANCED PRACTICE: Fiscal reports include all three of the following reconciliations: (i) fiscal balance and
financing, (ii) debt issued and debt holdings, and (iii) financing and the change in the stock of debt.
75. The practices under this principle are defined against the three criteria above relating to the reconciliation
of fiscal data. Basic practice requires one of these criteria to be met, good practice two criteria, and advanced
practice all three criteria.

54

In many countries where information on all the financial instruments is not available, the net financing is usually calculated as the
sum of net issuance of debt (issuance less amortization) and changes in the cash or other liquid asset balances. Liquid assets
comprise, in most cases, deposits of foreign currency and cash, in addition to securities held for debt management purposes.

55

Bank reconciliation compares the banks’ records (from bank statements) with the government general ledger (cash accounts).
It also helps ensure that public sector entities’ records (general ledger, cash accounts, etc.) and the bank’s records are complete
and correct.

56

To verify this reconciliation, information from the security-by-security database built by the Bank of International Settlements (BIS)
can be used. Another reference is the sectoral accounts produced under a country’s national accounts framework.
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76. To meet the basic practice requirements, most countries are likely to apply the fiscal balance to net financing reconciliation criterion, which is the most common of the three tests. This reconciliation is usually
included in the government’s main fiscal tables. It explains the difference between “above-the-line” transactions (comprising all revenue, expense, and net investment in nonfinancial assets) and “below-the-line”
transactions (comprising the net acquisition of financial assets and the net incurrence of liabilities). While the
above-the-line deficit relies solely on government reporting, the amount of net financing can be verified externally, using the monetary survey prepared by the central bank. Reconciliations should explain any difference
between these two measures and acquisitions of financial assets that occur below the line that may increase
net financing requirements but will not have any impact on the fiscal balance. Under accrual accounting, there
is usually a reconciliation (provided in the notes) of the cash flow statement with the operating statement and
the balance sheet.
77. To meet the good practice requirements, the second most common reconciliation test is the comparison of government debt liabilities to private-sector debt assets. This test should provide the reconciliation of the data between the debtor (debt issued) and the creditor (debt holdings).57 These data can also
be compared with the monetary survey and balance of payment statistics prepared by the central bank
and the national statistics agency. If necessary, they can be further cross-checked against the balance
sheets of creditor entities. Such cross-checks should verify that the government’s reported debt levels are
accurate, but differences may still arise for several reasons. For example, the coverage of reported general
government debt may be broader than the definition used by a country’s debt management office (e.g.,
if the debt of state-owned enterprises/public corporations is included within the general government
boundary) or valuation methods may differ (e.g., because the government reports debt on face value, but
the counterparties report at market value).
78. At the level of advanced practice, the government should also provide a reconciliation of stock-flow adjustments (see Box 2.25 for Finland example). This information is usually provided in the operating statement
as “other economic flows.” These flows comprise two categories: (i) holding gains and losses such as the
valuation changes due to variations in exchange rates on external debt, and interest rate variations that can
change the market value of debt, and (ii) changes of volume such as a reclassification of previously private or
public sector debt within the general government (which often is not recorded above the line), or a write-off
of public debt.



Box 2.25. Finland: Reconciliations of Fiscal Data

Fiscal statistics in Finland include all the three reconciliations required under the advanced practice of this principle of the Fiscal Transparency Code.
The reconciliation between the fiscal balance and financing is compiled from the quarterly financial and nonfinancial accounts and is
published by Statistics Finland on the National Summary Data Page of Finland in line with the Special Data Dissemination Standards
(SDDS) of the IMF.
The reconciliation between the financing and the change in the stock of debt (Maastricht definition) is published in line with the EU’s
Excessive Deficit Procedure (EDP) notifications. The change is calculated on the following formula: Change in the Stock of Debt = Net
Borrowing/Lending (opposite sign) + Net Acquisition of Financial Assets + Adjustments + Statistical Discrepancy. The adjustments include, among others, the other liabilities (derivatives and accounts payable), revaluations related to changes in the exchange rate, and
the difference between interest accrued and interest paid.

57

Public debt management office usually holds data related to the asset holdings of the creditor.
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The stock-flow reconciliation of the financial balance sheet as defined in the GFSM is also published. The stocks reconciliation is calculated
on the formula: Opening balance sheet value + transactions+ other economic flows = Closing balance sheet value (see Figure 2.25.1).
The debt issued and debt holdings of the central government are published monthly by the State Treasury. The data are published for
long-term debt and short-term debt.

Figure 2.25.1. Stock-Flow Reconciliation of the Financial Balance Sheet, 2015 (Percent of GDP)
Financial Assets

Liabilities

Sources: IMF GFS database. For charts: https://www.stat.fi/index_en.html.

PRINCIPLE 1.3.3. Historical Revisions
Major revisions to historical fiscal statistics are disclosed and explained.
79. The magnitude and frequency of revisions to fiscal statistics are often used to gauge data accuracy and reliability; they should be disclosed and explained. Revisions may be critical if they exceed, say, one percentage
point of GDP. They may have a significant influence on how the accuracy, reliability, and transparency of
fiscal data are perceived. Revisions may arise for several reasons, which include:
•

Correction of errors and omissions in initially reported data. Errors and omissions can occur in fiscal
statistics when various sources are used to compile “above-the-line” and “below-the-line” data. They can
result from differences in the time of recording of information or in valuation methods (e.g., one source of
data uses the cash basis of recording while the other uses the accrual basis).

•

Incorporation of improved and more comprehensive source data. There is often a trade-off between the
timeliness and periodicity of data and its reliability. Government statisticians may be put under pressure
to base their first estimates on incomplete data sources and replace these with better source data as these
become available. Initial estimates of data may be revised because of increases in the number of reporting entities or quality checks performed after the data have been disseminated. A typical example of the
latter is the benchmarking of quarterly samples of data to annual data when the annual universe of data
becomes available. Government statisticians should be encouraged to develop comprehensive revision
policies that explain clearly how frequently data are revised due to the availability of more complete and
reliable sources of data.
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•

Adoption of new or revised statistical methodologies. The international statistical community continues to put major efforts into preparing and promoting improved methodological manuals and
guidelines for macroeconomic statistics, such as the United Nations’ System of National Accounts (SNA
2008), the 2010 European System of Accounts (ESA 2010), and the GFSM 2014.58 Such initiatives may require countries to make substantial major revisions to their existing data. Moreover, developments in
the compilation of underlying source data systems, such as the adoption of IPSAS, may also require
revisions to historical data to maintain comparability and consistency. A transparent revisions policy
is an important aspect of good governance in statistics and contributes to public understanding and
trust in fiscal data. A policy to incorporate important changes to statistical concepts, definitions, and
classifications only at wide intervals—for example, every five years—may be required to establish
stability in a data series.

LEVELS OF PRACTICE UNDER PRINCIPLE 1.3.3
BASIC PRACTICE: Major revisions to historical fiscal statistics are reported.
80. Basic practice requires that a note to the data should alert users that earlier reported fiscal statistics have
been revised and that the revisions were significant. Revisions to fiscal data should follow an established set
of policies and practices and should be regularly published, either annually or semiannually. Published data
should clearly indicate whether the numbers are provisional, revised, updated, or final. Where fiscal data are
reported as provisional, this practice should be clearly indicated and advance notice should be given on the
expected planned changes to the data under the revision policy.
GOOD PRACTICE: Major revisions to historical fiscal statistics are reported with an explanation for each
major revision.
81. Good practice requires, in addition, that an explanation of any major revisions to historical fiscal data be
provided for users. Information should be provided to users on the reasons for these revisions. Information
should be provided if there have been changes in methodology—for example, changes in the base year, major
expansions of sample size, introduction of alternative data sources, and/or a reclassification of transactions or
institutional units. A note should also be included disclosing the impact of such changes on the treatment of
transactions or stock positions and their estimated fiscal consequences.
ADVANCED PRACTICE: Major revisions to historical fiscal statistics are reported with an explanation for each
major revision and a bridging table between the old and new time series.
82. The advanced practice requires, in addition, that a bridge table be provided to reconcile the originally
reported fiscal data and the revised data. This analysis should quantify the impact of specific revisions/
changes in fiscal statistics. Some countries present explanatory notes to tables or time series of fiscal data
indicating whether the information is preliminary or final, and often indicate in footnotes when users should
expect the preliminary data to be revised and made final (see Box 2.26 for Portugal example).59

58

For more information on the latest statistical manuals and guides, see http://www.imf.org/external/data.htm#guide.

59

In addition, some forms of metadata linked to the data tables or time series disclose periods in which major revisions occurred
and the reasons for these changes. Countries adhering to advanced practices will also explain the magnitude of each change
and the impact that it had on the revised data. While best practice would require that the data are revised in such a way that
time series remain comparable, lack of source data often prevents it. Where methodological changes occurred and it is not
possible to make data comparable before and after the revision, a break symbol in the data usually alerts users about the lack
of comparability in the data.
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Box 2.26. Portugal: Historical Revisions to Fiscal Data

Portugal discloses revisions to fiscal statistics in later vintages of published data. The country is required to report fiscal data to Eurostat
twice a year (in April and October), in compliance with the EU protocol on the Excessive Deficit Procedure (EDP). Revisions to the data
for general government deficit and debt have often exceeded the EU average by large margins. When fiscal statistics for each successive
quarter within a given year are compiled, the figures for previous quarters are revised; otherwise, quarterly figures are revised at the time
of the EDP notification (to ensure consistency with annual figures). Changes are explained in press releases whenever significant. The
revision policy for nonfinancial accounts is presented and explained in Direção-Geral do Orçamento’s website.
Portugal’s general government deficit and debt figures have been revised up significantly over recent years mainly because of reclassifications of SOEs and PPPs within the general government perimeter (see Figures 2.26.1 and 2.26.2). Other significant changes that affect
historical fiscal data are published and explained. When a new base year for the national accounts is introduced every five years, it is
explained in detail to the public. Changes in the composition of the general government and its subsectors—for example, the reclassification of public corporations—are communicated and explained to the public in press releases.

Figure 2.26.1. Revisions to Government Deficit 	    Figure 2.26.2. Revisions to Gross Government Debt
(Percentage of GDP)				    (Percentage of GDP)
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Source: Portugal FTE, based on Eurostat data in 2012. (IMF, 2014c; http://www.imf.org/external/np/fad/trans/).

DIMENSION 1.4.

INTEGRITY OF FISCAL REPORTS

Fiscal statistics and financial statements should be reliable and subject to external scrutiny and
facilitate accountability.
83. It is essential for fiscal transparency that fiscal data are reliable and subject to effective external scrutiny. In
particular, the three principles under this dimension specify that:
•

the fiscal information is prepared and disseminated in accordance with internationally accepted standards such as the GFSM 2014 and data dissemination standards for fiscal statistics, and IPSAS for financial
statements (1.4.1);

•

financial statements are subject to a published audit by an independent supreme audit institution, which
validates their reliability (1.4.2); and

•

information provided in fiscal reports at all stages of the budget cycle are comparable, and any differences
in the data presented are clearly explained (1.4.3).

Table 2.5 provides a list of relevant standards, norms, and guidance material related to dimension 1.4 of the
Code.
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Table 2.5. Relevant Standards, Norms, and Guidance Material
Standards/Guidance
Material
IMF’s Data Dissemination
Standards

Brief Description
These standards are designed to enhance the dissemination of economic and financial data. They are
the General Data Dissemination System (GDDS); the Special Data Dissemination Standard (SDDS); the
SDDS Plus; and the enhanced GDDS (e-GDDS).
https://www.imf.org/en/About/Factsheets/Sheets/2016/07/27/15/45/Standards-for-DataDissemination
Guides on the use of e-GDDS, SDDS, and SDDS Plus can be found at: http://dsbb.imf.org/Pages/
GDDS/Home.aspx
http://dsbb.imf.org/Pages/SDDS/Home.aspx
http://dsbb.imf.org/Pages/SDDS/Home.aspx?sp=y

IMF’s Data Quality Assessment Framework (Generic
and for Government Finance
Statistics)

Provides a flexible structure for the qualitative assessment of data, including financial statistics, linked
to the system of Reports on Standards and Codes (ROSC).

International Standards of
Supreme Audit Institutions
(ISSAI)

These professional standards and best practice guidelines for public sector auditors have been
endorsed by the International Organization of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI).

http://dsbb.imf.org/pages/dqrs/dqaf.aspx

Auditors using the ISSAI as auditing standards may refer to them in one of two principal ways: (i) audit
reports may state that the audit was conducted in accordance with a national standard based on
or consistent with the Fundamental Auditing Principles (ISSAIs 100-999) of the ISSAI; and (ii) audit
reports may state that the audit was conducted in accordance with the ISSAI.
http://www.intosai.org/about-us/issai.html

PEFA

Includes two related indicators: PI-28.1 on the coverage and comparability of reports; and PI-30.4 on
Supreme Audit Institution’s independence. (PEFA, 2016b)
www.PEFA.org.

The Mexico Declaration on
SAI Independence

This declaration was approved at the XIXth Congress of INTOSAI, Mexico 2007. It defines eight core
principles on SAI independence.
http://www.intosai.org/issai-executive-summaries/view/article/issai-10-the-mexico-declaration-onsai-independence.html

PRINCIPLE 1.4.1. Statistical Integrity
Fiscal statistics are compiled and disseminated in accordance with international standards.
84. Confidence in fiscal statistics depends on the standards followed for their dissemination, and the independence and professionalism of the agency producing the statistics. In advanced economies, the statistical
agencies are normally responsible for the compilation of official fiscal statistics, based on data provided by
government bodies. In most other countries, the ministry of finance is responsible for producing fiscal statistics, with the statistical agency taking a secondary role.60 Fiscal statistics are often at the center of political
debate, which exposes them to political and other external interference. Users of such data therefore require
assurances on two main elements: (i) the integrity of the statistical agency, and the ethical standards of its
staff; and (ii) the statistical policies and practices.

60

Such as the preparation of data to include in the IMF’s Government Finance Statistics Yearbook.
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85. Institutional integrity requires that statistics be produced on an impartial basis and be guided by professional principles and standards. To achieve these objectives, the agency compiling fiscal statistics should
adhere to the internationally accepted practices regarding (i) professional independence and ethical behavior
of the statistics producing agency; and (ii) transparency in selection, compilation, and dissemination of fiscal
data (Box 2.27).



Box 2.27. Professional Practices of Fiscal Statistics Producing Agency

The terms and conditions under which the statistics are produced should be in accordance with professional independence. Such an outcome is usually obtained when a law or code supports the independence of the statistics-producing agency; prohibits interference from
other government agencies in the compilation and/or dissemination of statistical information; and ensures that the selection, tenure,
and reporting arrangements of the agency’s head are supportive of professional independence (e.g., his/her tenure does not usually
coincide with that of the government and his/her appointment and removal follow transparent processes that are clearly defined in a
law or code).
Professionalism should be actively promoted and supported within the agency. Recruitment and promotion procedures should be based
on relevant aptitudes and skills; provision of specific courses and on-the-job training in statistical methodology and compilation; processes and activities in the workplace that promote a culture of professionalism (e.g., professional accreditation of staff, peer review of
statistical work); and the publication of relevant research.
The policies and practices of the fiscal data-producing agency and its employees should be guided by ethical standards. Staff guidelines
should outline the correct behavior when the agency or its staff members are confronted with potential ethical challenges, such as conflicts of interest. They should also provide guidelines that guard against the misuse or misrepresentation of statistics and should build a
strong culture of ethical standards within the statistical profession that discourages political interference.
The selection of data sources and statistical techniques as well as decisions about dissemination should be informed solely by statistical
considerations. For example, the choice of source data (e.g., from surveys and administrative records) should be based on clearly defined
measurement objectives and data requirements.
There should be a formal policy to deal with cases of data misinterpretation or the misuse of statistics. The data-producing agency should
actively monitor media coverage of its data and comment publicly and in a timely manner on erroneous interpretations or misuse of the
statistics in the media and other forums.
Fiscal statistics compilation and dissemination practices should be transparent. This transparency requires that (i) the terms and conditions
under which statistics are collected, processed, and disseminated be available to the public, in the form of relevant agency publications
and/or websites, or official speeches by the head of the agency; (ii) access to statistics by cabinet members or government agencies prior
to their official release be publicly identified; and (iii) information be provided on all the statistical products of the government, whether
these are published by the statistical agency itself or another ministry or agency of the government.
Source: IMF staff.

LEVELS OF PRACTICE UNDER PRINCIPLE 1.4.1
BASIC PRACTICE: Fiscal statistics are disseminated in accordance with international standards.
86. Basic practice requires the adherence to international data dissemination standards in the disclosure of
fiscal statistics. As part of its mandate to conduct global financial surveillance, the IMF has established standards for the dissemination of data: the Special Data Dissemination Standard (SDDS) was adopted in 1996 and
the General Data Dissemination System (GDDS) in 1997; subsequently the SDDS Plus was established in 2013.61

61

For more information, including on the recommendations of the different dissemination standards, see http://dsbb.imf.org/.
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These standards guide the provision of data to the public, and the adherence to them is expected to enhance
the availability of timely and comprehensive statistics and therefore contribute to the pursuit of sound macroeconomic policies. The SDDS is also expected to contribute to the improved functioning of financial markets.
Specifically, in relation to fiscal data, the standards require the disclosure of
•

a statement of operations providing the main components of revenue, expenditure, and financing, consistent with the GFSM framework, as discussed in Principle 1.1.3;

•

a breakdown of government gross debt, by maturity, residency of counterparty, instrument, and currency; and

•

extensive metadata on the above data, following the template defined in the IMF’s Data Quality Assessment Framework (DQAF).62

GOOD PRACTICE: Fiscal statistics are compiled by a specific government agency and disseminated in
accordance with international standards.
87. Good practice, in addition, requires that a specific government agency is assigned the responsibility to
compile and disseminate fiscal statistics (see Box 2.28 for Romania example). This practice provides some
operational independence for the compiler of fiscal statistics and encourages the introduction of policies conducive to statistical integrity and professional independence. It also provides for a more transparent delineation among the producers of source data, the statistical data compilers, and the potential users of such data.
Benefits of this delineation include a more independent analysis of the quality of upstream data and procedures and mitigation of the risk of political interference in the production of statistics.



Box 2.28. Romania: Dissemination of Fiscal Statistics  

The National Institute of Statistics (NIS) is a semiautonomous body that oversees the compilation of the Government Finance Statistics.
The production of fiscal statistics is undertaken under a protocol agreed between the NIS, the Ministry of Public Finance, the National
Bank of Romania, and the National Prognosis Commission.
The protocol regulates the cooperation arrangements among the key stakeholders who participate in the compilation of Government
Finance Statistics and compliance with international regulations and standards. The protocol also specifies the data input and reconciliation requirements for each stakeholder to comply with the ESA Transmission Programme and the European Commission Excessive Deficit
Procedure (EDP), for which the NIS acts as the reporting authority.
Sources: National Institute of Statistics, Romania; and http://www.insse.ro/cms/en.

ADVANCED PRACTICE: Fiscal statistics are compiled by a professionally independent body and disseminated
in accordance with international standards.
88. Advanced practice, in addition, requires the professional independence of the agency in charge of compiling and disseminating fiscal statistics (see Box 2.29 for Canada example). The criteria to ensure such independence are discussed in Box 2.27.

62

Five dimensions—assurances of integrity, methodological soundness, accuracy and reliability, serviceability, and accessibility—of
data quality and a set of prerequisites for data quality are at the center of the DQAF. The DQAF, which is used for comprehensive
assessments of countries' data quality, covers institutional environments, statistical processes, and characteristics of the statistical
products.
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Box 2.29. Canada: Ensuring Statistical Integrity

Statistics Canada is a professionally independent agency whose main responsibilities are regulated by the Statistics Act of 1985. The
agency provides statistical services for the whole of Canada and its provinces. Statistics Canada has two main objectives: (i) to provide
statistical information and analysis about Canada’s economic and social structure, and (ii) to promote sound statistical standards and
practices. It has legal and institutional frameworks that protects confidentiality and ensures the integrity statistical reporting. The agency
has gained the public trust by being objective and providing guidelines on the ethical conduct for its staff.
The compilation and dissemination of fiscal statistics by Statistics Canada follow the principles and standards set out in the GFSM 2014
and SDDS Plus. The advance release calendar published on the SDDS web page indicates the dates on which statistics on general government operations and debt will be published. Fiscal statistics are published in both English and French, Canada’s two official languages.
The information in the press release is provided to a small number of staff of the Department of Finance, the Office of the Privy Council,
and the Bank of Canada for preparation of ministerial briefings in the afternoon before official publication of fiscal statistics. Information
on major changes in practices and any rebasing of data is provided in discussion papers, meetings, on the Statistics Canada website,
and with the data release.
Source: Canadian authorities.

PRINCIPLE 1.4.2. External Audit
Annual financial statements are subject to a published audit by an independent supreme audit
institution, which validates their reliability.
89. An independent and published audit of the integrity of the financial information prepared by the government is one of the most important safeguards of fiscal transparency. It provides the legislature and
citizens with a written and publicly available annual audit report, prepared by an institution—the SAI—
independent of the executive. The SAI’s report should be widely disseminated both to the legislature and
to the public at minimal cost, or through the Internet at no cost, together with a summary of the auditor’s
main findings.
90. SAIs are national institutions responsible for auditing the government’s annual financial statements and
other fiscal reports. The legal mandate, reporting relationships, and effectiveness of SAIs vary widely among
countries, reflecting different institutional settings, political structures, and levels of economic and social
development (Shand, 2013; World Bank, 2001). Table 2.6 describes the three major models of SAI that are
found worldwide. Regardless of variations in their governance structure, the primary purpose of SAIs is to
oversee the regularity and prudence of the management of public funds and the quality and credibility of the
government’s reported financial data and make its assessment public.
91. An SAI should be given a clear legal mandate, independent of the audited entities, and be adequately
resourced to carry out its mandate. The Mexico Declaration on SAI Independence63 defines eight core principles on SAI independence, which, briefly stated, are (i) an appropriate constitutional or legal framework,
(ii) functional and professional independence, (iii) a broad mandate and full discretion to perform its duties,
(iv) unrestricted access to information, (v) rights and obligations to report on its work, (vi) freedom to decide
on the content and timing of audit reports and their dissemination, (vii) effective mechanisms for following
up on the SAI’s recommendations, and (viii) financial and administrative autonomy, and the availability of
appropriate human, material, and monetary resources.

63

Approved at the XIXth Congress of INTOSAI, Mexico 2007.
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Table 2.6. Three Major Models of Supreme Audit Institutions
Model

Main Characteristics

Countries

Judicial or
Napoleonic

The SAI, usually called the “court of accounts” or “chamber of accounts,” is
part of the judiciary and is independent from the legislature and the government. However, it assists the legislature and the government in regulating
public finances. More specifically, it assesses the compliance of revenue
collection and expenditure operations with laws and regulations. It audits
financial reports prepared by the government and its agencies and, in some
cases, reports of other public entities such as the legislature, state owned
enterprises, and local governments.

France, Italy, Spain, Portugal, Turkey,
most Francophone and Lusophone
African countries, and most Latin
American countries

Parliamentary
or Westminster

The SAI, usually the office of an auditor general, is an independent body that
reports to the legislature. It submits periodic reports on the financial statements and operations of government entities.

Most Commonwealth countries and
the United States

Board

The SAI comprises a board, the members of which take decisions on a collegial basis. Its reports and opinions result from the board’s deliberations and
are submitted to the legislature.

Germany, the Netherlands, Argentina, Indonesia, Japan, and Korea

Source: IMF staff.

92. The validation of the reliability of the annual financial statements requires that the SAI provide an unqualified opinion after a rigorous audit based on international auditing standards. An unqualified opinion is
given when the auditor is satisfied that the statements have been prepared using acceptable accounting standards and policies, that they comply with statutory requirements and regulations, that the view presented
by the financial statements is consistent with the auditor’s knowledge of the agency being audited, and that
there is adequate disclosure of all material matters relevant to the financial statements. If these standards are
not met, the auditor may give the audited entity a qualified or adverse opinion (Table 2.7). Transparency standards require that such opinions are made available to the public.
Table 2.7. The Four Audit Opinions on Financial Statements
Opinion

Interpretation

Unqualified Opinion

The financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with the accounting
standards.

Qualified Opinion

The auditor detected material, but not pervasive, misstatements, or obtained insufficient evidence on which to
base an opinion, and concluded that undetected misstatements could be material, but not pervasive.

Adverse Opinion

Misstatements are material and pervasive.

Disclaimer of Opinion

The auditor could not obtain sufficient evidence on which to base an opinion and concluded that undetected misstatements could be material and pervasive.

Source: IMF staff.

LEVELS OF PRACTICE UNDER PRINCIPLE 1.4.2
BASIC PRACTICE: An independent supreme audit institution publishes an audit report on the reliability of
the government’s annual financial statements.
93. As a basic practice, the SAI should be independent and publish an annual audit report indicating whether
the government’s financial statements comply with the related laws and regulations. This audit report
should state whether the resources appropriated by the government were used in the manner approved by
the legislature in the annual budget, any supplementary budgets, and related fiscal legislation. This so-called
compliance audit focuses on determining whether the budget was executed as approved by the legislature.
It provides an assessment of the accurate representation and compliance of government financial operations
in accordance with the regulatory and financial reporting framework. The scope of this audit could include,
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in addition to the audit of financial statements, various specific financial reports, such as reports on budget
execution, the implementation of programs, or specific categories of revenue or expenditure.
GOOD PRACTICE: An independent supreme audit institution publishes an audit report stating whether the
government’s annual financial statements present a true and fair view of its financial position and without a
disclaimer or adverse audit opinion.
94. Good practice, in addition, requires that the SAI’s opinion be prepared in accordance with national
auditing standards and that the government’s financial statements are free from significant misstatements. In this case, the SAI needs to conduct a financial audit to ascertain the reliability of the annual
financial statements and express an opinion, which, if prepared in accordance with the national auditing
standards, is a strong indication of the quality of the audit (see Table 2.7). The auditor must have performed
the investigations and collected the evidence required by the national auditing standards to prepare its
opinion and must not have detected significant issues that would alter the quality of the information provided by the government to the legislature and the public (see Box 2.30 for Uganda example). The audit
report should also identify any material gaps between the reporting standards and the statements prepared
by the government.



Box 2.30. Uganda: External Audit

The Office of the Auditor General (OAG) was established by the 1995 Constitution and the National Audit Act 2008 to provide independent assurance on the use of public resources. The law guarantees the independence of the OAG by ensuring that she/he is “under the
direction of no person or authority, and can only be removed from office by the President, following the recommendations of a specially
appointed tribunal, for misbehavior, infirmity, or incompetence.”
The OAG audits the annual accounts of all public entities (92 ministries and agencies, 102 statutory corporations and state-owned enterprises, and 307 local government entities). Its annual audit reports are presented to Parliament within six months of the end of the fiscal
year, as required by law. Audit reports are published simultaneously on the OAG’s website. Over the years, the proportion of unqualified
audit opinions of audited entities has been steadily rising, from less than 50 percent in 2011/2012 to 83 percent in 2015/2016.
Sources: Office of the Auditor General, Uganda; Uganda FTE (IMF, 2017e; http://www.imf.org/external/np/fad/trans/).

ADVANCED PRACTICE: An independent supreme audit institution publishes an audit report consistent with
international standards, which states whether the government’s annual financial statements present a true
and fair view of its financial position and without major qualifications.
95. Advanced practice requires that the SAI’s opinion be prepared in accordance with international auditing
standards64 and the government’s financial statements are free from major qualifications65 (see Box 2.31 for
New Zealand example). As discussed in Table 2.7, the auditor expresses a qualified opinion when there are
significant misstatements and/or doubts about the quality of data in government’s financial statements. This
requires collecting sufficient evidence to underpin the opinion. In addition, the auditor should have concluded
that the framework used by the government to produce the financial information prevents the occurrence of
significant errors or has the capacity to quickly detect and resolve them. The effectiveness of internal control,
internal audit, and the quality of the FMIS is, therefore, key factor considered by the auditor in preparing his/
her opinion.

64

International Standards for Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAI). See http://www.issai.org/.

65

For the purpose of this principle, major audit qualifications include any of the following: (i) disclaimer audit opinion; (ii) adverse audit opinion; and (iii) any other audit qualification, the financial impact of which has been estimated by the auditor to be of the order
of 1 percent of GDP or higher.
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Box 2.31. New Zealand: Audit Opinion of the Controller and Auditor-General

The Controller and Auditor-General (CAG) of New Zealand audits the financial statements of the government of New Zealand. The CAG, in
his/her audit opinion, indicates whether the government’s financial statements comply with generally accepted accounting practice (GAAP)
in New Zealand and fairly reflect the government’s financial position. For example, the CAG concluded that the financial statements for the
year ended June 30, 2017, comply with New Zealand GAAP and present a true and fair view of the government’s financial position.
Source: Controller and Auditor General, New Zealand.

PRINCIPLE 1.4.3. Comparability of Fiscal Data
Fiscal forecasts, budgets, and fiscal reports are presented on a comparable basis,
with any deviations explained.
96. Effective fiscal management and accountability require consistency and comparability of ex ante and ex post
fiscal information. This means that budget execution reports, fiscal statistics, and financial statements should
be prepared and presented on the same basis as fiscal forecasts and budgets. The comparability of forecast and
outturn data is especially important for those countries that have adopted numerical fiscal rules or targets,
as any methodological discrepancies between the two can result in the rules or targets being unintentionally
missed. The integrity and transparency of fiscal data are further enhanced if different types of fiscal reports are
presented on a comparable basis. Data sources that are fully reconciled also help reduce the risk of “indicator
shopping” by governments, which seek to focus attention on the figures that most flatter the current fiscal position (Irwin, 2012).
97. Still, in many countries, fiscal forecasts, budgets, statistics, and accounts are prepared on different bases.
Box 2.32 discusses the different approaches and standards used in the preparation of these various fiscal
documents. This divergence in the coverage, classification, and accounting bases of the various documents
partly reflects that they are often produced by different institutions, for different purposes and constituencies,
and are based on different standards. However, in all cases, it should be possible to reconcile information
presented in different documents through bridging tables that present the main adjustments needed to move
from one summary measure of fiscal performance to another.



Box 2.32. Major Sources of Difference among Fiscal Forecasts, Budgets, and Fiscal Reports

Institutional coverage of reports: Budgets typically cover those institutions specified as “budgetary” in the national constitution
or budget law. Statistical standards focus on all institutions considered to be engaged in nonmarket activity, a group that is typically
broader than just those entities included in the central government’s budget. Finally, accounting standards require the consolidation of
all entities regarded as “controlled” by government, which is often an even broader group, as it includes public corporations. Sometimes,
medium-term fiscal forecasts and ex post fiscal reports and statistics are provided for the general government (e.g., in EU member
countries).
Accounting basis of reports: Most countries have cash or obligation-based budgets, while financial statements and fiscal statistics are
increasingly being prepared on an accrual basis. These differences could lead to large discrepancies among various reports—for
example, arrears may be reported in accrual terms in debt management reports but ignored in cash accounting. This discrepancy can
also lead to underprovisioning for the full, long-term costs of government policy decisions.
Reporting standards and policies: Lack of clarity in reporting standards and policies could give rise to differential treatments of financial transactions and balances, including how the various fiscal reports will treat above- and below-the-line data for calculating headline
revenue, expenditure, and fiscal balance figures. Similarly, uncertainties around the nature of acquisition of some financial assets can
lead to differences in the treatment of bank recapitalizations, equity injections, and debt assumptions that in turn result in discrepancies
between financial accounts and fiscal statistics.
Treatment of balance sheet gains and losses: Only a few countries (e.g., Australia, Iceland, New Zealand, and the United Kingdom)
make explicit provision in budgets for depreciation, impairments, or other changes in the value of assets and liabilities. Countries that
have fully adopted GFSM 2014 or IPSAS should (and increasingly do) recognize valuation gains and losses in government assets and
liabilities in their final accounts and, under IPSAS, their reported fiscal balance.
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Supplementary budgets: The use of supplementary budgets that change appropriated amounts can be a source of confusion when
comparing fiscal outcomes with budgets. Most final accounts include a comparison of the budgeted amounts and the actuals, but, in
practice, the comparison is often made using data for the revised appropriation rather than the original appropriation. Ideally, data on
both original and revised appropriations should be provided in the final accounts for comparison purposes.
Source: IMF staff.

98. These differences/deviations among various fiscal documents may exist for valid reasons but should be explained
and reconciled. Full comparability of prospective and retrospective fiscal data within countries will only be achieved
when underlying national standards and systems used to generate the data are aligned or integrated. Until then,
there is a need to provide explanations and reconciliations among the different measures for a core set of fiscal
aggregates—namely, revenue, expenditure, the fiscal balance, and public debt. For example, if the government’s
fiscal rule is on a general government accrual basis, the budget documentation should include a bridging table mapping the national cash revenue, expenditure, and balance measures to the general government measures, detailing
adjustments to account for subnational governments, cash accrual adjustments, and any other differences.
99. Undertaking such reconciliations will require cooperation among various government agencies and an
agreement on a common basis of reporting. For example, in the European Union, ESA 2010 is the agreed
basis for reporting fiscal statistics. In other countries, national standards could provide for a common basis.
Importantly, this does not mean that all agencies need to adopt a common standard but simply that they
provide a reconciliation table to explain differences from the agreed basis of reporting. Generally, most differences can be identified/explained by a small number of high-level adjustments.

LEVELS OF PRACTICE UNDER PRINCIPLE 1.4.3
BASIC PRACTICE: At least one fiscal report is prepared on the same basis as the fiscal forecast/budget.
100. B
 asic practice requires that at least one of the fiscal reports should be directly comparable to the budget or fiscal forecast prepared by the government before the beginning of the fiscal year. The three reports are the budget execution
report, fiscal statistics, or the final accounts. This comparison should cover at a minimum the high-level fiscal aggregates
but should preferably be provided at detailed levels as well. The comparison is more meaningful if the ex post fiscal
reports also provide explanations for large variations between the budget/forecast and the outturns. However, many
low-income countries and emerging market economies prepare fiscal reports that are either not comparable to the budget or can be compared with the budget only for the main administrative headings (see Box 2.33).



Box 2.33. Comparison of Fiscal Reports with the Budget

Out of a set of 91 countries for which PEFA assessments are available, only 10 countries prepare budget execution reports that can be
directly compared with the budget, and 9 countries prepare reports that allow comparison with the budget but only with some aggregation. Forty-one countries publish reports that can be compared with the budget only for the main administrative headings, and 10
countries publish reports that cannot be compared with the budget even for the main administrative headings.

Figure 2.33.1. Comparability of Reports with Budget Estimates (Percentage of Total)
11.0%
30.3%

46.8%

Strong

Moderately Strong

11.9%

Moderately Weak

Weak

Source: PEFA Scores Data Set (2005–16).
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GOOD PRACTICE: Fiscal forecast/budget and outturn are comparable, and the outturn is reconciled with
either the fiscal statistics or the final accounts.
101. G
 ood practice, in addition, calls for a reconciliation between the budget outturn report and either the
financial accounts or fiscal statistics. This requires that the budget outturn reports—which are prepared
by the ministry of finance and are already directly comparable to the original budget—are reconciled with
either the financial accounts/statements prepared for publication and audit or the fiscal statistics prepared by
the statistician. These reconciliations should at a minimum be provided for the main revenue and expenditure aggregates, as well as the fiscal balance.
ADVANCED PRACTICE: Fiscal forecasts/budget and outturn are comparable, and the outturn is reconciled
with both fiscal statistics and final accounts.
102. A
 dvanced practice requires that the budget outturn report is reconciled with all the other fiscal reports.
A desire to promote greater transparency and accountability has prompted some countries to fully align
the reporting standards across budgets, accounts, and statistics. To provide a consistent fiscal picture at all
stages of the budget process, these countries have moved to harmonize or align the reporting basis across
different fiscal documents (see Box 2.34 for the examples of Australia and New Zealand).

2.34. 	Australia and New Zealand: Aligning the Reporting Standards across Budgets, Statistics,
	Box
and Accounts
One of Australia’s main ex post accountability documents is the Final Budget Outcome, which is published within three months of the
end of the financial year. This document is prepared on the same basis as the budget and the midyear update and provides a direct
comparison of the outcome to the budgeted amounts, both for the flows (revenues, expenditures, and balances) and for the stocks (net
debt and net financial worth), with all major deviations explained. It also provides a direct comparison with the financial statements of
the general government sector, as well as the nonfinancial and financial public corporation sectors. All fiscal information is based on
common reporting standards, largely in line with GFSM 2001.
New Zealand produces its audited annual report three months after the end of the financial year. This report provides a detailed
comparison of budgeted amounts and outturns, as well as brief analysis of the major variations, and a description of the progress the
government has made in implementing its fiscal strategy, as laid out in the (prebudget) fiscal strategy report. Budgets and forecasts are
prepared on the same accounting basis (mainly IPSAS) as accounts. Forecasts also comply with New Zealand’s accounting standard that,
among other things, requires the forecasts be prepared using assumptions that are “reasonable and supportable,” internally consistent,
and published.
Sources: Australian and New Zealand authorities.
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Budgets and their underlying fiscal forecasts should provide a clear statement of the government’s
budgetary objectives and policy intentions, and comprehensive, timely, and credible projections of the
evolution of the public finances.
103. Fiscal forecasts provide information about the projected development of the government’s finances, while
the budget seeks legislative authorization for its expenditure plans for the coming year. In most countries,
the government’s budget is the single-most important fiscal document, receiving high levels of public and
parliamentary attention. The budget sets out the government’s fiscal objectives and policies, demonstrates
how those policies will impact the public finances, and seeks the legislature’s approval for the proposed levels
of expenditure, revenue, and debt. It is therefore important that fiscal forecasts and budgets are based on credible projections of macroeconomic developments, provide comprehensive information on the government’s
fiscal objectives and budgetary plans, facilitate policy analysis and accountability, and that the budget calendar gives the legislature sufficient time to scrutinize and approve the plans before the budget year begins.
104. The budget documentation should provide a comprehensive, timely, and credible overview of the government’s plans for raising and spending public resources. It should include
•

a statement of the government’s fiscal strategy, containing clear fiscal policy objectives against which
fiscal performance can be assessed;

•

a medium-term fiscal framework (MTFF), which incorporates projections of key macroeconomic and
fiscal indicators for two to four years beyond the budget year;

•

a medium-term budget framework (MTBF), which includes projections of expenditure by sector, ministry, or agency for two to four years beyond the budget year in line with the government’s strategic
priorities;

•

a summary of the government’s national and sectoral policy priorities as outlined in a national development strategy, or sector-specific plans;

•

annual budget estimates, which provide a detailed breakdown of expenditure for each ministry or agency
for the coming budget year;

•

draft budget legislation to give legal effect to the proposed revenue measures and expenditure appropriations, as well as any other measures to authorize financing of the budget, such as amendments to debt
ceilings where applicable; and

•

budget annexes or supplementary statements or documents, which can include a range of other relevant
information such as the government’s debt management strategy, a fiscal risk statement, long-term fiscal
projections, estimates of the impact of new policy measures on the public finances, a statement of tax expenditures, and the financial operations of social security funds and other extrabudgetary entities.

105. Fiscal forecasting and budgeting (under Pillar II of the Code) covers four dimensions:
2.1. The comprehensiveness of the information disclosed by the government on macroeconomic, fiscal, and
budgetary developments.
2.2. The orderliness of the budget preparation and approval process.
53
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2.3. The policy orientation of budget documentation.
2.4. The credibility of the economic and fiscal forecasts and budgets prepared by the government.

DIMENSION 2.1. COMPREHENSIVENESS
Fiscal forecasts and budgets should provide a comprehensive overview of fiscal prospects.
106. To ensure sound fiscal policymaking and accountability, governments, legislators, citizens, and markets need to have a comprehensive understanding of macroeconomic and fiscal prospects, and the impact of changes in government policies on the public finances. Accordingly, the four principles under
this dimension of the Code focus on several key aspects of comprehensiveness of fiscal forecasts and
budgets:
•

Institutional coverage. The extent to which the forecasts and budgets include all the entities of government, and thus present a full picture of government fiscal operations (2.1.1).

•

Flow coverage. The extent to which the budget documentation includes all fiscal flows, including government tax revenue, nontax revenue, borrowing, and expenditure (2.1.1).

•

Funding source, including external financing through grants or loans (2.1.1).

•

Accurate assessment of macroeconomic conditions and forecasts, when the government sets the stance
of fiscal policy (2.1.2).

•

Multi-annual forecasting horizon with projections that cover a three- to four-year period (2.1.3).

•

Disclosure of obligations under major investment projects for which financing may be disbursed over
several years (2.1.4).

Table 3.1 provides a list of relevant standards, norms, and guidance material related to dimension 2.1 of the
Code.
Table 3.1. Relevant Standards, Norms, and Guidance Material
Standards/Guidance Material

Brief Description

OECD Best Practices for Budget
Transparency

These guidelines recommend that the budget be comprehensive, encompassing all government
revenue and expenditure, so that the necessary trade-offs among varying policy options can be
assessed. They also recommend that expenditures be presented in gross terms. These guidelines
state that “The budget is the government’s key policy document. It should be comprehensive,
encompassing all government revenue and expenditure, so that the necessary trade-offs between
different policy options can be assessed.” It also states that “expenditures should be presented in
gross terms.…”See OECD (2002). http://www.oecd.org/gov/budgeting/best-practices-budgettransparency.htm

PEFA

Includes four related indicators: (i) PI-5 on budget documentation; (ii) PI-6 on central government
operations outside financial reports; (iii) PI-11 on public investment management; and (iv) PI-24 on
the procurement process. See PEFA (2016b). www.PEFA.org.

Public Investment Management
Assessment (PIMA)

PIMA is a diagnostic tool, developed by the IMF in 2015, revised in 2018, that assesses the public investment cycle, including planning, allocation, and implementation phases. See (IMF, 2015b). http://
www.imf.org/external/np/fad/publicinvestment/

World Bank Country Procurement Assessment Report (CPAR)

The CPAR is a procurement system assessment tool, launched in the 1990s. While the tool has been
replaced by other tools (including MAPS), many CPARs are published on the World Bank website.
http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/EXTERNAL/PROJECTS/PROCUREMENT/0,,contentMDK:
20108359~me nuPK:84285~pagePK:84269~piPK:60001558~theSitePK:84266,00.html
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Table 3.1. (Continued)
Standards/Guidance Material

Brief Description

OECD Methodology for Assessing
Procurement Systems (MAPS2)

The OECD’s Development Assistance Committee, in cooperation with the World Bank and other
partners, is revising its MAPS tool, launched in 2010. The tool is intended to catalyze and accelerate
the development of modern, efficient, sustainable, and more inclusive public procurement systems
that reflect national development objectives. See OECD (2010a). https://www.oecd.org/governance/
ethics/Methodology-assessing-procurement-MAPS-Report-February-2010.pdf.

International Budget Partnership, Open Budget Survey

Conducted biannually by the IBP, the Open Budget Survey measures a wide range of budget transparency issues to calculate a summary national score. http://internationalbudget.org/what-we-do/
open-budget-survey/

PRINCIPLE 2.1.1.

Budget Unity

Revenues, expenditures, and financing of all central government entities are presented on a
gross basis in budget documentation and authorized by the legislature.
107. The integrity of the budget process requires that all fiscal activity undertaken by the central government
be included in the budget and approved by the legislature.66
•

The annual budget should ideally cover all central government entities67 whose activities are primarily
financed through compulsory revenues, and all forms of public expenditure and revenues (in the form of
taxes, fees, charges, fines, or contributions).

•

The information (on revenue, expenditure, and financing) presented in the budget should be recorded on
a gross basis,68 which is important to ensure that decision makers have a complete picture of the scale and
extent of each activity.

LEVELS OF PRACTICE FOR PRINCIPLE 2.1.1
BASIC PRACTICE: Budget documentation incorporates all gross revenues, expenditures, and financing by
budgetary central government ministries and agencies.
108. Basic budget documentation should cover all gross revenues, expenditures, and financing of all budgetary
central government ministries and agencies. At the basic level, it is expected that the budget documentation should reflect all central government activities financed through budgetary appropriations, but not the
activities of entities that are outside the budget—namely, extrabudgetary funds (EBFs). All tax and nontax
revenues, grants (both domestic and foreign), budgetary expenditures including donor-funded budgetary
activities, and financing should be presented in gross terms.

66

It is important for efficient resource management that all resource allocation decisions be taken together, as part of a single budget
process. A fragmented budget not only prevents a comprehensive picture of fiscal operations but could also lead to suboptimal allocation and utilization of scarce public resources.

67

The central government comprises budgetary central government entities (e.g., ministries, departments, or agencies) and extrabudgetary funds (EBFs) performing central government functions (e.g., social security funds or road funds). For definitions, see Chapter 2.

68

“Gross basis” means that fiscal data are presented without any deductions or offsets. For example, a government agency responsible
for delivering a public service (e.g., the issuance of passports) incurs costs related to salaries and purchases of goods and services but
may also receive fees from citizens for providing this service (e.g., a standard charge for each passport). When the agency prepares
its budget forecasts and/or financial reports, these fees should be disclosed separately from the costs of the human resources and
purchases of goods and services incurred by the agency in providing the service.
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109. A complete picture of the central government requires inclusion of all fiscal operations irrespective of
whether they are financed domestically or externally. Particularly in low-income developing countries, external loans and grants could be a significant source of fiscal financing. The inclusion of the inflows from these
sources, along with the corresponding expenditure they finance, is essential for presenting the overall picture
of government finances. Failure to do so risks introducing a statistical discrepancy between flows and stocks
because a loan would increase the stock of debt without the disbursement being recorded as a flow in the
budget that gave rise to that debt.
110. Tax revenues should not be netted off against payments due from ministries or agencies to their suppliers.
Tax revenues should also not be retained by, diverted, or hypothecated to a specific ministry or agency without being presented in the budget and authorized through the appropriation process.
111. Information on nontax revenue should be included in the budget documentation irrespective of whether
the collecting government agency is entitled to retain these revenues, or is required to transfer them to
the general pool of fungible government revenue. It is not uncommon for some government agencies to
be allowed to retain and use nontax revenue from fees and charges directly for expenditure (Potter, 2013).69
Such arrangements, however, should be based on a clear set of principles/criteria for the retention of nontax
revenues (see Box 3.1). The respective agencies’ revenues and associated expenditures should be recorded and
reported in gross terms so that the full extent of government activity can be properly established.



Box 3.1.

Principles/Criteria for Retention of Revenues by Ministries/Agencies

It is important to specify a set of principles regarding the retention of revenues by individual ministries or agencies that distinguish
among the following:
(i)

Operating revenues from the sale of goods and services. These revenues should not be retained unless there is strong justification and/or a requirement under a specific statute to maximize the respective agencies’ commercial collections. If at all required,
such retained revenues should be counted as negative expenditure in the budgets of the respective ministries/agencies to encourage them to maximize their commercial collections. This means that ministries and agencies can retain and spend any overcollection during the year without exceeding their gross appropriation.

(ii)

Capital receipts from the sale of assets. All capital receipts should be returned to the ministry of finance and allocated through
the budget process. Individual ministries/agencies should not make isolated decisions about the structure of the government balance sheet.

(iii) Fees and charges collected from the direct beneficiaries of government services. Fees and charges should be set at the level
required to recover the costs of providing the corresponding service as reflected in the ministry’s budget allocation. Any collections
above budgeted amounts should be returned to the finance ministry to prevent ministries from becoming “tax farms.”
Source: IMF (2012b).

GOOD PRACTICE: Budget documentation incorporates all gross revenues, expenditures, and financing by
central government ministries, agencies, and extrabudgetary funds.
112. Good practice requires that the budget documents provide information on the fiscal activities of the whole
of the central government, including EBFs and any other extrabudgetary government activities (including
externally or donor-funded extrabudgetary government activities). Bringing information on EBFs and extrabudgetary government activities into the budget documents ensures that legislators and the public have a
more complete picture of the fiscal operations of the whole of central government.
69

For example, hospital fees and charges that are used by the health administration without first being transferred to the general fund
of government. User charges are increasingly being used in OECD countries as part of the control and incentive mechanisms for
managers of agencies.
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113. Including EBFs in the budget documentation does not necessarily require their detailed budgets to be
subject to legislative approval. Depending on the legal framework in place, incorporating EBFs in the budget
documentation could involve presenting information on their revenues and expenditures for the information
of the legislature, rather than including the expenditure of these entities in the appropriation bill for approval
by the legislature (Allen and Radev, 2010). Nevertheless, prudent fiscal management requires that, even if
legislative approval of EBFs’ budgets is not prescribed, adequate arrangements are in place to review and
approve EBF budgets to ensure their consistency with and consolidation into the government fiscal framework. This can be done by requiring that the budgets of EBFs be subject to final review and approval by the
ministry of finance. Ideally, for the purposes of including the revenue and expenditure details of EBFs in the
budget documentation, common requirements should be established for the classification of expenditure and
revenue, accounting and reporting, internal control, and internal and external audit (Allen and Radev, 2010).
Box 3.2 presents the example of Brazil.



Box 3.2.

Brazil: Federal Government Budget Documentation

The budget documentation of the central government presents gross revenue, expenditure, and financing for the central government,
budgetary funds, and social security. The Annual Budget Law (LOA) includes the operations of central government, and no expenditure
can be made without an explicit budgetary appropriation. Budgetary funds are created by law and are funded by earmarked revenue.
Nevertheless, they are included in the LOA and are submitted to the common rules regarding budget preparation and execution. The
administrative budget1 of the Central Bank is also presented in the LOA. Nevertheless, as the budget does not include extensive information related to the Length-of-Service Guarantee Fund (Fundo de Garantia por Tempo de Serviço—FGTS), a large extrabudgetary fund
submitted to specific governance arrangements,2 the practice related to budget unity is not meeting the advanced standard.3
Source: IMF (2017a).
1

This includes wages, recurrent expenditures, and investment but not the operations related to monetary policy.

2

FGTS is intended to provide account-based cash benefits to employees on termination of employment for any reason, including retirement. Nearly all employees
in the private sector are entitled to FGTS benefits. FGTS is funded entirely by employers.

3

The FGTS was also used to finance government programs without budget authorization.

ADVANCED PRACTICE: Budget documentation incorporates all gross revenues, expenditures, and financing
by central government ministries, agencies, extrabudgetary funds, and social security funds.
114. The most comprehensive budgets cover all domestically and externally funded transactions of central government, including those of social security funds. The standard for advanced practice, therefore, requires
that the budget covers all revenues, expenditures, and financing operations of all central government entities,
including those of extrabudgetary funds, and also those of social security funds (see Box 3.3 for Portugal
example).
115. The inclusion of social security funds70 ensures a more complete presentation of central government fiscal
operations. Social security funds are typically EBFs but are of a somewhat special character. They hold assets
and liabilities separately and engage in financial transactions on their own account, including, sometimes,
significant financial investment activity. Unlike other EBFs, social security funds typically represent a larger
portion of total government expenditure in developed countries than in developing countries.71 They typically
also have a residual claim on financing by the treasury in the event of a funding shortfall, implicitly, if not
explicitly, constituting a potential contingent liability on the state. The compulsory nature of social security
funds and the long-term obligations they place on public resources call for their inclusion in the budget documents. It could, however, be challenging politically to integrate fully into the budget, social security funds that
70

These funds typically cover healthcare benefits, retirement pensions, and other social welfare benefits (e.g., for disabilities and
unemployment).

71

Allen and Radev (2010).
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are not directly managed by government entities.72 In such cases, their budgets ideally should be annexed to
the central government’s budget and presented to the legislature at the same time.73



Box 3.3.

Portugal: Coverage of Budget Documentation

Portugal’s annual budget documentation incorporates all general government revenue, expenditure, and financing activities. These
include all Integrated Services, Autonomous Funds and Agencies, and social security, as well as summaries of regional and local government sectors. Beginning in 2012, in line with the Budget Framework Law, which required the government to include all general
government entities within the state budget, all public corporations that are classified within the general government perimeter are also
included within the budget documentation.
The budget presents all expenditures and revenues on a gross basis, an important feature given the importance of own source revenues
in Portugal. The budget tables provide a clear distinction between expenditures funded through general revenues and those funded
through own source revenues. Own source revenues of public administration bodies in Portugal—including those of reclassified public
corporations—accounted for 17 percent of expenditures, and social security accounted for an additional 18 percent of expenditures in
2014. In line with EU requirements, the budget documentation that accompanies the annual estimates includes forecasts of the general
government fiscal aggregates.
Source: IMF (2014c).

PRINCIPLE 2.1.2. Macroeconomic Forecasts
The budget projections are based on comprehensive macroeconomic forecasts, which are
disclosed and explained.
116. Macroeconomic forecasts are key to the budget forecasts, as they determine how the fiscal situation will
evolve over both the coming year and the medium term. Accurate and realistic forecasts for key macroeconomic variables increase the chances that the revenue and expenditure projections will be reliable, particularly in the case of nominal GDP and inflation that feed directly into fiscal forecasts. Furthermore, an accurate
assessment of macroeconomic conditions and forecasts is necessary to inform decisions when the government
sets the stance of fiscal policy. This principle is also related to Principle 3.1.1, which requires governments
to analyze how the fiscal outcome would differ as a result of changes in fiscally relevant macroeconomic
variables.
117. Macroeconomic forecasts include the projected values of key macroeconomic variables that underpin the
fiscal projections. Macroeconomic forecasts should cover, at a minimum, indicators of real and nominal GDP,
and their components—inflation, wages, the unemployment rate, and the balance of payments—should extend over the medium term (three to five years), and be applied uniformly by all users. The explanation of
these forecasts, including a description of drivers, key relationships, and deviations from past trends, should
be presented, ideally at a relatively disaggregated level. For example, the explanation of the GDP forecast
could be built up from its components, such as consumption, investment, government expenditure, exports
and imports on the expenditure side, and, on the production side, the outputs of the agriculture, mining, manufacturing, construction, extractive industries, and service sectors.74
72

For example, in some countries (notably, in some EU member countries), management of these funds involves also employers and
trade unions.

73

This is the common practice in EU countries following Eurostat rules and in most OECD countries.

74

GDP(E) refers to the approach of measuring GDP based on final use (expenditure) minus imports, while GDP(P) refers to the approach of measuring GDP based on the sum of gross value added of all resident producer units plus net taxes on products. A third
measure of GDP, called GDP(I), aggregates wages and salaries, company profits, and other sources of primary income.
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118. Good macroeconomic forecasts should be as follows:
•

Internally consistent, using the same base assumptions—such as the exchange rate, world commodity
prices, interest rates, and external economic growth—that are clearly laid out and discussed by the government in the budget documents.

•

Accurate, using forecasts that incorporate all available information, such as the latest national accounts
statistics, and forward-looking indicators, such as surveys of households, business and consumer confidence, and investment intentions. This information should be integrated using an internally consistent
macroeconomic framework, based on well-understood economic relationships, often estimated through
econometric techniques. Ex ante, the accuracy of forecasts can only be assessed through examination of
the underlying assumptions and the explanations accompanying forecasts, while ex post, their accuracy
can be assessed objectively by comparing forecasts with actual reported data. Figure 3.1 shows an example of an analysis of forecast accuracy for the EU countries.

Figure 3.1. Absolute Error Ex Post Real GDP Forecast Accuracy in EU for Budget Year (Average 2000–15) (Percentage
of GDP)
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Source: IMF staff estimates.
Note: The volatility adjustment is the average absolute forecast error divided by the standard deviation of growth over the period.

•

Unbiased, without demonstrating any systematic tendency toward unrealism. It is a well-documented
phenomenon in both advanced and developing countries that political pressure—both explicit and
implicit—tend to result in overly optimistic macroeconomic and revenue projections,75 thus providing
the government with apparently greater fiscal space for its spending policies (Frankel, 2011). If forecasts
are consistently higher than the outturns, this is an indication of forecast bias, though judgment needs
to be applied in this assessment, as large, sustained, and unanticipated macroeconomic shocks, such as
the global financial crisis of 2008, can result in forecasts that may appear biased ex post. Figure 3.2 shows
the optimistic bias in the forecasts in EU countries, where any bias must be reported under the Stability
Programs.76

75

The composition of growth—that is, whether domestic demand or export driven—is an important factor in forecasting revenue
growth.

76

Stability Programs are prepared annually by euro area member countries, laying out their fiscal plans for the next three years to
assess whether they are on track to meet their medium-term budgetary objectives. These programs typically set out yearly targets to
achieve the medium-term budgetary objectives, underlying economic assumptions, policy measures, budget outturns and outlook,
and explanations of why targets are not being met, if applicable.
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Figure 3.2. Optimism Bias Ex Post Real GDP Forecast Accuracy in EU Budget Year (Average 2000–15) (Percentage of GDP)
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LEVELS OF PRACTICE FOR PRINCIPLE 2.1.2
BASIC PRACTICE: The budget documentation includes forecasts of key macroeconomic variables.
119. A basic macroeconomic forecast should include projections of the most important determinants of fiscal
projections. These determinants include forecasts of real GDP growth, inflation, the unemployment rate,
employment growth, exchange rates, interest rates, and the current account balance. For example, the budget
documentation should include a table that provides, for each of these variables, the latest outturn data, the
forecast or estimate for the current year, the forecast for the budget year, and, ideally, forecasts for two or
three additional years. A basic macroeconomic forecast should be developed within a simple framework that
ensures consistency among the key macro variables. Box 3.4 presents the example of Brazil. In many countries,
it would be relevant to include assumptions on donor financing commitments, which may constitute a large
source of revenue and could significantly alter forecasts.



Box 3.4.

Brazil: Macroeconomic Forecasts in the Budget

Brazil produces three-year forecasts for key macroeconomic indicators, which are presented in several budget documents and budget
execution reports, but explanations of the forecasts are limited. The budget guidelines and the draft annual budget include, at a minimum, forecasts of real GDP growth, inflation, the real dollar exchange rate, and short-term interest rates, covering the budget year
and between one and three forward years. However, the scope of the forecasts presented can vary significantly across documents. The
budget guidelines also include monthly projections of imports, wages, price indexes, and oil prices for the budget year. Only a short
explanation of the macroeconomic outlook is provided to support these forecasts. Forward-year forecasts are indicative and rely on
extrapolation methods rather than on detailed analysis. There is only a very brief mention of the expected impact of global economic
developments on the Brazilian economy.
Source: (IMF, 2017a).
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GOOD PRACTICE: The budget documentation includes forecasts of key macroeconomic variables and their
underlying assumptions.
120. To be considered good practice, in addition to the table of key macroeconomic variables, the budget documentation should discuss key assumptions that underlie the forecasts. These assumptions could include
developments in the world economy and expected changes in exchange rates, interest rates, and commodity
prices. Where there have been large changes in the underlying assumptions compared to the previous year,
these should be justified. Providing information and explanations of such assumptions increases the external
understanding of the forecast and its credibility. It is also a useful source of self-discipline for the forecaster,
to assess whether the underlying assumptions are reasonable. One useful approach to reinforce the validity
of the forecasts and their underlying assumptions is to provide a comparison with those produced by other
sources such as the IMF or investment banks, and an explanation of any material differences.
ADVANCED PRACTICE: The budget documentation includes forecasts and explanations of key
macroeconomic forecasts and their components, as well as their underlying assumptions.
121. The budget documentation should provide a full explanation of the forecasts, analyzing the drivers of each
component, key relationships, and reasons for any deviation between the observed trend of these variables
and their projected path. The assessment should cover both the domestic and international economic outlook
and provide details on the most important sectors, such as the mining sector for a major mineral producer and
the investment sector for a country experiencing a surge or decline in construction activity. The budget documentation should include analysis of the key economic relationships and place the forecasts in a historical
context. An example from Australia is shown in Box 3.5.



Box 3.5.

Australia: Assumptions about Business Investment

Australia is typical of advanced practice in publishing key assumptions underlying its economic outlook. The following example from
Australia shows an analysis of the changing shares of business investment in GDP (Figure 3.5.1).
Business investment is forecast to fall in the near term, driven by further declines in mining investment as large resource projects are completed. Mining investment has fallen for the past three financial years. In doing so, it has detracted by more than 1
percentage point annually, on average, from real GDP growth over this period. With much of this adjustment now complete, the
impact on the broader economy from falling investment in the mining sector is expected to wane in 2017–19. Figure 3.5.1 shows
the significant movements in mining and non-mining business investment as a share of GDP.

Figure 3.5.1. Australia: Mining and Non-Mining Business as a Share of GDP
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PRINCIPLE 2.1.3. Medium-Term Budget Framework
Budget documentation includes outturns and projections of revenues, expenditures, and
financing over the medium term on the same basis as the annual budget.
122. While the legislature approves the budget on an annual basis, an understanding of developments in revenues, expenditures, and financing beyond this relatively short time horizon is important. Budget decisions
made today generally have consequences for several years to come, and events expected to occur in two or
three years may call for action today. This realization has prompted many countries to introduce an MTBF
(Brumby and Hemming, 2013; Harris and others, 2013). The amount of detail about spending provided in the
MTBF determines whether a country achieves a basic, good, or advanced level of practice under this principle.
123. MTBFs strengthen multiyear fiscal discipline and allow governments to take account of both the short- and
medium-term fiscal impact of new policies. They accomplish this by combating the tendency for the expenditure
level to rise incrementally over time. MTBFs typically constitute part of a wider set of frameworks for medium-term
fiscal policy planning (see Box 3.6). An MTBF can help improve fiscal discipline in at least three ways:



•

by ensuring that policymakers, the legislature, and citizens are aware of the full multiyear fiscal impact of
new policies before they are adopted;

•

by providing the government an early warning about the sustainability of existing policies and encouraging it to take corrective action in advance where necessary; and

•

by establishing binding or indicative multiyear expenditure limits that are sustainable, while including
room for expenditure in subsequent budgets.77 This approach helps ensure fiscal discipline, credible policies, and predictable funding while allowing flexibility at very detailed levels.

Box 3.6.

Medium-Term Budget Framework Terms and Concepts

Medium-term fiscal framework (MTFF)—standing requirements to commit to, report against, and be held accountable for medium-term aggregate fiscal objectives, such as debt limits, surplus targets or deficit ceilings, and broad expenditure limits. Projections of
expenditure, revenue, financing are presented at aggregate levels.

Medium-term budget framework (MTBF)—procedures for making multiyear forecasts of revenue and expenditure and to set numerical expenditure limits beyond the annual budget horizon. Expenditure projections are more disaggregated than in the MTFF and, in
some countries, follow the same classification as the annual budget.
Binding framework—a framework that holds the government accountable for the ceilings on expenditure that are set both for the
budget year and the out-years of the MTBF. “Binding” may imply a limit on spending set in a legal instrument or, more likely, a political
commitment by the government. Accountability means that the government should be required to take action if the previously set
expenditure ceiling has been, or is expected to be, exceeded.
Indicative framework—a framework in which the limits on expenditure in the budget year and the out-years of the MTBF are not binding on the government and may be changed if economic circumstances change or new spending initiatives are adopted.
Fixed framework—a framework in which the medium-term expenditure limits are set but are not subsequently revised.
Rolling framework—a framework where outer years are revised and an additional year is added.
Source: IMF staff.

124. A well-designed MTBF can alert government to adverse developments related to ongoing policies, allowing it to initiate adjustments well in advance, or to sequence policy priorities. For example, medium-term
77

In France, for example, ceilings on spending are imposed using the same classification of sectors and programs as in the annual state
budget. Ceilings for the first two years are binding and are indicative for the third. Detailed allocations of spending within approved
ceilings are decided annually.
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projections can inform whether certain indexation mechanisms for public-sector wages, pensions, or unemployment benefits that might appear affordable today are also sustainable over the medium to long term.
By identifying the problem and providing incentives to make policy changes today, MTBFs can help policymakers initiate early adjustments that have a large impact over time, rather than forcing large and disruptive
adjustments later. Similarly, MTBFs can help the government sequence the adoption of priority spending
programs in light of resource availability and other priorities today versus the future.

LEVELS OF PRACTICE FOR PRINCIPLE 2.1.3
BASIC PRACTICE: Budget documentation includes the outturns of the two preceding years and medium-term
projections of aggregate revenues, expenditures, and financing.
125. At the basic level, MTBFs should provide aggregate projections of the revenue, expenditure, and financing
components consistent with a credible macroeconomic forecast. The key links between the macroeconomic
projections and the fiscal outlook should be described. Revenue projections should be realistic, and be based
on the latest outturn data, elasticities, and recent trends provided by the agencies or departments responsible
for collecting taxes and other revenues. Box 3.7 provides the example of Costa Rica.



Box 3.7.

Costa Rica: Medium-Term Budget Framework

Costa Rica prepares a report on the medium-term budget framework (MTBF) covering a four-year period, which is discussed by the Legislative Assembly during its deliberations on the government’s annual budget proposal. The report includes projections of the main fiscal
variables and analyzes risks associated with, for example, the slowdown in the world economy. It explains the macroeconomic assumptions used to project revenues, expenditures, and financing. It also assesses the medium-term fiscal situation and fiscal sustainability and
includes recommendations on fiscal policies. However, the MTBF does not contain detailed medium-term projections of spending by
ministry, economic category, or program.
Source: (IMF, 2013a).

GOOD PRACTICE: Budget documentation includes the outturns of the two preceding years and medium-term
projections of revenues, expenditures, and financing by economic category.
126. Decomposing medium-term budgetary projections by economic category provides a clearer picture of expenditure and revenue dynamics. Expenditure should be projected by major economic categories such as
salaries, goods and services, subsidies, and grants, and similarly revenue by main tax and non-tax categories.
Expenditure projections should be based on the latest plans and policy commitments set out by the government. Those elements of expenditure that are driven in part by macroeconomic factors—such as interest
payments, subsidies on imported goods such as food and fuel, or social security benefits, which may be
linked to inflation through an indexation mechanism—should also be projected on a consistent basis with
the macroeconomic forecasts. Information should be incorporated on expenditure programs with defined
profiles, such as capital expenditure where costs will start small, increase as the project moves into its full
construction phase, and then taper off as the project nears completion, while operation and maintenance costs
get phased-in. Box 3.8 provides the example of Cameroon.
ADVANCED PRACTICE: Budget documentation includes the outturns of the two preceding years and mediumterm projections of revenues, expenditures, and financing by economic category and by ministry or program.
127. A further breakdown of medium-term budget projections by ministry or program provides a detailed
picture of the government’s sectoral priorities and facilitates multiyear budget planning at the operational
level. At this advanced level of practice, the advantages of an MTBF at the aggregate level are augmented by
improved predictability at the disaggregated level. With medium-term projections disaggregated by ministry
or program, uncertainties surrounding the budgetary allocation to each ministry, agency, or program over
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Box 3.8.

Cameroon: Medium-Term Budget Framework

Under the regional directives of the Economic and Monetary Union for Central Africa (CEMAC), the six member countries are encouraged to prepare multiyear fiscal and budgetary projections as a framework for the preparation of the annual budget. Cameroon is the
most advanced in implementing this new approach and has implemented a medium-term budget framework (MTBF) since 2013. The
MTBF is the first step in the preparation of the annual budget and includes projections of revenues and expenditures for three years
ahead based on an economic classification that distinguishes between current and capital expenditures. Preparation of the MTBF is in
line with the elaboration of the annual budget and includes two phases:
•

Programming phase (January–July). Following a review of the previous year’s budget execution, a first MTBF is prepared. It presents revenues and expenditure forecasts for three years ahead. This MTBF is shared with line ministries to help them prepare their
own sectoral forecasts, which are then discussed with the Ministry of Finance.

•

Budgeting phase (August–October). Following these discussions, the MTBF is updated and expenditure ceilings are approved and
shared with line ministries under a circular issued by the prime minister. Then, the budget proposal document is finalized and
transmitted to Parliament (mid-October).

The ceilings included in the MTBF have been well respected and have supported aggregate fiscal discipline. The deviations between the
spending outturns by ministry during 2014–2016 and the ceilings in the MTBF averaged only 0.4 percent.
Source: IMF Technical Assistance Missions to Cameroon.

the medium term are reduced significantly, thus encouraging more effective management of resources by the
spending agencies. Box 3.9 provides the example of South Africa.



Box 3.9.

South Africa: Medium-Term Expenditure Projections

The South African budget presents medium-term expenditure projections categorized by (i) current expenditure, further divided into
employee compensation costs and debt interest payments; (ii) transfers and subsidies; (iii) investment in capital and financial assets; and
(iv) a contingency reserve. Similarly, medium-term projections of revenues are split into several economic categories, including taxes on
income and profits, labor costs, property, consumption, and international trade.
The budget also provides projections of the split of expenditure among national, provincial, and local funds; the composition of grants
to subnational government by function and program; and consolidated public-sector expenditure by function and program. More
detailed statistical tables provide a breakdown of expenditure by department, individual tax and other revenue streams, and sources of
financing.
Source: South African authorities.

PRINCIPLE 2.1.4. Investment Projects
The government regularly discloses its financial obligations under multi-annual investment
projects and subjects all major projects to cost-benefit analysis and open and competitive
tender.
128. Investment projects have the potential to affect significantly public finances in ways that other types of
public spending do not (IMF, 2015b).78 In particular,
78

The IMF’s work on public investment has expanded in recent years with the publication of a policy paper on making public investment more efficient (IMF, 2015b) and the development of a new diagnostic tool (PIMA) that assesses the performance of a country’s
public investment management institutions; see http://www.imf.org/external/np/pp/eng/2015/061115.pdf.
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•

investment projects require an upfront commitment of funds and therefore are akin to liabilities. The implementation of large projects typically requires funds to be disbursed over several years, and they require
funding over the long term to operate and maintain the assets concerned;

•

project appraisals must contend with differences in the timing of costs and benefits: construction costs
are typically incurred over the first few years, while benefits are realized over the life of the asset, often
extending several decades; and

•

effective implementation and operation of investment projects are dependent on the project managers
maintaining a close relationship with the government officials responsible for carrying out the critically
important procurement function and providing resources for the operation and maintenance of the assets,
once construction work has been completed. Effective coordination between the ministry of finance and
the agency responsible for national development planning is also important.79

129. To improve the transparency of decision making on public investment, the government should disclose
all financial obligations related to ongoing investment projects and, where appropriate, use cost-benefit
analyses and open competitive tender processes. For further discussion, see Fainboim, Last, and Tandberg
(2013).
130. Given the special nature of investment projects, the disclosure of their total financial obligations should
occur on a regular basis. The budget process in most jurisdictions involves annual appropriations. Accordingly, when approval is sought from the legislature for the first year’s appropriation for a multi-annual investment project, it is important that the legislature is informed of the anticipated full cost of the project over
the years to its completion, and its link to the medium-term strategic planning of government. This ensures
that the legislature is aware of the medium-term implications of its approval of the first year’s appropriations.
In addition, regular updates and disclosure are necessary because the financial obligations for a multiyear
investment project may vary substantially over the course of its implementation due to delays, cost variances,
and design changes. At a minimum, the legislature should be informed every year of the updated total cost
of a multi-annual project, when appropriations for the next year are being sought for that project. Box 3.12
provides an example of how these costs are monitored in Chile and Korea.
131. Effective public investment requires standardized cost-benefit analysis (CBA) to assess the merits of individual projects and prioritize the allocation of funds across projects. CBA quantifies in monetary terms as
many of the costs and benefits of a project as feasible, including items for which the market does not provide
a satisfactory measure of economic value (Box 3.10).80 To ensure a robust and transparent system for appraising, prioritizing, and selecting projects for financing, the government should prepare guidelines that require
a CBA to be carried out at least for large projects that meet certain criteria, using a standardized methodology. Smaller projects, or projects in social sectors, should also be evaluated but using lighter techniques (e.g.,
cost-effectiveness analysis). Many countries require information on CBAs, especially for large projects to be
published, sometimes in summary form, with clearly defined exceptions, such as projects with national security implications. Many countries have also established a central unit responsible for developing the CBA
methodologies and, in some cases, for providing advice to the ministries and agencies that design, finance,
and implement individual projects.
132. The procurement procedures for investment projects should be open and competitive to maximize valuefor-money and ensure transparency in the issuance of contracts to suppliers. An open and competitive tender maximizes the probability that the winning bid is the lowest price for the specified output at a determined
quality standard. Ensuring comparable tenders requires carefully applied rules and standards. A country
can be said to have an open and competitive procurement system if the government can provide evidence
demonstrating that (i) major projects are subject to procurement rules that substantially meet each of the key
79

In some countries, the planning ministry (or agency) has responsibility for preparing the government’s capital investment budget,
thus creating the well-known system of “dual budgeting.” In other countries, the planning agency may prepare an indicative public
investment plan (PIP) that provides an input to the preparation of the annual budget.

80

An example from the United Kingdom, widely replicated in other countries, is HM Treasury (2013).
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Box 3.10. Cost-Benefit Analysis

Cost-benefit analysis (CBA) is a set of techniques and evaluation tools used to determine the optimal allocation of public resources, by
seeking to maximize net social benefits. CBA in the public sphere differs from the analysis of investment in the private sector because
the government provides public goods and benefits that individuals do not purchase on the market and which create additional measurement challenges. CBA has considerable overlap with private investment analysis on other issues, such as developing alternatives,
common units of measure, discount rates, costing, financing, and risk assessment.
There is no single, best approach to CBA. The nature of CBA will vary based on the nature of the project. While CBA can be used to
assess any proposed public expenditure project, including recurrent programs and regulations, CBA is most commonly applied to an
assessment of competing infrastructure projects, which differ in terms of location, design, scope, and function.
Sources: Mishan and Quah (2007); UN Industrial Development Organization (1993); and Gramlich (1998).

elements noted in Box 3.11; (ii) these rules have been consistently enforced; and (iii) the law includes provisions that allow unsuccessful bidders to appeal a procurement decision, and that these provisions are enforced
in a fair and impartial way.



Box 3.11. Elements of a Well-Designed Public Procurement System

The following elements are important:
•

A clear and comprehensive legal framework that governs all aspects of the procurement process and that promotes competitiveness and transparency

•

Clarification of functional responsibilities and accountabilities for (i) implementing procurement operations, (ii) applying the procurement rules within the buying entities, and (iii) enforcing these responsibilities and accountabilities, including the application of
appropriate sanctions.

•

A cadre of well-trained procurement staff who possess the technical proficiency to implement procurement functions

Source: World Bank, Country Procurement Assessment Report Instructions (http://siteresources.worldbank.org/PROCUREMENT/Resources/cpar.pdf).

LEVELS OF PRACTICE FOR PRINCIPLE 2.1.4
BASIC PRACTICE: One of the following applies: (i) the government regularly discloses the value of its
total obligations under multi-annual investment projects; (ii) subjects all major projects to a published
cost-benefit analysis before approval; and (iii) requires all major projects to be contracted via open and
competitive tender.
GOOD PRACTICE: Two of the following apply: (i) the government regularly discloses the value of its total
obligations under multi-annual investment projects; (ii) subjects all major projects to a published costbenefit analysis before approval; and (iii) requires all major projects to be contracted via open and
competitive tender.
ADVANCED PRACTICE: All of the following apply: (i) the government regularly discloses the value of its
total obligations under multi-annual investment projects; (ii) subjects all major projects to a published
cost-benefit analysis before approval; and (iii) requires all major projects to be contracted via open and
competitive tender.
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133. The practices under this principle are defined against three criteria relating to disclosure of total obligations of multi-annual investment projects, CBA, and competitive procurement (see Box 3.12 for the examples of Chile and Korea). To have an advanced level of transparency in relation to public investment projects,
the Code requires that all three criteria are met. Where only two criteria are met, the level of practice is considered good, and where only one criterion is met, the level is considered basic.
•

The total financial obligations associated with each major multi-annual investment project over the life
of the project should be disclosed regularly and, at a minimum, each year when legislative approval is
being sought for appropriations to finance that project. Systems should also be in place to ensure ongoing
monitoring of total project costs to minimize the risk of cost overruns. In addition, estimates of the future
costs of operating and maintaining fixed capital assets should be included when preparing medium-term
budget projections.

•

Clear and transparent guidelines should be established to ensure that information on the CBAs of large
projects is disclosed, at least in summary form, with clearly defined exceptions (e.g., projects with national
security implications).

•

All projects should be subject to a transparent and competitive public procurement process. The system
should require open and competitive tendering, together with appropriate safeguards (e.g., a formalized
complaints review procedure) to secure the integrity of the procurement process.81



Box 3.12. Chile and Korea: Managing Public Investment Projects

In Chile, the Medium-Term Financial Projection elaborated by the Ministry of Finance includes the government’s total obligations under
multi-annual investment projects. A summary of the following three years’ investment project obligations is included in the Budget
Office’s Public Finance Report (Informe de Finanzas Publicas) presented to Congress. The main source of this information is the National
Investment System (NIS), under which all the investment projects financed through the budget are subject to ex ante cost-benefit
analysis. The results of these evaluations are published on the NIS’s website (http://sni.ministeriodesarrollosocial.gob.cl). Proposed PPP
projects are subject to a similar procedure. In addition, since 2009, completed projects are subject to ex post evaluation, the results
of which are used to refine the methodology for conducting CBAs. Finally, all major projects are contracted via open and competitive
tender.
Korea meets the three criteria under the public investment principle of the Code:
•

Manages total obligations under multiyear investment projects. The annual Budget Bill includes estimates of the construction
costs of ongoing and planned investment projects over the medium term, and the associated cost of operations and maintenance.
During budget execution, total project costs are closely monitored by the Ministry of Strategy and Finance (MOSF) using the Total
Project Cost Management System, which covers all cost items related to a project, including design, land acquisition, and construction costs.

•

Conducts CBAs. A CBA, as a part of a proposed project’s feasibility study, is conducted before the project is approved. In addition,
large-scale projects with a total cost of KRW 50 billion or more are also subject to a preliminary feasibility study (PFS), conducted
by the Public and Private Infrastructure Management Center with the authorization of the MOSF. The PFS includes a CBA, other
economic analysis, policy analysis, and a balanced regional development analysis.

•

Uses open and competitive tender as the principal procurement method. In 2002, the Korea On-Line E-Procurement System
(KONEPS), a web-based procurement platform, was launched to address the entire procurement processes, including procurement
requests, bids, contracts, and payments. These standardized and simplified processes facilitate competition by lowering the barriers
to entry for suppliers and contractors.

Source: Chilean and Korean authorities.

81

See, for example, OECD (2010a).
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DIMENSION 2.2. ORDERLINESS
The powers and responsibilities of the executive and legislative branches of government in the
budget process should be defined in law, and the budget should be presented, debated, and
approved in a timely manner.
134. The orderliness of the budget process depends on two key principles under this dimension:
•

A clear legal basis, with supporting regulations and administrative practices, defining the key outputs
and respective time frames, and responsibilities of different stakeholders (2.2.1). It is common for the basic
principles of budget management to be embodied in a budget system legal framework (which may have
a higher status than ordinary laws, or even by enshrined in the constitution).

•

A wide range of timely information should be provided to the legislature and the public in a predictable
and timely manner (2.2.2).

Table 3.2 provides a list of relevant standards, norms, and guidance material related to dimension 2.2 of the Code.
Table 3.2. Relevant Standards, Norms, and Guidance Material
Standards/Guidance Material

Brief Description

Lienert and others (2004)

This volume “The Legal Framework for Budget Systems: An International Comparison,”
provides a comprehensive comparison of legal frameworks for budget systems for OECD
countries, supported by detailed case studies of selected countries. In conducting the
comparison across frameworks, the book addresses several important themes, including the
role of key actors in the budget process such as the legislature and the executive, and key
principles underlying budget system laws such as authoritativeness, annuality, universality,
and unity. https://www.oecd.org/gov/budgeting/43487903.pdf

OECD Best Practices for Budget Transparency

Recommends that the government’s draft budget be submitted to the legislature for
scrutiny no less than three months prior to the start of the fiscal year. The budget should
be approved by the legislature prior to the start of the fiscal year. See OECD (2002). http://
www.oecd.org/gov/budgeting/best-practices-budget-transparency.htm

PEFA

Includes one related indicator: PI-17 on the budget preparation process. See PEFA (2016b).
www.PEFA.org

International Budget Partnership,
Open Budget Survey

Conducted biannually by the IBP, the Open Budget Survey measures a wide range of budget
transparency issues to come up with a summary national score. http://internationalbudget.
org/what-we-do/open-budget-survey/

PRINCIPLE 2.2.1. Fiscal Legislation
The legal framework clearly defines the timetable for budget preparation and approval, key
contents of the budget documentation, and the powers and responsibilities of the executive
and legislature in the budget process.
135. The fiscal legislation sets the formal rules for organizing the budgetary process and the respective roles and
responsibilities of the executive branch and the legislature. Many countries have enacted a budget system
law that provides the legal framework for budget formulation, approval, and execution.82 In some countries,
this is an organic law, which has a higher status than ordinary laws. The relative importance of codified budget
82

These laws have various titles such as a public finance law, a budget framework law, a budget system law, and so on. They should
be independent from the annual budget law, which sets the budgetary appropriations for the coming fiscal year. A budget systems
law may be supplemented by other laws that deal with specific aspects of public finance or the budget process, for example, laws
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laws, regulations, and administrative practices varies considerably among countries with varying traditions
of public administration. For each major step of the budget preparation process, the legal framework aims at
prescribing the calendar for decision making, the documents to be prepared and published, and the respective responsibilities of the executive and the legislature. The budget system law is usually complemented by
regulations and instructions setting the detailed rules to implement the budget, including, for example, the
expenditure control framework, cash management, and accounting. The structure of the fiscal legislation reflects the specific political, constitutional, and administrative tradition of each country. For a review of legal
frameworks for budgeting in different countries, see Lienert and Jung (2004) and Lienert (2013).
136. The legislation should clearly set the timing of budget submission, adoption, and publication. When the
constitution does not establish a specific timeline for the submission of the budget by the executive, the fiscal
legislation should include provisions allowing sufficient time for the legislature’s scrutiny, amendment, and
approval. The various practices related to the timely submission and approval of the budget are discussed
under Principle 2.2.2.
137. The legislation should also define the key documents that the executive should submit to the legislature in
its annual budget proposal. In addition, it should define the classification used to present fiscal information
in the budget and other financial reports. Box 3.13 provides a possible structure incorporating some key elements for the design of a budget system law.



Box 3.13. Main Sections of a Budget System Law (Illustrative)

Section I: General Provisions and Purpose—explains the interpretation and application of the law and provides key definitions.
Section II: Macroeconomic and Fiscal Policy—specifies the principles, fiscal rules, and procedures for the formulation, approval, and
evaluation of the government’s medium-term fiscal policy and strategy.
Section III: Budget Formulation and Approval—specifies the process for the preparation, adoption, and modification of the annual
budget and associated documentation.
Section IV: Budget Execution and Treasury Management—specifies the arrangements for (i) the planning, deposit, withdrawal, and
control of cash; (ii) the acquisition, maintenance, and disposal of assets; and (iii) the issuance, management, and extinguishment of liabilities to meet the undertakings set out in the budget.
Section V: Accounting, Reporting and Audit—defines the standards, coverage, format, and timetable for producing the government’s
financial reports and accounts and the procedures for addressing any authorized deviations from the approved budget identified in
reports by the country’s SAI.
Source: IMF staff.

138. To ensure an orderly budget preparation and approval process, the legal framework should define the
powers of the legislature to modify the budget proposed by the executive. Provisions limiting the power
of the legislature to amend the draft annual budget proposed by the executive vary considerably depending
on the form of government adopted in each country’s constitution (including based on whether a parliamentary, presidential, or semipresidential system is in place). Moreover, these powers may be limited by rules
that allow only amendments that are neutral on the deficit level or are restricted to decreasing expenditures
(Lienert, 2013; Wehner, 2010; Box 3.14).

on fiscal responsibility, treasury management, debt management, public procurement, PPPs, and the financial oversight of public
corporations. Issues relating to taxes and other revenues will typically be covered by separate legislation.
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Box 3.14. Examples of the Latitude of the Legislature to Amend the Budget

Canada: Parliament approves the budget, and the fiscal policy and aggregates within it, through a vote of confidence before turning
its attention to detailed review of the main and supplementary estimates. Parliament may reject or reduce spending proposed in the
estimates but not increase it. As a result of these procedures, the fiscal policy and appropriation levels adopted by Parliament do not
differ significantly from the government’s proposal.
France: There is a prebudget debate (débat d’orientation des finances publiques) in June over the general government fiscal stance. While examining the draft budget in October, Parliament votes on the overall budget balance, total revenue, and total expenditure, before scrutinizing
and approving detailed appropriations. Parliamentary procedure prevents any increase in appropriations without approval of the government.
Germany: The “key figures decision” (Eckwertebeschluss) is presented by the minister of finance to Parliament and is discussed by the
parliamentary budget committee in March. However, neither the Eckwertebeschluss nor the financial plan is formally approved by Parliament. The constitution does not restrict the right of Parliament to amend the government’s draft budget proposal. The Parliament
has a veto over the government’s proposal to change the aggregate expenditure ceiling, future commitments, or expected revenues.
India: Parliament approves the budget following procedures outlined in the constitution. Although the “General Discussion” at the
beginning of the budget debate focuses on the budget as a whole and the broad tax and expenditure policy aspects, there is no
requirement for the budget aggregates to be approved before considering the detailed spending proposals. The constitution prohibits
Parliament from increasing a budget provision or introducing a new expenditure item as it reviews the government’s budget proposal.
Italy: Planning targets are endorsed by the Parliament at an early stage of the preparation of the annual budget. Parliament cannot
change the targets during parliamentary approval, but, when discussing the Stability Law, it can increase expenditure or reduce revenues
provided that it identifies compensatory funding.
Turkey: The Plan and Budget Committee of the National Assembly carries out preliminary examinations and consultations on the draft
annual budget in October and November, before the budget is presented to the legislature’s plenary session for approval in December.
However, the Assembly votes on the draft budget law on a chapter-by-chapter basis and cannot introduce amendments that increase total
expenditures or reduce revenues. Expenditures and revenues, as well as the draft law, can be amended by the Plan and Budget Committee.
Source: Lienert (2013).

LEVELS OF PRACTICE FOR PRINCIPLE 2.2.1
BASIC PRACTICE: The legal framework defines one of the following: (i) the timetable for budget preparation
and approval; (ii) the key content requirements for the executive’s budget proposal; and (iii) the legislature’s
powers to amend the executive’s budget proposal.
GOOD PRACTICE: The legal framework defines two of the following: (i) the timetable for budget preparation
and approval; (ii) the key content requirements for the executive’s budget proposal; and (iii) the legislature’s
powers to amend the executive’s budget proposal.
ADVANCED PRACTICE: The legal framework defines all of the following: (i) the timetable for budget preparation
and approval; (ii) the key content requirements for the executive’s budget proposal; and (iii) the legislature’s
powers to amend the executive’s budget proposal.
139. The practices under this principle are defined against three key elements that should be specified in the
legal framework. These three elements are the timetable for budget preparation and approval, key contents
of the budget proposal (also discussed in Section 2.1), and the legislature’s power to amend the executive’s
budget proposal. To have an advanced level of transparency in relation to public investment projects, the
Code requires that all three criteria be met. Where only two criteria be met, the level of practice is considered
good, and where only one criterion is met, the level is considered basic. Examples of recent fiscal legislation
from Iceland and two from the African regions are shown in Boxes 3.15 and 3.16, respectively.
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Box 3.15. Iceland: Fiscal Legislation for an Orderly Budget Process

The legal framework comprises the Public Finance Act of 2015 (PFA), along with relevant provisions of the constitution, the Standing
Orders of the Althingi (Parliament), and the Local Government Act.
Budget Timetable: A detailed timetable for the budget process is defined. A new government must submit a fiscal policy statement to
the Althingi. Every spring a five-year fiscal plan, based on the goals set out in the fiscal policy statement, is submitted to the Althingi.
The Budget Bill is submitted at the opening date of the annual session of the Althingi, on the second Tuesday of September, according
to the Standing Orders, as provided in Article 35 of the constitution. The Standing Orders indicate that the objective of the Althingi is to
complete the readings of the Budget Bill by the end of the first full week of December.
Contents of Budget Documentation: Key contents of the budget documentation are clearly prescribed in law. The PFA requires the
Budget Bill to include main fiscal indicators, government revenue and expenditure projections by economic and functional classifications,
budget appropriations by ministry, and any authorizations to borrow, lend, or provide guarantees. The PFA also prescribes additional
information such as budget assumptions, tax expenditures, balance sheet data, and fiscal risks, to be included in notes accompanying the
Budget Bill.
Power to Amend: The Althingi influences the broad fiscal policy goals and the five-year fiscal plans through the parliamentary process
of resolutions. A draft resolution cannot pass until it has received two readings and an examination of a standing committee. The Budget Bill cannot be passed into law until it has received three readings and an examination by the appropriate standing committees. All
amendments to the budget bill must include an evaluation of their effect on public finances.
Source: Iceland authorities.



Box 3.16. WAEMU and CEMAC Countries: Fiscal Legislation

To strengthen public finances and foster convergence among their member countries, two of the recently established regional economic
and monetary unions in Africa (WAEMU and CEMAC) adopted a set of regional directives, respectively in 2009 and 2011. Based on international best practices, these directives provide a framework under which the member countries (eight for the WAEMU1 and six for CEMAC2)
conduct their fiscal policies and prepare the annual budget. The directives are at various stages of being implemented by the member
countries.
Both WAEMU and CEMAC directives include specific provisions on the following:
•

Competencies: The power of preparing the budget lies with the minister in charge of finance, subject to validation by the council
of ministers.

•

Timeliness: The budget proposal must be presented to the legislature before the start of the budget session (e.g., generally by
mid-October) and must be approved before the end of the year.

•

Content: The annual budget must (i) be based on a medium-term fiscal framework; (ii) include data that are comprehensive, timely,
and reliable; (iii) adopt a standardized format; and (iv) be supported by a list of mandatory appendixes (including the medium-term
fiscal framework).

•

Scrutiny: The rules for legislative approval of the budget are strictly regulated (e.g., the first part of the budget, related to revenue,
must be approved before the legislature discusses the second part, related to expenditure) and the powers of the legislature and
the executive to amend the budget must be defined.

Source: Sarr (2014).

1

Benin, Burkina Faso, Côte d’Ivoire, Guinea-Bissau, Mali, Niger, Senegal, and Togo.

2

Cameroon, Central African Republic, Chad, Republic of Congo, Equatorial Guinea, and Gabon.
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PRINCIPLE 2.2.2. Timeliness of Budget Documents
The legislature and the public are consistently given adequate time to scrutinize and approve
the annual budget.
140. Citizens, through their representatives or direct interactions, should be given adequate time to review,
discuss, and approve the budget before the new fiscal year. In all Group of Twenty countries, the draft
budget is submitted to the legislature at least three months before the start of the new fiscal year (Table 3.3),
thus allowing adequate time for an in-depth debate on budgetary choices and related trade-offs, including by
relevant committees and subcommittees of the legislature. More time for debate may be required in countries
where the legislature has substantial powers to amend the draft budget (Wehner, 2010). The budget timetable
should be published, along with associated budget preparation, review, and approval procedures, to which
the executive rigorously adheres. The publication of this information under an open-data format is encouraged to foster independent analysis by citizens and other stakeholders. On citizens’ participation in the budget preparation and approval process, see Principle 2.3.3.
141. The budget should be adopted and published before the beginning of the new fiscal year, and clear rules
should be set to ensure the continuity of government activities when this is not the case. To avoid a shutdown of government, these rules should define how the government’s activities and policies will be funded
in the event a regular budget cannot be adopted before the start of the fiscal year. Many countries have legal
provisions that allow the government to continue funding its activities and policies after the end of the fiscal
year, within a monthly cap on expenditures usually set at one-twelfth of the previous year’s budget. Typically,
these arrangements allow continuity on a no-policy-change basis based on the previous year’s budget. These
arrangements should be limited in time—for example, to no more than three months after the end of the fiscal
year.

LEVELS OF PRACTICE FOR PRINCIPLE 2.2.2
BASIC PRACTICE: The budget is submitted to the legislature and made available to the public at least one
month before the start of the financial year and is approved and published up to one month after the
beginning of the financial year.
GOOD PRACTICE: The budget is submitted to the legislature and made available to the public at least two
months before the start of the financial year and is approved and published by the start of the financial year.
ADVANCED PRACTICE: The budget is submitted to the legislature and made available to the public at least
three months before the start of the financial year and is approved and published at least one month before
the start of the financial year.
142. Budgetary timeliness has two critical dimensions, the first relating to the time allowed for scrutiny and
approval of the draft budget and the second relating to the timing of approval of the budget relative to the
start of the upcoming fiscal year:
•

Time allowed for scrutiny and approval of the budget. A period of at least two months is considered
necessary to allow for scrutiny and debate by the legislature. Following submission of the budget by
government to the legislature, this two-month period is required for legislators to (i) study the proposals contained in the budget; (ii) obtain feedback from their constituencies and other stakeholder groups;
(iii) prepare for and engage in debate in the legislature on the policies contained in the budget; (iv) examine the detailed budget estimates; (v) propose amendments to the budget proposals, if allowed under the
legal framework; and (vi) vote on the budget measures and estimates.

•

Timing of approval of the budget. The ideal time for approval of the budget is before the start of the
fiscal year to which it relates, thus ensuring that the policies it contains and the expenditure it proposes
are authorized before the period to which they relate. This allows for timely communication of budgets to

©International Monetary Fund. Not for Redistribution

PILLAR II: FISCAL FORECASTING AND BUDGETING

73

respective ministries and implementing agencies, giving them the opportunity to better plan and coordinate their budget implementation. Advanced practice requires approval at least one month before the
start of the fiscal year. Good practice requires approval within the last month before the new fiscal year.
Basic practice requires approval no later than one month after the start of the fiscal year. Table 3.3 provides
examples of the practices adopted in a range of countries.
Table 3.3. Timing of the Submission of the Budget Proposal to the Legislature (Number of Months before the Beginning
of the Budget Year)
Four Months or
More
Argentina

Three Months

Two Months

One Month

After the Start of
The Year

X

Australia

X

Brazil

X

Canada

X

France

X

X

Germany

X

India

X

Indonesia

X

Italy

X

Japan

X

Korea

X

Mexico

X

Russia

X

South Africa

X

Turkey

X

United Kingdom

X

United States

X

Sources: Lienert (2010 and 2013a).

DIMENSION 2.3. POLICY ORIENTATION
Fiscal forecasts and budgets should be presented in a way that facilitates policy analysis and
accountability.
143. Clarity about fiscal policy objectives is critical for guiding the budget process and holding the government
accountable for its strategies and priorities. It enables ex post comparison of what was achieved and thus
holds the government accountable for its performance. Principles under this dimension relate to:
•

providing measurable fiscal policy objectives and reporting on their achievement (2.3.1) to help link the
budget and fiscal rules/targets;

•

providing nonfinancial performance information (2.3.2) to understand the government’s policy priorities,
their alignment with fiscal objectives, and how budgetary resources were allocated for different uses; and

•

public participation in the budget process to enhance accountability and the quality of information (2.3.3)
and the publication of documents that are targeted toward a broad audience of citizens and other stakeholders. This type of accountability frequently adds to, and complements, traditional procedures focused
on compliance with authorized spending limits, and the important oversight functions exercised by bodies such as the legislature, the supreme audit institution, and fiscal councils.
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Table 3.4 provides a list of relevant standards, norms, and guidance material related to dimension 2.3 of the Code.

Table 3.4. Relevant Standards, Norms, and Guidance Material
Standards/Guidance Material

Brief Description

PEFA

Includes five related indicators: PI-2 on the composition of expenditures; PI-8 on service delivery
targets, and the monitoring of outputs; PI-9 on public access to key fiscal information; PI-15.2
on the adoption of a fiscal strategy; and PI-18 on the role of the legislature in scrutinizing the
budget. See PEFA (2016b). www.PEFA.org

International Budget Partnership,
Open Budget Survey

Conducted biannually by the IBP, the Open Budget Survey measures a wide range of budget
transparency issues to calculate a summary national score. Beginning in 2012, a new section on
public participation in the budget process was added to the Survey. http://internationalbudget.
org/what-we-do/open-budget-survey/

Global Initiative for fiscal Transpar- Principle 10 states that citizens should have the right, and they, and all non-state actors, should
have effective opportunities to participate directly in public debate and discussion over the deency (GIFT) High-Level Principles,
sign and implementation of fiscal policies. www.fiscaltransparency.net
2015
OECD Budget Transparency Toolki

The section on openness and civic engagement contains guidance on making budget information accessible to the public, using open data to support budget transparency, and making
the budget more inclusive and participatory. See (OECD, 2017) www.oecd.org/gov/budgeting/
Budgeting-Transparency-Toolkit.pdf

PRINCIPLE 2.3.1. Fiscal Policy Objectives
The government states and reports on clear and measurable objectives for the public finances.
144. Fiscal policy objectives are the government’s stated aims for the evolution of the public finances and are
typically expressed in the form of a target for one or more fiscal aggregates. These fiscal aggregates can
include “headline” aggregates such as total revenue, total expenditure, the budget balance, the primary
balance, and the stock of debt, typically expressed as a percentage of GDP. They may also be expressed in
adjusted terms, such as the structural balance that separates and takes out cyclical influences on the government’s fiscal position, thus ensuring that fiscal policy does not exacerbate cyclical fluctuations in revenue
and expenditure.
145. Fiscal policy objectives should be comprehensive in terms of a clear delineation of the boundaries of fiscal
operations that they seek to cover. The path for reaching these objectives should be described in a fiscal management strategy, which guides the annual budget or the MTBF (discussed later in this chapter) and makes it
possible to determine whether progress is on track.83 The specific fiscal variable(s) that are the focus of fiscal
objectives or fiscal management strategies will depend on the nature of the challenges facing a country. However, establishing long-term expectations of fiscal sustainability should be paramount.84 As such, rolling fiscal
objectives without a medium-term (or longer-term) target can be useful but should be used with caution, as
they may not provide a solid fiscal policy anchor.

83

Fiscal policy objectives should not be confused with fiscal forecasts, which set out probable fiscal outcomes, although the latter may
be guided by fiscal objectives.

84

Fiscal sustainability refers to the ability of a government to sustain its current spending, taxation, and other policies without threatening government solvency, or defaulting on some of its liabilities or committed expenditures.
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146. Fiscal policy objectives may take the form of fiscal rules (see Box 3.17) or targets for the public finances over
the medium term.85 These targets may be enshrined in law or may be presented as a policy commitment in the
annual budget or some other policy document. They should be (i) numerical, defined in precise terms, thus
enabling measurement and determination of their achievement,86 and (ii) time bound, which supports determination of a path to achievement.87 Precisely defined time-bound objectives are easier to communicate and
facilitate a transparent assessment of the government’s adherence to them. In addition, an objective would not
be considered precise if the data required for its measurement are not available.88



Box 3.17. Fiscal Rules

The IMF has a regularly updated database of fiscal rules and their characteristics, which contains the following definition of a fiscal rule:
A fiscal rule imposes a long-lasting constraint on fiscal policy through numerical limits on budgetary aggregates. Fiscal rules typically aim
at correcting distorted incentives and containing pressures to overspend, particularly in good times, so as to ensure fiscal responsibility
and debt sustainability.
The number of countries adopting one or more fiscal rules has increased significantly in recent years, totaling 96 in 2015. The number
of countries and the year the first fiscal rule was adopted are shown in Figure 3.17.1.

Figure 3.17.1. Increase in the Number of Fiscal Rules, 1947–2017
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Rules have different implications for the way fiscal policy responds to shocks. Regarding output shocks, overall balance or debt rules typically provide the lowest degree of cyclical flexibility. A cyclically adjusted or structural balance rule allows the full operation of automatic
stabilizers, though it does not provide room for discretionary fiscal stimulus, and is more difficult to calculate and explain to the public.
Rules defined “over the cycle” provide room for both discretionary and cyclical adjustments. Expenditure rules are consistent with cyclical
and discretionary reductions in tax revenues, but they do not normally permit discretionary expenditure stimulus.
Revenue rules do not generally account for the operation of automatic stabilizers on the revenue side in a downturn (or in an upturn
for revenue ceilings).
Source: IMF Fiscal Rules Data Set (http://www.imf.org/external/datamapper/FiscalRules/map/map.htm).

85

Fiscal rules may also include procedural rules. However, this principle of the Code focuses on setting fiscal policy objectives that are
measurable and time bound.

86

For example, an objective that refers to a structural balance without defining how cyclical adjustment is calculated cannot be measured objectively.

87

There is extensive literature on fiscal rules: see, for example, Budina and others (2012); Corbacho and Ter‑Minassian (2013); Kumar
and others (2009); Debrun and others (2008).

88

For example, an expenditure rule that limits public spending to a certain percentage of GDP would not be considered precise if there
is no comprehensive reporting of public spending, either in the budget or in other fiscal reports, to measure compliance with the
stated objective/target.
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147. The credibility of a government’s fiscal objectives would be further enhanced by ex ante specification of
situations under which the government could deviate from its stated fiscal targets. Experience has shown
the importance of flexibility in fiscal policy to deal with economic shocks. While adherence to stated fiscal
targets/rules would be the expected norm in good economic times, allowing room to maneuver when the
economy is weak or is faced with exogenous shocks may be desirable. Transparently defining escape clauses
in fiscal rules reduces the scope for manipulation while allowing flexibility. Escape clauses should also define
the conditions under which the fiscal rule would be reinstated.

LEVELS OF PRACTICE FOR PRINCIPLE 2.3.1
BASIC PRACTICE: The government states and regularly reports on a numerical objective for the main fiscal
aggregates, which is either precise or time bound.
148. A basic fiscal objective should take the form of a quantitative, or readily quantifiable, target for one or
more fiscal aggregates (see Box 3.18 for an example from Turkey). This objective could be set in legislation
or merely stated in the annual budget, or in a fiscal strategy report issued by the government. Even if the
objective is not time bound, reporting on achievement of the objective typically would be associated with the
fiscal forecasts published as part of the MTBF or in the annual budget documents. The budget documentation
should include a section that clearly states each target or rule, discusses historically the extent of compliance
with, or deviations from, the rules, and how the budget forecasts are consistent with them.



Box 3.18. Turkey: Expenditure Rules/Fiscal Targets

The government of Turkey, following the 2003 Public Financial Management and Control Law (2006), prepares a Medium-Term Program
(MTP) and a Medium-Term Fiscal Plan (MTFP). The MTP provides a three-year macroeconomic forecast and sets out the government’s
macroeconomic and fiscal policy objectives for the same period. The MTFP provides estimates of budgetary revenue, expenditure, the
targeted budget balance, and borrowing positions for the following three years, as well as expenditure ceilings for each budgetary
entity in line with the MTP targets. However, there is no in-year reporting on progress against any of these fiscal objectives except in
budget execution reports, which cover only budgetary central government, and changes in successive medium-term fiscal forecasts are
discussed only in qualitative terms with no reconciliation of what accounts for the changes.
Sources: IMF, Fiscal Rules Database; and IMF (2017d).

GOOD PRACTICE: The government states and regularly reports on a numerical objective for the main fiscal
aggregates, which is both precise and time bound.
149. A fiscal objective carries considerably more weight if it is to be achieved by a specified date, rather than
being stated as an open-ended commitment. Good practice is to establish intermediate milestones to determine with precision if progress is being made year by year to reach the fiscal objective. If the date for achieving
the objective is specified too far in the future, it may be difficult to define these intermediate steps. Moreover,
the more distant the objective, the more likely that forecasts will place it outside the range of reasonable probabilities of achievement given existing policy. Box 3.19 provides an example of how fiscal rules are defined in
Colombia and Peru.
ADVANCED PRACTICE: The government states and regularly reports on a numerical objective for the main
fiscal aggregates, which is both precise and time bound and has been in place for three or more years.
150. Fiscal objectives are credible not only when they are defined in precise terms and are time bound but also
when the government demonstrates a commitment to adhere to them. To provide a credible anchor for decision making, fiscal objectives must have been in place long enough, at least a period of three or four years,
and any changes to specified fiscal targets/objectives should have been undertaken only under the respective
escape clauses under the fiscal rule. If fiscal objectives change frequently, they do not provide consistent
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Box 3.19. Colombia and Peru: Numerical and Time-Bound Fiscal Policy Objectives

Colombia adopted a fiscal rule in 2012 that stipulates a central government structural deficit of 1 percent of GDP, or less, from 2022
onward, with a declining transition path between 2012 and 2021. Intermediate targets of 2.3 percent of GDP by 2014 and 1.9 percent
of GDP by 2018 have also been set. Additionally, the law requires that, in each intervening year, the structural deficit must be lower
than in the previous year. The government’s medium-term fiscal plan contains multi-annual primary balance targets that guide budget
decisions and expenditure and revenue measures.
Peru’s fiscal policy objectives are clearly stated and embedded in time-bound numerical fiscal rules set by the 2013 Fiscal Responsibility
and Transparency Law (FRTL) and reported against. Before 2014, the government’s fiscal objectives were set by the 1999 FRTL, which
included fiscal rules focusing on budget balance targets, spending ceilings and debt limits for the nonfinancial public sector (NFPS), and
central and subnational governments. Since 2005, the actual compliance with the fiscal rules were regularly reported to the legislature for
the nonfinancial public sector and the central government while compliance by subnational governments was not systematically reported.
The 2013 FRTL law sets spending limits for the general government (used to determine spending ceilings for the national and subnational
governments) anchored in a structural fiscal target for the nonfinancial public sector, together with debt rules for different levels of government and other more specific rules. Since the FTE was undertaken (in December 2016), the NFPS Fiscal Responsibility and Transparency
Framework (FRTF) has been revised and strengthened. The new framework establishes that the NFPS is subject to joint compliance with four
fiscal rules, based on measurable variables (debt ceiling, fiscal deficit, general government nonfinancial spending growth, and general government current spending growth excluding maintenance). For the subnational governments, two rules were established to limit indebtedness levels and current expenditures. Besides this, the FRTF includes corrective measures in case of noncompliance with the fiscal rules.
Sources: IMF (2015d); and IMF Executive Director’s Office for Peru.

guidance for the preparation of the annual budget or MTFFs or enable progress on achieving the objectives
to be measured. The effectiveness of a fiscal objective that has been in place for less than three years is hard to
evaluate. An example of advanced practice in Chile is provided in Box 3.20.



Box 3.20. Chile: Structural Balance Rule

In 2001, Chile adopted a structural balance rule under which government expenditures are budgeted in line with structural revenues, that
is, revenues that would be achieved if (i) the economy were operating at full potential and (ii) the prices of copper were at their long-term
levels. Independent experts are used to calculate the structural parameters that define the level of structural revenues. A fiscal council,
established in 2013, oversees two independent committees—on, respectively, potential GDP and long-term copper mineral prices—and
ensures that the parameters are correctly used in the computation of the structural balance. The Fiscal Responsibility Law requires that
the main fiscal target be defined at the beginning of each presidential administration by decree. Annually, the Ministry of Finance produces two reports to Congress on the performance of the fiscal target under the structural balance rule. The first report is published in
July (Evaluación de la Gestión Financiera del Sector Público y Actualización de Proyecciones) and contains information on the fiscal target
from the previous year. The second report is published in October (Informe de Finanzas Publicas) and contains the fiscal target for the
next fiscal year, in line with the fiscal objective defined for the administration period.
Source: IMF, Fiscal Rules Database.

PRINCIPLE 2.3.2. Performance Information
Budget documentation provides information regarding the objectives and results achieved
under each major government policy area.
151. Performance information helps justify the allocation of public resources, measure the effective use of those
resources, and enforce accountability of the officials who manage these resources. Government spending
is aimed at achieving stated policy objectives, such as higher literacy, preventive health care, and more effi-
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cient transportation. Together with the funds’ allocations, a clear specification of the quantity of services to
be provided and their intended results is important for assessing the appropriateness of funding levels. Ex
post analysis of what was achieved by spending through the budget, compared to what was intended, sheds
light on the effectiveness of public programs and the proficiency of managers to whom public funds were
entrusted. Performance information can also be used to drive cost efficiencies in service delivery. Although
not a prerequisite, many countries have adopted a program classification, which enables a more precise definition of policies and their link to budget allocations (see Box 3.21 and Principle 1.3.1). There is an extensive
literature on performance budgeting and management: see, for example, Robinson and Last (2009); Robinson
(2013); and Curristine and Flynn (2013).



Box 3.21. Key Characteristics of a Program Classification

A program is a set of activities that meets specific policy objectives of the government (e.g., primary education, or the development of
crop production). In contrast to a functional classification, a classification by program focuses on the government’s policy objectives
and how these policies will be implemented. Programs may be subdivided into activities (e.g., the vaccination activity within a disease
prevention program), which in turn may encompass a series of related initiatives and projects.
Classifying expenditures by program serves two purposes: (i) identifying and clarifying the goals and objectives of government spending and (ii) monitoring operational performance through indicators that may relate to the inputs, outputs, or outcomes of a particular
program.
Source: Jacobs and others (2009).

152. Performance information is usually defined around inputs, outputs, and outcomes. Definitions of these
concepts and other key terms are provided in Box 3.22.



Box 3.22. Definition of Key Terms Related to Performance Information

•

Input: Amount of resources used to produce outputs, usually expressed in money terms (e.g., wages, purchase of goods) or the
number of people employed.

•

Output: Products or services delivered by a program or an organizational entity (e.g., the number of inspections done by a regulatory agency, the number of student days of instruction), usually expressed in terms of quantity, quality, and cost. “Quality” can be
defined in terms of timeliness, accessibility, and customer satisfaction.

•

Outcome: Events, occurrences, or changes in conditions related to the achievement of policy objectives (e.g., the improvement in
the quality of air, the knowledge of children as measured on standardized tests). Outcomes can be expressed in general societal
terms, or at a level more immediate to the organization in question (intermediate outcomes).

Other concepts related to performance include:
•
Economy: Purchase of inputs at the lowest cost
•

Efficiency: Inputs consumed for producing one unit of output

•

Productivity: Units of output produced per unit of input/time

•

Effectiveness: Units of output required to achieve desired outcome level

Source: IMF staff.
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153. The choice of performance indicators determines their effectiveness. Great care must be taken when establishing performance indicators.89 They should be proposed by line ministries because these entities know their
programs best, but the proposals should be validated centrally to ensure that they are, indeed, useful in measuring program effectiveness. Experience has shown that a relatively small number of indicators are generally
preferable to a larger number because collecting data takes effort, and information on a few indicators tends
to be more consistent, timely, and easier to analyze than data for many indicators.
154. Performance data are increasingly used for formal control and accountability purposes. For much of the
history of budgeting, control and accountability mechanisms have focused on inputs, such as wages, travel
expenses, and goods and services. In many advanced economies, the shift to a performance-oriented budget
system has been accompanied with changes in the control and accountability frameworks. Program managers
in these systems are given greater discretion in the use of resources and deciding the input mix. This increase
in flexibility, and reduction in central controls, is counterbalanced by enhanced internal controls and oversight mechanisms. In addition, a stronger accountability mechanism holds the managers accountable for the
results of their operations. The accountability framework in these systems seeks to demand achievement of
results and not just compliance with procedures in using the inputs.
155. Regular and timely performance reporting is central to a well-functioning performance budgeting system.
Performance budgeting without active monitoring of results, both in-year and ex post, represents an unfulfilled promise. A well-developed monitoring system, including specification of data to be reported with a clear
link to objectives, outputs and outcomes promised in the budget, validation of data, and regular reporting, is
necessary for both good and advanced practice (see Box 3.23 for Canada example). Arrangements should exist
at the central level as well as in line departments to collect, collate, and report performance information for
both internal and external reporting in a harmonized manner.



Box 3.23. Canada: Monitoring and Evaluation System

Canada has a well-developed monitoring and evaluation (M&E) system integrated with its performance budgeting process. The M&E
system is overseen by the Treasury Board Secretariat (TBS) and carried out by evaluation units set up in each federal department. The TBS
reviews each departmental performance report before it is sent to Parliament. Performance monitoring focusing on outputs is conducted
on an ongoing (in-year) basis, coupled with more sophisticated evaluations focusing on program and policy outcomes.
Source: Lahey (2010).

LEVELS OF PRACTICE FOR PRINCIPLE 2.3.2
BASIC PRACTICE: Budget documentation includes information on the inputs acquired under each major
government policy area.
156. Basic practice requires that the budget documentation present information on the inputs—e.g., staff and
financial resources—used to deliver policy objectives. In the most basic form, budgets should report financial
allocations by spending units, using a combination of an administrative and an economic classification. Some
countries also present this information by program, projects, or activities. Reporting information on inputs is
relatively basic but helps with tracking the cost of government operations.90

89

A comprehensive yet succinct analysis of this challenge can be found in Castro (2011).

90

Most low-income countries, and many emerging market economies, may move beyond this basic level of practice only in the medium to longer term, as their budget systems are sufficiently decentralized to the line ministry or agency level.
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GOOD PRACTICE: Budget documentation reports targets for, and performance against, the outputs to be
delivered under each major government policy area.
157. Good practice requires that the budget documentation present information on the outputs to be produced
under each major policy area and link them to the allocated resources to provide some basis as to how
prudently and efficiently the resources are being spent. For example, the government may choose to achieve
a policy objective of reducing the incidence of maternal and neonatal mortality by increasing the number of
consultations with pregnant women, which would be the deliverable outputs in this case. At a minimum,
the information presented should include deliverables that are planned for the budget year (see Box 3.24 for
Malawi example), as well as a comparison of actual performance against the previous year targets, along with
respective financial allocations/outturns.



Box 3.24. Malawi: Presentation of Output Information

Beginning in 2011, Malawi presented output-based information for core functions in its three-year medium-term budget document. Outputs
are provided separately for the recurrent and development portions of the budget and cover the budget year plus one forward year. Budgeted
amounts by items (economic classification) for recurrent and development expenditures continue to be presented for each item of voted
expenditure. Outputs are defined to be specific, measurable, achievable, relevant, and time bound and can be monitored and evaluated.
Source: Government of Malawi, 2011, Budget Document Number 5.

ADVANCED PRACTICE: Budget documentation reports targets for, and performance against, the outcomes to
be achieved under each major government policy area.
158. Advanced practice requires the reporting of outcomes under each of the major policy areas to help assess
the government’s achievement of intended policy objectives. For example, reducing the incidence of maternal
and neonatal mortality is an outcome resulting from consultations by health professions with pregnant women.
Outcomes may take a longer time to achieve and progress more difficult to measure on an annual basis. Often,
sophisticated evaluation techniques are required to separate the effect of the government services from other
influences. Therefore, outcome indicators need to be designed with care, keeping in view their measurability.
Most governments use outcome indicators together with output and input information (see Box 3.25 for Peru
example). Outcome indicators are most relevant if they are related to the policy objectives and reflect the key
challenges in the policy field. While a set of indicators will need to be used to operationalize the objective, there
is a risk of defining too many, and partly irrelevant, indicators. There is also a danger that advanced practice may
become a largely paper exercise with only limited impact of decision making and actual performance.



Box 3.25. Peru: Performance Information and the Budget Process

In Peru, implementation of a performance-based budgeting system (Presupuesto por Resultados) started in 2007. This strategy consists of
budget programs, performance indicators, independent evaluations, and incentive schemes for goal achievement. More than 70 percent
of the budget is presented by program. Performance information is elaborated at the three government levels (central, regional, and local).
The performance information on the outcomes of major policy areas is regularly disclosed, with some results included in budget documentation. Both outcome and output indicators are produced for monitoring the performance of budget programs. Each indicator is
selected after a review process conducted by the Budget Unit of the Ministry of Economy and Finance. All performance indicators are
available online and linked to budget execution (“Resulta” website). The entities responsible for each budgetary program ensure the
quality of the information submitted and establish the baseline, and targets on performance outcome and output indicators, under the
coordination and oversight of the Ministry of Economy and Finance. Since 2013, budget documentation includes forecasts for a selection
of the indicators considered most important and compares forecasts with past performance.
Source: IMF (2015d).
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PRINCIPLE 2.3.3. Public Participation
The government provides citizens with an accessible summary of the implications of budget
policies and an opportunity to participate in budget deliberations.
159. Public participation in the budget process provides an opportunity to include all citizens in the budget process
in a manner that is complementary to the constitutional roles of the executive, legislature, and supreme audit
institution. Public participation is especially useful to collect information on the perceived quality of services being
provided, identify problems that are not being addressed, and establish priorities within specified funding amounts
for a sector or program. It can also provide valuable input to fiscal policy decisions that relate to interpersonal equity
(e.g., the design of the tax scale or of transfer programs) and intergenerational equity (e.g., the size of public debt).
160. Public participation may be invited at various stages in the fiscal management process. It will generally occur
during the annual budget cycle but may also take place with respect to fiscal policy issues that take place over a
longer time frame than the annual budget cycle (e.g., major tax or spending reviews, or public debate on large
infrastructure projects). Participation can take several forms, such as a call for contributions to medium-term planning; consultation by central finance agencies or line ministries on the selection of specific projects or spending
initiatives for inclusion in the annual budget submissions; engagement at the time of the legislative scrutiny of
the government’s prebudget statement or main budget proposals; and oversight of budget implementation, especially of major capital projects and social sector programs and service delivery. Participation can occur at different
levels—local, provincial, national—and involve a wide range of participants—for example, citizens, civil society
organizations, and technical experts.91 The choice of institution(s) and modalities is generally based on a variety of
considerations, including a country’s legal and political environment, technical aspects of policymaking processes,
public pressure for greater participation, and the capacity and interests of civil society actors. However, to be meaningful, public participation should be inclusive and open to avoid special interest groups dominating the discussion (Box 3.26 summarizes key elements of GIFT’s Principles of Public Participation). Research92 also finds that for
public engagement to provide useful input on establishing priorities across sectors and programs, it should leverage new communication technologies and clearly specify the objectives at various stages of public engagement.
3.26. Key Elements of the Global Initiative for Fiscal Transparency Principles of Public Participation
	Box
in Fiscal Policy
Openness: Provide full information on and be responsive with respect to the purpose of each engagement; its scope, constraints,
intended outcomes, process, and timelines; as well as the expected and actual results of public participation.
Inclusiveness: Proactively use multiple mechanisms to reach out to engage citizens and nonstate actors, including traditionally excluded
and vulnerable groups and individuals, and voices that are seldom heard, without discrimination on any basis.
Timeliness: Allow sufficient time in the budget and policy cycles for the public to provide inputs in each phase, engage early while a
range of options is still open, and, where desirable, allow for more than one round of engagement.
Depth: Support each public engagement by providing all relevant information; highlighting and informing key policy objectives, options,
choices, and trade-offs; identifying potential social, economic, and environmental impacts; and incorporating a diversity of perspectives.
Provide timely and specific feedback on public inputs and how they have been incorporated or not in official policy or advice.
Proportionality: Use a mix of engagement mechanisms proportionate to the scale and impact of the issue or policy concerned.
Sustainability: Institutionalize public participation where appropriate and effective, ensuring that feedback provided leads to review of
fiscal policy decisions, and regularly review and evaluate experience to improve future engagement.
Complementarity: Ensure mechanisms for public participation and citizen engagement complement and increase the effectiveness of
existing governance and accountability systems.
Source: Global Initiative for Fiscal Transparency (GIFT), Guide on the Principles and Mechanisms of Public Participation in Fiscal Policy, March 2016.

91

See, for example, Global Initiative for Fiscal Transparency (GIFT) public participation case studies (http://guide.fiscaltransparency.net/).

92

For a good summary, see Marchessault (2014) and Olken (2007). The World Bank’s 2016 World Development Report on e-government
devotes a chapter to using communications technology to engage citizens on public policy issues and describes the challenges in
doing so. See also de Renzio and Wehner, 2015, at http://www.fiscaltransparency.net/resourcesfiles/files/20150704112.pdf.
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161. The starting point for public participation is publication of easy-to-understand economic and fiscal information, including the government’s budget policies. Budget information should be presented in a clear manner that can be easily understood by the general public, including the use of plain language and user-friendly
graphics and charts. In addition, making budget data available in free open data format enables external
parties to analyze the data and contribute to public deliberation. Establishing a single Fiscal Data Portal as an
entry point for all fiscal data can greatly increase the accessibility of fiscal information. An increasing number of countries are publishing a citizen’s guide to the budget (see an indicative outline in Box 3.27).93 Such a
guide—which in some countries is only a few pages long and in others runs to 50 pages or more—typically
includes a description of the country’s economic and fiscal outlook in simple language, as well as a discussion of key economic and fiscal policies and their distributional impacts on varying income and demographic
groups, including an assessment of gender-related issues where relevant. Selected performance information,
discussed in Principle 2.3.2, should also be disclosed, as well as information on any changes in tax policies or
rates announced in the budget. The key objective is to ensure citizens have a clear understanding of the impact
of fiscal and budgetary policies, regardless of their income, education, or geographic location.



Box 3.27. Suggested Outline of a Citizen’s Guide to the Budget

Part One: Introduction—The government’s objectives in publishing the guide; the place of the annual budget in public finance legislation; a very brief description of the coverage of the budget and the budget process, including opportunities for public participation.
Part Two: The Economic Outlook and Government Objectives—Macroeconomic forecasts and the main assumptions underlying
the budget; the sensitivity of the fiscal aggregates to variations in key economic assumptions; the government’s national development
strategy; and medium-term fiscal policy objectives.
Part Three: The Government’s Accounts and Budget Prospects—Aggregate revenues, expenditures, and the fiscal balance over a
medium-term horizon where available, including the broad allocation of spending and sources of revenue, and comparative figures for
the previous year; public debt, fiscal risks, and the sustainability of current policies and trends.
Part Four: New Policy Initiatives—A summary of the main budget initiatives; estimates of their fiscal effect and impacts on key policy
groups; contributions to meeting the government’s stated policy objectives.
Part Five: Improving the Delivery of Services—An outline of government policies to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of public
services, and an assessment of their impact, including performance indicators where relevant.
Source: Petrie and Shields (2010).

LEVELS OF PRACTICE FOR PRINCIPLE 2.3.3
BASIC PRACTICE: Government publishes an accessible description of recent economic and fiscal performance
and prospects, as well as a summary of the implications of the budget for a typical citizen.
162. A citizens’ guide to the budget would enable all interested citizens to conveniently obtain key information
on fiscal policies and the budget. Basic practice requires that governments publish accessible information
summarizing the economic and fiscal projections, as well as the main policy initiatives, with a discussion of
their impact on the average citizen. Multiple channels should be used for distribution to ensure access by
citizens of all means, education levels, and geographic location, particularly in countries where significant
parts of the population do not have easy Internet access. Common distribution channels are web pages; downloadable files from the Internet; newspaper inserts; printed documents available in government offices, public
libraries, and educational institutions; press releases; public hearings; and radio and television shows, and
some countries are disseminating through smartphones. See Box 3.28 for South Africa example.
93

See also the IBP guide on citizens budget (2013): https://www.internationalbudget.org/.
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Box 3.28. South Africa: Public Disclosure of Fiscal Information

The South Africa National Treasury publishes on its website key policy and program priorities over the coming 20 years and economic
and fiscal outlooks covering seven years: two prior years, the current year, the budget year, and three forward years. In addition, the
government prepares a four-page citizen’s guide to the budget that is published electronically, in newspapers, and as a pamphlet.
Source: South African authorities.

GOOD PRACTICE: Government publishes an accessible description of recent economic and fiscal performance
and prospects, as well as a summary of the implications of the budget for a typical citizen, and provides
citizens with a formal voice in budget deliberations.
163. Good practice is achieved when citizens have also a formal voice in budget deliberations in addition to
access to economic and fiscal information. The opportunity for citizens to provide inputs can occur at any
stage in the budget process before the budget is approved in its final form, and may be directed to line ministries, the ministry of finance, the council of ministers, or the legislature. Such input can be made in a wide
variety of forms and events, including verbal or written statements, comments on draft documents, participation in committees, and question and answer sessions with public officials, including those delivering public
services. Notification of solicitation of public comments must be made in a timely manner in an open and
inclusive manner, and pertinent information should be made available by a government agency before the
consultation process starts (See Box 3.29 for the example of Korea). The Open Budget Survey 2017 contains a
large number of country examples of public participation in budget preparation and budget implementation
by the executive branch, the legislature, and the SAI.



Box 3.29. Korea: Open Discussion of Budget Issues

Korea introduced extensive public participation mechanisms in parallel with budget reforms beginning in 2003, such as the medium-term expenditure framework (MTEF). For example, an Open Discussion for the Public is held over five or six days in May and June of
each year to review expenditure ceilings and program priorities for 12 sectors. The discussions are held in a publicly accessible meeting
hall and are televised nationally.
Source: Korean authorities.

ADVANCED PRACTICE: Government publishes an accessible description of recent economic and fiscal
performance and prospects, as well as a summary of the implications of the budget for different
demographic groups and provides citizens with a formal voice in budget deliberations.
164. More evolved institutions make available targeted information on the possible impact of the budget on
identifiable segments of the population. Typically, programs, activities, or projects are targeted to different
demographic groups, including seniors, children, and mentally or physically disabled, and would also include gender-related budgeting initiatives. Demographic groups might be viewed as including gender, age,
socioeconomic status, educational attainment, ethnicity, and geographic location. There is no standard on
which to define the number, type, or size of demographic groups for this purpose. However, a program receiving large amounts of budget financing that is clearly targeting a segment of the population should reach
out to its target population. See Box 3.30 for the example of Uganda.
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Box 3.30. Uganda: Use of Sector Working Groups

The 1995 Constitution mandates the involvement of stakeholders in the formulation and implementation of development plans. The
key institution for achieving this mandate is sector working groups, chaired by line ministries and involving stakeholder representatives,
including individuals and civil society and private-sector organizations. Stakeholders are identified based on segments of the population
most affected by sector activities. In addition, the National Planning Authority, created in 2002—composed of central government, local
government, and stakeholder representatives—is designed to be a permanent forum for dialogue between government, civil society,
and the private sector in support of national economic development.
Source: Government of Uganda.

DIMENSION 2.4. CREDIBILITY
Economic and fiscal forecasts and budgets should be credible.
165. Credible economic and fiscal forecasts and a realistic budget are critical to acquire market and public confidence in the government’s fiscal strategy (see also Principle 2.1.2). It is essential for fiscal transparency that
forecasts are backed up with assurances to the legislature and the public about the integrity of the data, and
the methods and assumptions used in making the forecasts and preparing the budget. Assurance mechanisms
should contribute over time to improving the quality of forecasts and making them more robust. The Code’s
principles on the credibility of fiscal forecasts and budgets focus on three key aspects:
•

An evaluation of the government’s macroeconomic and fiscal forecasts by independent experts helps
improve the forecasts’ realism and credibility and contributes to the development of forecasting capacity
(2.4.1). The assumptions underlying the forecasts—including the price and production level of natural resources—must therefore be accurately presented in the budget documentation and available for scrutiny
by independent experts. Transparency in the setting of assumptions will reduce the risk of overly optimistic scenarios being chosen in preparing forecasts of economic growth or inflation.

•

Once the budget is enacted, any significant modifications to the appropriations should only be allowed
after scrutiny and approval by the legislature through a supplementary budget process (2.4.2). The recourse to supplementary budgets should be taken primarily to address the impact of unforeseen and
unavoidable circumstances and not to cover for inadequacies in the annual budget formulation process.

•

A transparent reconciliation of the successive vintages of forecasts and a clear explanation of the reasons behind changes to forecasts (2.4.3) are critical to establishing and demonstrating the credibility of
forecasts.

Table 3.5 provides a list of relevant standards, norms, and guidance material related to dimension 2.4 of the Code.
Table 3.5. Relevant Standards, Norms, and Guidance Material
Standards/Guidance
Material

Brief Description

PEFA

Includes three related indicators: PI-16 on the medium-term perspective in budgeting; PI-18.4 on rules
for budget adjustment by the executive; and PI-21.4 on the significance of in-year budget adjustments.
See PEFA (2016b). www.PEFA.org.

OECD Best Practices for
Budget Transparency

Recommends that the budget should include a medium-term perspective illustrating how revenue and
expenditure will develop during, at least, the two years beyond the next fiscal year. Similarly, the current budget proposal should be reconciled with forecasts contained in earlier fiscal reports for the same
period, and all significant deviations should be explained. See OECD, 2002. http://www.oecd.org/gov/
budgeting/best-practices-budget-transparency.htm
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Table 3.5. (Continued)
Standards/Guidance
Material

Brief Description

International Budget
Partnership, Open Budget
Survey

The Open Budget Survey conveys standards of good practice through its questions addressing the link
between the executive’s budget proposal and information provided on new and existing policy proposals.
https://www.internationalbudget.org/open-budget-survey/

OECD Recommendations
of the Council on Principles for Independent Fiscal
Institutions, 2014

Provides guidance on issues to consider in the design and governance of independent fiscal institutions,
codifying lessons learned and good practices. http://www.oecd.org/gov/budgeting/OECD-Recommendationon-Principles-for-Independent-Fiscal-Institutions.pdf

PRINCIPLE 2.4.1.

Independent Evaluation

The government’s economic and fiscal forecasts and performance are subject to independent
evaluation.
166. As discussed in Principle 2.1.2, countries are prone to optimistic bias in their macroeconomic and fiscal forecasts. One way to help correct for bias is to introduce an independent evaluation mechanism—for
example, in the form of a fiscal council (Beetsma and Debrun, 2016; Debrun and Kinda, 2014; Hemming,
2013a; Hemming and Joyce, 2013; Kopits, 2011). Independent evaluation can help foster transparency over
the political cycle, can improve democratic accountability, and discourage opportunistic shifts in fiscal policy
(e.g., pre-electoral spending sprees). Independent analysis, assessments, and forecasts can also raise public
awareness of the consequences of certain policy paths, thus contributing to a culture of stability that directly
addresses fiscal illusion.94 Hence, they can raise the reputational and electoral costs of unsound policies and
broken commitments. Finally, an independent evaluation mechanism in the form of a fiscal council can provide direct inputs to the budget process—for example, assessments of structural positions95—thereby closing
technical loopholes that allow governments to circumvent numerical fiscal rules.
167. The role of fiscal councils usually includes one or more of the following functions:
•

Carrying out an independent analysis, review, and monitoring of the government’s fiscal policies, plans,
and performance;

•

Preparing independent macroeconomic and/or budgetary projections, or validating the forecasts made by
the government;

•

Costing of budget and policy proposals; and

•

Advising policymakers or legislators on policy options.

168. While fiscal councils routinely perform a broad oversight function (the first item listed previously), their
functions vary widely from country to country.96 For instance, the Netherlands Bureau for Economic Planning Analysis performs extensive forecasting and costing functions. However, it does not make judgments on
the appropriateness of the government’s budgetary plans. In contrast, the Swedish Fiscal Policy Council and
the Irish Fiscal Advisory Council engage in normative analysis but do not produce their own macroeconomic
forecasts, or the costing of new policy initiatives. Fiscal councils in Australia (the Parliamentary Budget Office) and the United States (the Congressional Budget Office) provide services mainly for the legislature (e.g.,
94

Fiscal illusion refers to a false perception of wealth created by debt-led spending.

95

A structural position is determined by separating and stripping out cyclical influences on a government’s fiscal position.

96

For example, in the European Union, the 2012 Fiscal Compact, agreed by all members of the euro area requires that each country
put in place an independent body to act as a monitoring institution to support the credibility and transparency of the required fiscal
consolidation. Most countries have now introduced such a fiscal council whose roles are to assess the credibility of the fiscal forecasts and to assess whether the fiscal plans meet the European fiscal rules.
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estimating the cost of new policies). Some countries have even established a division of labor between different institutions. In Belgium, the Federal Planning Bureau focuses strictly on the provision of macroeconomic
forecasts, whereas the High Council of Finance performs an oversight and monitoring function and must
provide policy recommendations, including on the distribution of the eventual fiscal effort among central and
subnational entities to comply with general government rules. Examples of fiscal councils from the United
Kingdom and the United States are shown in Box 3.33.
169. Setting up a fiscal council requires considerable resources and staff skills (Figure 3.3). Even in the United
Kingdom, which has a large pool of economists, most of the staff of the Office of Budget Responsibility came
from the ministry of finance (HM Treasury). For this reason, it is important to set the remit of the council in
line with the resources available (the analysis and review function can be done with relatively few staff, while
policy costing and policy advice require far greater resources). For low-capacity countries, establishing a
formal council may not be a priority. Some of the required functions (e.g., validation of macroeconomic forecasts) can be performed by a relatively small group of independent experts, either domestic or international,
without needing to divert human resources from the ministry of finance.
Figure 3.3. Number of Full-Time Equivalent Staff and Functions of Fiscal Councils
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& Costing

300
200

Assessment
& Forecasting
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Source: IMF (2013c).

170. To ensure that fiscal councils provide an effective service, it is important that their independence be protected. Fiscal councils in some countries have been weakened by the government after they made critical
assessments of the government’s fiscal forecasts and policy. Independence can be ensured through measures
such as merit-based selection of staff and clear nonpartisan appointment procedures, long and nonrenewable
terms of office, and protection of the council’s funding from executive discretion. The OECD’s Principles for
Independent Fiscal Institutions provides further guidance (OECD, 2014b). Independence of the entity conducting such an evaluation may present assessment challenges. While assessments of legal and institutional
measures such as those mentioned previously can assist, often the true measure of independence comes from
the institution’s reputation, which depends ultimately on its track record.

LEVELS OF PRACTICE FOR PRINCIPLE 2.4.1
BASIC PRACTICE: Budget documentation includes comparisons between the government’s economic and
fiscal projections and those of independent forecasters.
171. At a basic level, a comparison of the government’s forecasts with alternative forecasts of independent institutions would provide some check against optimism bias. For example, the government’s forecasts could
be compared with those of the IMF, the World Bank, or regional development banks. In low-capacity environments, where establishing an independent evaluation procedure may not be feasible, such a comparison
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would be useful for users of fiscal information in judging the realism of the government’s budget forecasts.
Comparisons can also be made with forecasts available from other domestic sources, such as the central bank,
the supreme audit institution, think tanks, research institutes, private-sector analysts, and academics. See
Box 3.31 for the example of Russia.



Box 3.31. Russia: Scrutiny of Government’s Macroeconomic and Fiscal Projections

In Russia, the Accounts Chambers—which is the supreme audit institution—is charged with assessing the government’s Budget Proposal and
issues its opinion, including an evaluation of the government’s macroeconomic assumptions, in early October each year as an input into the
parliamentary scrutiny of the budget. This evaluation covers the oil price, GDP, and inflation and exchange rate, including comparisons with
forecasts of commercial banks and international finance institutes. In addition, the Ministry of Economic Development engages a number
of think tanks and research institutes such as the Economic Expert Group and the Academy of Science during the preparation of macroeconomic forecasts.
Source: IMF (2014e).

GOOD PRACTICE: An independent entity evaluates the credibility of the government’s economic and fiscal
forecasts.
172. To strengthen the credibility of economic and fiscal forecasts, an independent entity could assess the credibility of the government’s forecasts on their own merits. An external evaluation provides a more targeted
assessment of the budget forecasts than a simple comparison to alternative forecasts, as it can examine the
assumptions, rationale, cost drivers, and policy inputs feeding into the forecasts. This evaluation should preferably examine (i) the realism of the forecast assumptions, such as GDP growth, exchange and interest rates,
and commodity prices; (ii) how these assumptions translate into economic and fiscal projections; (iii) whether
they are consistent with historical relationships, trends, and models; and (iv) whether the fiscal forecasts accurately reflect the cost of existing and announced policies. See Box 3.32 for the example of Georgia.



Box 3.32. Georgia: Assessments of the Government’s Macroeconomic and Fiscal Forecasts

The Parliamentary Budget Office (PBO) in Georgia provides regular assessments of the governments’ macroeconomic and fiscal forecasts. The
PBO was established in 1997 and has been independent since 2014. As required under its charter, the PBO produces the following reports:
•

Annual macroeconomic forecasts and evaluations of the government’s forecasts. Since 2016, the PBO has begun publishing
independent macroeconomic forecasts three times a year, and its reports include a comparison with, and evaluation of, the government’s published forecasts;

•

An opinion on the draft state budget, which includes an overview of the government’s forecasts and other indicators included in
the state budget;

•

Monthly, quarterly, and annual reports on budget execution, which analyze deviations of revenues and expenditures from the
approved budget;

•

An annual fiscal policy review and annual review of the public finances of local governments;

•

Regular analysis of debt sustainability; and

•

Assessments of the fiscal implications of draft legislation, including providing a view on the reliability of costings of measures
included in new legislation.

While the PBO publishes a large volume of relevant fiscal analysis, it does not publish regular and complete assessments of the government’s performance against its fiscal rules. This function is not directly included in its legal mandate, although the PBO has produced a
one-off publication on the government’s fiscal rules and provides some limited discussion about fiscal developments in relation to the
some of the fiscal rules, primarily the deficit rule, in its publications.
Source: IMF (2017b).
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ADVANCED PRACTICE: An independent entity evaluates the credibility of the government’s economic and
fiscal forecasts and its performance against its fiscal policy objectives.
173. Under advanced practice the independent evaluation extends beyond an ex ante assessment of forecasts
to an ex post assessment of the government’s fiscal performance. This dimension adds greater credence and
transparency to a government’s performance reporting. Such an evaluation should assess the government’s
actual fiscal performance against its stated fiscal objectives, and, where relevant, compliance with fiscal rules.
See Box 3.33 for the examples of the United Kingdom and the United States.

	Box 3.33. UK Independent Office of Budget Responsibility and US Congressional Budget Office

The United Kingdom’s independent Office of Budget Responsibility (OBR) produces the official economic and fiscal forecasts of the U.K.
government and assesses the government’s performance against its fiscal targets. Twice a year, the OBR publishes five-year forecasts
for the economy and public finances. The OBR also conducts analyses of long-term fiscal sustainability and has sign-off responsibility
on the U.K. Treasury’s policy costings. It does not provide policy advice nor consider policy options. To demonstrate its lack of bias ex
ante, the OBR provides all of its models to the public and performs rigorous ex post forecast evaluations. The OBR was established in
2010 to increase the credibility of the government’s fiscal forecasts and to address optimistic biases in forecasting. Its independence
is enshrined in the 2011 Budget Responsibility and National Audit Act. This law also requires a five-yearly independent review of the
OBR’s performance. The first such review concluded that the OBR is perceived as politically independent, transparent, accountable, and
credible, and that its core reports generally meet or surpass international standards.
The CBO of the United States is an independent agency of the legislative branch that was established in 1974. It is a nonpartisan agency
with over 200 professional staff and a broad mandate that includes reviewing the government’s forecasts, producing alternative forecasts, and conducting independent analysis, review, and monitoring of the government’s fiscal policies. It produces costings of the
president’s and Congress’ legislative proposals. It also scores the cost of individual and cumulative legislative proposals against the
budget baseline.
The CBO presents an alternative fiscal outlook to that given in the president’s annual budget proposal. It prepares baseline budget projections and economic forecasts (for a 10-year period) that help Congress develop its own budget resolution. CBO also produces fiscal
sustainability reports with projections that span from 25 up to 75 years. The CBO has a reputation as an objective and credible source of
information. Its own forecasting record compares favorably to the governments and to the private sector. The CBO’s costing and scoring
of presidential and congressional policy proposals have influenced the debate on these issues.
Sources: IMF (2013c); and OECD (2014b).

PRINCIPLE 2.4.2. Supplementary Budget
Any material changes to the approved budget are authorized by the legislature.
174. In general, once the budget is enacted, the legislature should approve significant modifications to the
appropriations through a process that allows it to scrutinize the proposed changes. A supplementary budget may authorize (i) an increase of total expenditures when revenues are higher than forecast or additional
spending cannot be financed through a reallocation of resource within the initialbudget; (ii) any significant reallocation of the originally-approved appropriations that would result in altering the character of the original
budget; (iii) a new expenditure proposal that was not part of the original budget, or significantly enhances the
scale of an existing expenditure, even when financed from savings available elsewhere within the approved
budget; and (iv) a decrease of total expenditure and reallocation between items when revenues are less than
forecast. Figure 3.4 shows the timing of approval of supplementary budgets by the legislature in a range of
countries. In countries where the law permits the executive to make amendments to the approved budget
without the approval of the legislature, such amendments should be subject to clear conditions and limits,
and regularly disclosed.
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Figure 3.4. Timing of Most Recent Supplementary Budget Approval
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Source: Open Budget Survey 2015, Question 112 (https://www.internationalbudget.org/wp-content/uploads/OBS2015-Questionnaire-and-Guidelines-English.pdf).

175. Unexpected macroeconomic developments and new emergency policy priorities should be the main reasons to submit a supplementary budget to the legislature. These reasons can include an epidemic outbreak,
natural disasters, surge or collapse of commodity prices, or economic and financial crises. The realization
of guarantees or other contingent liabilities could also justify the submission of a supplementary budget.
In some countries, supplementary budgets may provide ex post legislative approval of reallocations (virements97) within or between spending categories. Some countries adopt several supplementary budgets per
year. Overuse of the instrument could reflect poor macro-fiscal forecasts, insufficient knowledge of the cost of
public policies, ineffective budget preparation procedures, or the inability of the government to execute the
enacted budget, and undermine the credibility of the budget.
176. Ensuring effective control by the legislature of changes to the enacted budget requires rules that vary
across countries and include
•

a legal framework that defines clear limits to the government’s power to increase the total level of expenditure or modify the appropriations approved by the legislature;

•

rules related to virements clearly define the amount of resources that can be moved within or across approved appropriations without recourse to a supplementary budget;98

97

A virement is a reallocation of resources by the executive from one expenditure line to another, usually within a program or a category of expenditure, which is neutral in terms of the overall expenditure envelope.

98

Rules related to virements should clearly define (i) who is authorized to propose and approve a virement; (ii) limits—in nominal
or percentage terms—on the amount of resources that spending entities are legally authorized to move within or across approved
appropriations without recourse to a supplementary budget; (iii) any other restrictions or prohibitions (e.g., on virements involving certain categories of expenditure); and (iv) how such changes should be reported to the legislature. See Saxena and Yläoutinen
(2016).
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•

a process for the review, approval, and publication of a supplementary budget that follows procedures
similar to the annual budget; and

•

procedures for the presentation of the supplementary budget that follow a similar classification and format to the annual budget, with any changes to the approved budget being clearly identified and described.

LEVELS OF PRACTICE FOR PRINCIPLE 2.4.2
BASIC PRACTICE: A supplementary budget regularizes expenditure exceeding the approved budget.
177. At a minimum, the executive should seek ex post legislative approval when expenditures have exceeded
the authorization granted by the legislature. In some countries, legal frameworks may allow the executive
to spend more than the approved budget, subject to clear limits, under certain circumstances—for example, if more-than-expected revenues are mobilized, or in response to natural disasters or other emergencies.
Such excesses in expenditure should at least be reported to the legislature for information, or their ex post
authorization.
GOOD PRACTICE: A supplementary budget is required prior to material changes to total budgeted
expenditure.
178. Good practice requires that no material increase in total expenditure be undertaken by the executive without prior legislative authorization. Any material changes to the approved budget that result in increasing
the aggregate level of authorized expenditure must be scrutinized and approved by the legislature before any
new spending can take place. When such mechanisms are not enforced, the executive’s budget proposal may
not provide a fair view of the revenue and expenditure plans of the government, and legislative control of
the budget is fundamentally weakened. See Box 3.34 for the example of Kenya. As an exception, in the case of
countries where the law permits the executive to make amendments to the approved budget, subject to clearly
defined limits, without the prior approval of the legislature, the executive should report to the legislature information on such changes at least annually.

3.34. Kenya: Authorization by National Assembly of Changes to the Aggregate Approved
	Box
Budget
In Kenya, any material variation to the approved budget is subject to authorization by the National Assembly. The interpretation of material variation is relatively narrow. It includes increases to aggregate budgeted expenditures, as well as transfers between administrative
votes, programs, development and recurrent activities, and economic groupings (e.g., personal emoluments and goods and services).
The legal framework (Constitution Article 223, PFM Act Article 44) permits the retrospective authorization of budget increases of up to 10
percent of the aggregate approved budget and requires the parliamentary submission to be accompanied by a statement demonstrating how any additional expenditure relates to the fiscal principles. In practice, parliamentary approvals are sought prior to funds being
made available for commitment or payment purposes. The approval takes the form of a supplementary appropriation bill. The number of
supplementary bills is limited—generally to one per year following a midyear budget review, but a second if exceptional demands arise.
Source: IMF (2016d).

ADVANCED PRACTICE: A supplementary budget is required prior to material changes to total budgeted
expenditure or substantially altering its composition.
179. Advanced practice demands that no change in the approved budget that would fundamentally alter its
composition or policy objectives, be carried out without prior legislative approval. All material changes to
the approved budget, including reallocations across major policy areas, must be carried out with prior legislative approval through a supplementary budget (see Box 3.35 for Tunisia example). Material reallocations
between ministries, major policy areas (e.g., education to transport), or programs can be expected to alter the
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composition of the approved appropriations, thereby changing the policy objectives set out in the budget.
Materiality is often defined in legislation or in rules that define monetary thresholds. As an exception, in the
case of countries where the law permits the executive to make amendments to the approved budget, subject
to clear limits, without the prior approval of the legislature, the executive should provide the legislature with
information on such changes every quarter.



Box 3.35. Tunisia: Legislative Authorization to Changes in Expenditures

In Tunisia, a supplementary budget is presented and approved by the Parliament when increasing total expenditures or significantly
changing their composition. Budget modifications (to increase expenditures) are adopted during the year, through legislative or regulatory means. The executive is allowed a few procedures to amend the budget during the year by using the contingency reserve and virements, which are ultimately ratified in the budget law. The government makes regular use of these mechanisms up to a certain amount
as authorized under the law. For larger modifications, a supplementary budget law must be adopted. While there usually had been
the practice of one supplementary budget per fiscal year, recent years have seen an increase in the number of supplementary budgets
adopted throughout the year. This is due to the political instability in Tunisia since 2011 and the volatile economic environment. Two
supplementary budgets have been adopted each year between 2011 and 2015. Overspending against the approved budget (including
the supplementary budget) is rare and ratified in any case in the Loi de reglement.
Source: IMF (2016e).

PRINCIPLE 2.4.3. Forecast Reconciliation
Budget documentation and any subsequent updates explain any material changes to the
government’s previous fiscal forecasts, distinguishing the fiscal impact of new policy measures
from the baseline.
180. The credibility of a government’s fiscal forecasts depends on the consistency between successive vintages
of the forecasts.99 Forecasting is inherently uncertain, and these uncertainties can take several forms. For
example, there may be uncertainty about the structural evolution of the economy and unexpected economic
events or shocks. There may also be uncertainty about political decisions and future policy measures. In general, while every effort must be made to achieve precision in forecasting, the likelihood of any economic and
fiscal variable evolving precisely in line with a point forecast is relatively small. The presence of uncertainty
means that forecast deviations between successive vintages are not uncommon. Accountability demands that
governments provide a clear explanation of the impact of macroeconomic developments and discretionary
government actions on both revenue and expenditure. Moreover, a structured forecast reconciliation can play
an important role in shaping external expectations of fiscal strategy by minimizing speculations about the
causes of deviation between successive vintages of forecasts.100
181. The budget documentation should provide a comprehensive reconciliation of the government’s
medium-term expenditure estimates with those in the previous year’s budget. Observed changes can be
broadly decomposed into macroeconomic factors, changes in volume and caseload, the impact of discretionary policies, and classification changes. There should be a clear reconciliation table of the different vintages of
forecasts (as indicated in Table 3.6 for total expenditure) which would
•

begin with the previous year’s medium-term fiscal forecast;

•

adjust for any accounting or classification changes;

99

The frequency of forecast revisions is typically undertaken annually as part of the annual budget preparation process, but a revision
to the forecast could be triggered by macroeconomic developments (e.g., an exogenous shock) or by decisions to amend fiscal policy
objectives.

100

Forecast reconciliation refers to a systematic comparison and explanation of changes in successive vintages of forecasts for the same
period.
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•

identify the impact of changes in the baseline macroeconomic forecast, due to variations in economic and
demographic parameter;

•

identify the impact of policy decisions taken over the intervening period and in the budget; and

•

show the new fiscal forecasts over the medium term.

Table 3.6. Indicative Reconciliation Table for Expenditure
2014
Budget Year

2015
BY+1

2016
BY+2

100

110

120

- Accounting or one-off

-5

-6

-8

- Macroeconomic factors

3

4

6

- Policy measures

0

5

3

2014 Budget
Total Expenditure

2017

2018

Reconciliation in terms of:

Total Variation

-2

3

1

Estimated Actual

Budget Year

BY+1

BY+2

98

113

121

130

- Accounting or one-off

2

13

15

2015 Budget
Total Expenditure
Reconciliation in terms of:
- Macroeconomic factors

-2

-2

-3

- Policy measures

0

-11

-12

Total Variation

0

0

0

0

Estimated Actual

Budget Year

BY+1

BY+2

113

121

130

139

2016 Budget
Total Expenditure
Source: IMF staff.

LEVELS OF PRACTICE FOR PRINCIPLE 2.4.3
BASIC PRACTICE: Differences between successive vintages of the government’s revenue, expenditure, and
financing forecasts are shown at the aggregate level, with a qualitative discussion of the impact of new
policies on the forecasts.
182. The budget documents should clearly identify changes in aggregate-level forecasts and discuss the impact of
the proposed policy changes on these forecasts (see Box 3.36 for the example of Romania). The impact may or
may not be quantified separately from other variables. At this level of practice, revisions to the main macroeconomic variables, such as GDP, lags in the availability of fiscal data, and frequent revisions, may be included in the
aggregate level of impact but not described. Focusing the analysis only on the aggregates is far from ideal, as it
renders the evaluation of fiscal forecasts less comprehensive and informative; however, it is a good starting point.
Compensating forecast errors, which may be significant, would remain unidentified, as the driving forces and
factors affecting government revenues and expenditures might deviate significantly from one another.



Box 3.36. Romania: Identification of Changes in Aggregate-Level Forecasts

In Romania, the Fiscal and Budgetary Strategy document includes information about the changes in the main economic indicators and in
the aggregate fiscal variables. A qualitative discussion of the impact of new policies on the forecast is also provided but not quantitative
estimates of their individual costs or yield. Such information lends greater credibility to the recently introduced fiscal rules.
Source: IMF (2015f).
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GOOD PRACTICE: Differences between successive vintages of the government’s revenue, expenditure, and
financing forecasts are broken down into the overall effect of new policies and macroeconomic determinants.
183. Good practice requires a presentation that distinguishes the fiscal implications of new policy initiatives
from the impact of changes in macroeconomic variables. The fiscal implications of new policy changes
should be presented separately from the impact of changes in macroeconomic variables to allow the decision
makers and citizens to assess the affordability of new policies. Expected developments in the economy, and
the risks surrounding that outlook, should be clearly explained to allow stakeholders to consider the possible
alternatives to the current fiscal policy. If material deviations occur, an efficient process for evaluating the
causes of these changes, describing them clearly in the budget documents, and adjusting budgetary plans
accordingly, should be put in place.
ADVANCED PRACTICE: Differences between successive vintages of the government’s revenue, expenditure,
and financing forecasts are broken down into the effects of individual policy changes, macroeconomic
determinants, and other factors, such as technical and accounting adjustments.
184. Advanced practice demands that all changes in revenue, expenditure, and financing between the previous
and subsequent forecasts are fully explained and quantified. A decomposition of the variations in expenditure, revenue, and financing provides a clear picture of developments in government finances and highlights
the main factors driving the changes in the budget balance and the stock of debt (see Box 3.37 for an example
from Finland). It also allows analysts to check whether the forecasts are realistic in the light of projected macroeconomic and price developments, as well as the planned discretionary changes in government revenue
and expenditure, and to assess whether they are subject to significant upside or downside risks. Such a detailed approach can be very helpful, and even necessary, for budgeting purposes.
185. Forecast determinants should be separated out and presented both at summary level and to assess their
individual impact. The explanations provided may include changes in macroeconomic variables such as GDP
growth, inflation, and unemployment; revisions to important operational variables and coefficients specific
to programs or policy areas (e.g., a lower expected birth rate, or a higher level of immunization); changes to
government policy and expenditure priorities; or technical changes in accounting or the reclassification of
budget lines.



Box 3.37. Finland: Presentation of Forecast Reconciliations

The budget documentation provides a reconciliation of forecasts for several different budget aggregates:
•

Spending limits: For each spending limit, changes from previous forecasts are decomposed into the effects of structural changes
and price and cost-level adjustments.

•

Economic survey: A reconciliation of expenditures, revenues, and the fiscal balance is presented for general government, distinguishing changes due to macroeconomic parameters, discretionary spending, technical adjustments, and other factors.

•

General government fiscal plan: A reconciliation of forecasts, and analysis of deviations from the previous year’s fiscal plan
is presented.

•

Stability program: For the general government’s fiscal balance, deviations from the previous fiscal year’s forecasts are broken
down for each government sector into the effects of technical adjustments (revised statistical basis), macroeconomic determinants,
discretionary policy measures, and other factors. The forecasts are prepared and reconciled for four years ahead. In addition, divergences in the forecasts of GDP growth, general government net lending, and gross debt are disclosed.

Source: IMF (2015a).
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4	PILLAR III: FISCAL RISK ANALYSIS AND
MANAGEMENT
Governments should disclose, analyze, and manage risks to the public finances and ensure effective
  
coordination of fiscal decision making across the public sector.

186. Fiscal risks are factors that may cause fiscal outcomes to deviate from expectations or forecasts. These factors comprise potential shocks to government revenues, expenditures, assets, or liabilities, which are not reflected in the government’s fiscal forecasts or reports. Fiscal risks may arise from a range of different sources,
which can be classified into two main categories:
•

Macroeconomic risks. These arise when outturns differ from forecasts for key macroeconomic variables,
such as GDP, inflation, unemployment, interest rates, commodity prices, and exchange rates, which are
themselves important determinants of fiscal performance. Notably, sharp deviations in nominal GDP
growth may have large implications for government revenues as well as expenditures, and therefore for
public debt.

•

Specific fiscal risks. These arise from the realization of contingent liabilities or other uncertain events, such
as a natural disaster, the bailout of a troubled public corporation or subnational government by the central
government, or the collapse of a bank. Each of these events can entail both immediate and/or ongoing
costs to the government because of their explicit obligations (liabilities that have a legal or contractual
basis) or implicit obligations (“insurer of the last resort”), which are not established by law or contract
but are based on a moral obligation of the government that reflects public expectations and interest-group
pressures.

187. A country’s vulnerability to fiscal risks depends on the structure of its economy, the organization of the
public sector, and the interlinkages between the public and private sectors. The materialization of fiscal
risks over the past quarter of a century indicates that fiscal shocks can be large, are typically adverse, and are
highly correlated with each other (Bova and others, 2016; IMF, 2016b). Of the various fiscal risks that materialized over the period 1990–2014 (see Figure 4.1):101

101

•

Macroeconomic shocks have been relatively frequent and costly, with public finances typically hit by their
occurrence once every 12 years, with an average fiscal cost equivalent to around 9 percent of GDP.

•

Specific fiscal risks have also been costly, with public finances affected by their realization once every 12
years, on average, with an average fiscal cost equivalent to around 6 percent of GDP, and as much as 30–60
percent of GDP in some cases.

Macroeconomic shocks are based on episodes where nominal GDP growth falls by one standard deviation relative to its average,
with fiscal costs estimated as the loss in revenue resulting from lost output (compared to the case in which nominal GDP had continued to grow at the five-year average rate preceding the crisis). Other fiscal shocks are derived from the contingent liability data set
combined by Bova and others (2016).

95
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Figure 4.1. Costs of Fiscal Risk Realizations
1. Average Costs and Frequency
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188. A government’s ability to respond to fiscal risks partly depends on the quality of its information about the
magnitude and likelihood of potential shocks to the public finances. A comprehensive disclosure and analysis of fiscal risks can help governments to ensure that fiscal policy settings can respond to a range of potential
future economic and fiscal shocks, that specific risks are actively monitored and managed, and that abrupt
and disruptive changes in policy are avoided when risks materialize. Better understanding of fiscal risks,
greater transparency, and effective risk management practices can reduce the magnitude of the negative effect
on the fiscal balances and the economy and can help underpin credibility in the government’s management
of public finances and boost market confidence (IMF, 2012a). Because of their uncertain or contingent nature,
most fiscal risks are not reflected in statistical or accounting balance sheets or official forecasts of government
revenue, expenditure, or borrowing. Fiscal risks are therefore typically presented in supplements to the government’s fiscal forecasts, budgets, fiscal statistics, or financial statements.
189. While the quality of fiscal risk disclosure and analysis has improved in recent years, existing practices tend
to be incomplete, fragmented, and qualitative in nature (IMF, 2016b).
•

Only around one-third of countries publish any quantitative assessment of macro-fiscal risks, primarily
in the form of sensitivity analysis, with only a small number undertaking model-based scenario analyses
that explore the impact of shocks on several macroeconomic parameters simultaneously. Most macro-fiscal
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risk analyses tend to explore only modest-sized shocks, and assume risks are independent, symmetric,
and linear. Very few countries produce stochastic projections of key fiscal aggregates (fan charts) to highlight the uncertainty surrounding central forecasts.
•

A growing number of countries disclose data on specific fiscal risks in their budget documents, but only
one-fifth of countries publish a comprehensive and quantified fiscal risk statement. Disclosure generally
tends to focus on the maximum cost of potential liabilities, with little analysis of the probability that risks
will materialize, or their expected costs.

190. Once the key risks to the public finances have been identified and analyzed, it is important to develop appropriate strategies for their management and mitigation (Box 4.1). Risk management strategies can include
policy actions to reduce potential fiscal exposures, such as including allocations in the budget, establishing
buffer funds, setting limits on the exposure to specific types of risk, adopting regulations to discourage excessive risk-taking by individuals or specific sectors, and using market instruments to transfer and manage
risk (see Brixi and Schick, 2002; IMF, 2008; and Petrie, 2013). Decisions on whether, and how, to mitigate risks
will depend on the nature of risk exposures in individual countries, the cost trade-off between mitigating and
accommodating risks, and institutional capacities. Some risks may be too large to provision for, too costly to
mitigate, or simply not known with a sufficient degree of precision.



Box 4.1.

The Fiscal Risk Management Toolkit

The management of fiscal risks can be divided into four stages (Figure 4.1.1):
(i)

Identifying the sources of fiscal risks and assessing their size and likelihood of realization. The objective should be to assess the
maximum possible loss as well as the most likely fiscal impact. In cases where probabilities are difficult to assign, risks may be classified into categories (e.g., probable, possible, and remote) based on judgments to assess their likelihood of occurrence.

(ii)

Assessing which mitigating measures could be taken to reduce fiscal exposure. Such measures could be broadly categorized as (i)
those that impose a direct control aimed at limiting exposure (e.g., a ceiling on the issuance or stock of guarantees); (ii) regulation
charges, incentives, and other indirect measures that would reduce risk-taking behavior (e.g., bank capital adequacy requirements,
guarantee fees); (iii) risk sharing (e.g., partial guarantees) that also aims to discourage risk taking; and (iv) risk transfer to avoid or
minimize impact (e.g., insurance, securitization).

(iii) Determining whether to budget for unmitigated risks. In general, three budgetary mechanisms are available to accommodate
risks—appropriations for costs, rather than cash; contingency appropriations of an appropriate size that could be tapped as needed;
and buffer funds built overtime by setting aside resources for meeting the costs of larger risks should they materialize.
(iv) Determining whether additional fiscal headroom is needed to accommodate some or all remaining fiscal risks, and take informed
decisions on building a safety margin relative to their debt ceiling.

Figure 4.1.1. Four Stages of Fiscal Risks Management
Identify and quantify
risks

•Identify sources of risk
•Calculate fiscal exposure
•Estimate likelihood of realization

Decide whether to
mitigate risks

•Direct controls and limits on exposures
•Regulation, incentives, and other indirect
measures
•Transfer and risk sharing mechanisms

Decide whether to
provision for risks

•Expense fiscal costs in the budget
•Budget contigencies
•Set aside financial assets in buffer funds

Decide whether to
accomodate residual
risks

•Take into account in setting debt
objectives

Source: IMF (2016b).
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191. Sound institutional arrangements are needed for an effective and integrated approach to risk analysis and
management. For a fully informed conduct of fiscal policy, the entity that plays the key role in formulating
and managing fiscal policy (typically the ministry of finance) should have access to all relevant information
about fiscal risks and take these risks into account when formulating fiscal targets. It should also monitor the
evolution of these risks in an active manner. To support this function, several countries have established central fiscal risk monitoring and management units within the ministry of finance or state treasury.102 Such units
can play an important role in helping policymakers assess the range of risks to which public finances are exposed and can propose early corrective action where possible that takes account of any systemic relationships
and interactions among varying risks (Cebotari, 2008).
192. The third pillar of the Code sets out the principles and practices of effective fiscal risk disclosure, analysis,
and management. It is organized around the following three dimensions:
3.1. Fiscal risk disclosure and analysis: Summary reporting of macroeconomic risks, risks emanating from
specific sources, and the long-term sustainability of public finances.
3.2. Fiscal risk management: Disclosure and management of risks arising from discrete sources, including the
government’s asset and liability holdings, government guarantees, public-private partnerships (PPPs), the
financial sector, the extractive industries sector, and the natural environment.
3.3. Fiscal risk coordination: Oversight and management of fiscal relations among central government, subnational governments, and public corporations.

DIMENSION 3.1. FISCAL RISK DISCLOSURE AND ANALYSIS
Governments should publish regular summary reports on risks to their fiscal prospects.
193. Summary reporting of fiscal risks is important for a complete understanding of potential threats to a country’s fiscal position and an integrated approach to managing these risks. It allows for an assessment of
aggregate risk exposures across government and for the identification of systematic relationships and interactions among risks. It facilitates examination of whether risks emanating from various sources are offsetting
or enhancing one another. It can also promote a better understanding of the true state of the public finances,
build support for prudent fiscal policies, lead to better risk mitigation, strengthen accountability for risk management, and facilitate better policy responses. A growing number of countries have introduced risk disclosure requirements in their fiscal responsibility or budget system laws (see Box 4.2).



Box 4.2.

Budget Laws and Fiscal Risk Disclosure—Country Examples

Australia’s Charter of Budget Honesty Act 1998 requires the prudent management of fiscal risks (Article 5(1)(a)). It specifies that the budget
documentation include information on the sensitivity of the fiscal estimates to changes in economic assumptions as well as a statement of the
risks, including contingent liabilities, quantified where feasible, that may have a material effect on the fiscal outlook, and government policies
that have been announced (or are still under preparation) but are not yet included in the fiscal forecasts (Article 12(1) subsections (c) and (e).
Brazil’s Fiscal Responsibility Law (2000) requires the government to publish a Fiscal Risk Appendix with the annual budget, which evaluates contingent liabilities and other fiscal risks that may affect the public finances, and details measures taken by the government to
manage such risks (Article 4).
The Central African Economic and Monetary Community (CEMAC)’s Directive on Transparency and Good Governance (2011) requires
that annual budgets be based on realistic revenue and expenditure forecasts and that the main fiscal risks be identified and evaluated
in a report released to the legislature with the budget documents.

102

Examples from developing countries include Armenia, Georgia, Indonesia, the Kyrgyz Republic, Mozambique, South Africa, and
Tajikistan.
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Sierra Leone’s Public Financial Management Act 2016 requires the minister of finance to monitor and manage fiscal risks that have a
material impact on the fiscal outlook, and to prepare a fiscal risk statement, which is submitted to the legislature. The fiscal risk statement also includes results of sensitivity analysis based on different macroeconomic and fiscal assumptions, as well as data on contingent
liabilities.
Cyprus’ Fiscal Responsibility and Budget Systems Law (2014) requires that the minister of finance be responsible for the supervision of
fiscal risks that have a significant impact on the financial perspective, and that he or she publishes with the budget a statement of the
country’s financial risk exposure (Article 58).
New Zealand’s Public Finance Act 1989 (Section 26G) sets out the principles of responsible fiscal management, including the principle
of “managing prudently the fiscal risks facing the government.” Section 26Q requires the government to publish a statement of specific
fiscal risks and disclose the rules that define and determine such risks. The Fiscal Responsibility Act 1994 (Sections 4(2)(d) and 10(3)(b))
further reiterates these principles and disclosure requirements.
Source: National authorities.

194. Fiscal risk reporting should cover both general macroeconomic risks and summary reporting of specific fiscal risks. Accordingly, the three principles under this dimension of the Code focus on several key
aspects:
•

Analyzing and disclosing how the fiscal outcomes might differ from the forecasts, as a result of macroeconomic developments (3.1.1);

•

Preparing and publishing a summary report that discusses both macroeconomic risks and the main specific risks (3.1.2); and

•

Preparing and publishing projections of the long-term evolution of the public finances (3.1.3).

195. An increasing number of countries produce summary reports in the form of a fiscal risk statement as part
of their budget documentation. Such a statement usually includes a discussion of past experience with the
materialization of risks, forward-looking estimates for various types of risk, and a discussion of policies to
mitigate and manage risks.103 A comprehensive fiscal risk statement helps to identify possible gaps and to
ensure full coverage of risks (Box 4.3). Its content should reflect the key fiscal risks facing a country and their
evolving circumstances. Several countries—including Australia, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Georgia, Indonesia,
Kenya, New Zealand, Pakistan, the Philippines, and South Africa—consolidate information on fiscal risks in
a single published document.
Table 4.1 provides a list of relevant standards, norms, and guidance material related to dimension 3.1 of the Code.



Box 4.3.

Example of Outline of a Comprehensive Statement of Fiscal Risks

Macroeconomic Risks: Comparison of recent macroeconomic assumptions included in the budget against outcomes; sensitivity of aggregate revenues, expenditures, budget balance, and debt to variations in key economic assumptions; alternative macro-fiscal scenarios,
or probabilistic fan charts.
Public Debt: Sensitivity of the stock of debt and debt-servicing costs to variations in key parameters (e.g., interest rates and exchange
rates); discussion of debt management strategies; and summary results of debt-sustainability analysis.
Government Lending Programs: A policy framework for lending programs; the stock of outstanding loans in aggregate and by borrower, or borrower category; the purpose of loans; and details of loan performance (including disclosure of nonperforming loans, outstanding amounts, or any history of loan restructuring).

103

Whether fiscal risks are disclosed in a quantitative or qualitative manner depends on whether the fiscal cost of an event and the
probability of its occurrence can be reasonably estimated. Quantification is usually easier for macroeconomic risks and explicit guarantees (which include contractual terms and amounts) than for implicit guarantees (expected or possible obligations for the government, based on public expectations or pressures, e.g., bailouts of banks or public corporations).
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Government Guarantees: The policy purpose of guarantees and any guarantee programs; intended beneficiaries; total guaranteed
amounts (gross exposure); the likelihood that guarantees will be called (where appropriate and feasible) and the associated costs; the
history of guarantee calls (i.e., amount of government payments on servicing guaranteed loans); information on any recoveries; guarantee fees; and budget provisions.
Public-Private Partnerships (PPPs): Details of government obligations under PPPs, both direct commitments and any obligations
related to contingent liabilities arising from the risks assumed by the government.
Public Corporations: Any explicit obligations to public corporations not disclosed elsewhere in the fiscal risk statement; the aggregate
financial position of the sector; recent financial performance (including information on loss-making entities, and key financial risk indicators); transactions with the government; and quasi-fiscal activities.
Subnational Governments: A summary of the recent financial performance and position, and financial exposures of states and local
governments, and any explicit obligations of the central government to subnational governments not disclosed elsewhere.
Financial System: Any explicit liabilities to the financial sector, not disclosed under guarantees; the size of the financial sector; an assessment of the soundness of the financial system and its regulation, drawing on a comprehensive, accurate, and systematic analysis of
financial stability.
Natural Disasters: Discussion of the country’s exposure to natural disasters; the direct fiscal impact of natural disasters in recent years;
allowance for natural disaster-related costs in the budget; a summary of the government’s disaster risk management strategy, including
catastrophe risk insurance.
Legal Claims: Discussion of any legal claims pending against the state and, where feasible, estimates of gross exposure (such as plaintiff claims).
Other Material Fiscal Risks1: Such as geopolitical or security risks where relevant; the gross exposure of indemnities, warranties, uncalled
capital, or a summary of obligations where they cannot be quantified; other fiscal commitments not included in the fiscal forecasts because
their timing or magnitude is uncertain; and risks to tax and nontax revenues, for example, from tax base erosion, avoidance, and evasion.
1
Some countries have imposed materiality thresholds for fiscal risk disclosure, based on the maximum gross exposure in any one year or over the medium-term forecast period. IPSAS also provides for a definition of materiality. See http://www.ifac.org/sites/default/files/publications/files/B12%20Glossary2013_0.pdf.

Source: IMF staff.

Table 4.1. Relevant Standards, Norms, and Guidance Material
Standards/Guidance
Material
International Public Sector
Accounting Standards
(IPSAS)

Brief Description
IPSAS 1 contains extensive minimum disclosure requirements for the notes to the financial statements.
These requirements include disclosure of key assumptions and sources of estimation uncertainty affecting the value of assets and liabilities in the next financial year. IPSAS 19 requires the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. The cash basis IPSAS (Part 2) encourages supplementary disclosure of information
on assets and liabilities, and on contingent liabilities.
http://www.ipsasb.org/

OECD Principles of Budget- Principle 9 requires that fiscal risks, including contingent liabilities, are identified, explained and classified
ary Governance, 2014
by type. Fiscal risks should also be quantified, and the mechanisms for managing these risks should be
explicit and reported in the context of the annual budget.
http://www.oecd.org/gov/budgeting/principles-budgetary-governance.htm
OECD Best Practices for
Budget Transparency, 2002

Recommends that the budget documents present sensitivity analysis showing the impact of changes in
key economic assumptions on the budget, including the impact of changes in interest rates and exchange rates on financing costs. The guidance also recommends that all significant contingent liabilities
be disclosed in the budget, the mid-year report, and the annual financial statements.
Also recommends that reports on the long-term sustainability of government policies (10-40 years), including the budgetary implications of demographic change, be released at least every five years. All key
assumptions should be made explicit and a range of plausible scenarios presented.
http://www.oecd.org/gov/budgeting/best-practices-budget-transparency.htm
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IMF, Government Finance
Statistics Manual (GFSM,
2014)

Recommends that aggregate data (gross exposure and estimates of expected revenue or expense) on all
important contingencies be recorded as memorandum items (paragraphs 3.95-3.97).

IPSAS Board - Recommended Practice Guideline
on the Long-Term Sustainability of an Entity’s
Finances, 2013

Provides guidance on reporting on the long-term sustainability of a public sector entity’s finances, and
on the impact of current policies and decisions made on future inflows and outflows. Supplements information in the general purpose financial statements.

IMF Staff Guidance Note
for Public Debt Sustainability Analysis in Market
Access Countries, 2013

Provides guidance for IMF staff and experts in conducting public and external debt sustainability
analyses (DSAs) to better detect, prevent, and resolve potential crises. The DSA framework consists of
two complementary components: the analysis of the sustainability of total public debt and that of total
external debt.

https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/gfs/manual/gfs.htm

https://www.ifac.org/publications-resources/recommended-practice-guideline-1

https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/dsa/mac.htm

PRINCIPLE 3.1.1. Macroeconomic Risks
The government reports on how fiscal outcomes might differ from baseline forecasts
as a result of different macroeconomic assumptions.
196. Macroeconomic shocks are typically the most common and one of the largest sources of fiscal risk for any
country, and should be considered in fiscal policymaking. Sudden changes in fiscally relevant macroeconomic variables can result in sharp changes in government deficits and debts.104 Fiscal deficit targets may be
missed because of macroeconomic shocks, such as a slowdown in economic activity, which in turn reduce
revenue collections and increase unemployment benefits or other social safety net outlays. Government liabilities may increase rapidly if the exchange rate suddenly depreciates and debts are denominated in foreign
currencies. Another very common shock relates to fluctuations in commodity prices, which can have a significant impact on the budget in countries that rely on internationally traded commodities for a large share of
their exports and government revenue, or that subsidize imported goods such as fuel and food.

LEVELS OF PRACTICE FOR PRINCIPLE 3.1.1
BASIC PRACTICE: Budget documentation includes a discussion of the sensitivity of fiscal forecasts to major
macroeconomic assumptions.
197. A basic understanding of the scale and sources of macroeconomic risks can come from analyzing the sensitivity of fiscal forecasts to changes in macroeconomic assumptions. These include GDP growth, inflation,
and interest rates (see Box 4.4 for Brazil example). Other parameters are more country-specific, such as exchange rates and key commodity prices and/or aid flows105 (particularly in aid-dependent countries). The
simplest means of illustrating the sensitivity of the public finances to these changes is to present the impact of
a 1 percent change in each macroeconomic aggregate on government borrowing for the year ahead. A more
sophisticated approach is to base the change in the value of each macroeconomic aggregate on its historical
volatility or forecast error, and show its impact not only on government borrowing but also on government
expenditure, revenue, and debt over the medium term.

104

Of course, revenue volatility can be affected by factors other than macroeconomic shocks, including large policy changes or significant deviations in taxpayer compliance and tax collection practices.

105

For low-income countries that are dependent on overseas development assistance, volatile aid flows, and the need to cushion the
poor from external shocks present special challenges. In some highly aid-dependent countries, aid is more volatile than fiscal revenues, and shortfalls in aid and domestic revenues tend to coincide. Data on the aid commitments of donors may be difficult to collect
and may be unreliable.
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Box 4.4.

Brazil: Sensitivity Analysis in the Statement of Fiscal Risks

In Brazil, the statement of fiscal risks published every year provides some analysis of the sensitivity of revenues, expenditures, and debt
to key macroeconomic indicators. Annex V of the Draft Budget Guidelines Law (PLDO) on fiscal risks devotes a few paragraphs to macroeconomic risks. It provides a series of sensitivity analyses (impact of a 1 percentage point change in GDP, inflation, the exchange rate,
policy interest rate, and the wage bill) on total tax revenue and total social security revenue; and the impact of a 1 percent change in the
exchange rate, inflation rate, and policy interest rate on expenditure and debt. Moreover, a new feature of the PLDO 2017 report (published in April 2016) is the presentation of an alternative macroeconomic scenario for the years 2016 and 2017, with the consequences
for the projections of selected revenues and expenditures. This analysis, however, does not cover all key variables of interest in assessing
fiscal policy—notably, the budget balance and gross financing needs.
Source: IMF (2017a).

GOOD PRACTICE: Budget documentation includes both sensitivity analysis and alternative macroeconomic
and fiscal forecast scenarios.
198. Good practice requires quantification of the impact of alternative macroeconomic scenarios on the fiscal aggregates. Scenario analysis assesses the impact on public finances of plausible shocks to several macroeconomic
indicators simultaneously. The analysis typically includes an optimistic scenario (e.g., higher GDP growth, lower
unemployment, and higher inflation) and a pessimistic scenario (e.g., lower GDP growth, higher unemployment,
and lower inflation). These scenarios should be developed within a coherent macroeconomic framework or an
integrated macroeconomic model. They should also be tailored to the types of macroeconomic shock to which a
country is exposed. For example, countries with a high exposure to commodity prices or international trade should
develop scenarios that involve shocks to commodity prices and global demand, in addition to changes in domestic
demand. The budget documentation should disclose the various assumption underlying each of the scenarios and
their impact on the main fiscal aggregates (revenue, expenses, deficit, and debt). In addition, the government might
discuss how its fiscal strategy would change should the economic and fiscal outlook be different to the forecast.106
Examples from New Zealand and the Philippines are shown in Box 4.5.



Box 4.5.

New Zealand’s Macro-Fiscal Scenario Analysis and the Philippines’ Fiscal Risk Statement

New Zealand produces two alternative macro-fiscal scenarios, which are presented in the annual Budget Economic and Fiscal Update. The
scenarios show how the economy might evolve if some of the key judgements in the main forecasts are altered. The underlying economic
assumptions for the main forecast and two scenarios are disclosed for real and nominal GDP, inflation, and the unemployment rate, along
with the impact on the net operating balance and government debt over the medium-term forecast period. The scenarios are based on
plausible alternative outcomes. For example, the 2016 Budget presents one scenario that illustrates the economic and fiscal impact of
weaker trading partner growth, which flows through to reduced demand for exports, and lower terms of trade, exchange rate, and inflation
relative to the baseline forecast, as well as a lower nominal GDP forecast. A second scenario is presented that shows the impact of stronger
net migration, which flows through to higher house price growth, consumption, and building investment, with consequent stronger inflation, employment, and nominal GDP growth relative to the baseline forecast. The impact on tax revenues, net operating balance, and
government debt of these alternative macroeconomic parameters is also assessed and presented in the Economic and Fiscal Update.
The Philippines prepares a fiscal risk statement (FRS), which analyzes macroeconomic risks and evaluates the impact of a series of macroeconomic shocks on government revenue, spending, and the fiscal balance. The budget documentation includes a table to show how
the accuracy of underlying macroeconomic assumptions used in projecting the annual budget affects fiscal outturns, and in particular
the sensitivity of fiscal accounts to various macroeconomic variables. In this sensitivity analysis, macroeconomic shocks are standardized

106

Fiscal contingency planning provides markets with a broad indication of what sort of fiscal adjustments will be made in response to
possible adverse developments—for example, spending cuts, tax increases, a bigger deficit, or some combination of these—may reduce the risk of abrupt market reactions to such developments. This is particularly important where the deficit and debt are already
high, or where the structure of public finances or of the national economy creates additional vulnerability.
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rather than calibrated to the actual risks faced by the Philippine economy. The report also simulates national government debt under
two extreme growth scenarios. Finally, a fan chart presents a range of debt paths using the historical volatility of macro-financial data.
The FRS includes other charts and tables showing the implications of macroeconomic volatility on fiscal outcomes.
Sources: The Treasury, Government of New Zealand (2016); and IMF (2015e).

ADVANCED PRACTICE: Budget documentation includes sensitivity analysis, alternative scenarios, and
probabilistic forecasts of fiscal outcomes.
199. The most sophisticated forms of macro-fiscal risk analysis present probabilistic fiscal forecasts that provide a
set of confidence intervals around the government’s central fiscal forecast. These probabilistic forecasts typically
take the form of “fan charts” to illustrate the degree of uncertainty inherent in the forecasting process as well as
the distribution of risks above and below the government’s central prediction. Unlike a single or “point” forecast,
which represents only one possible future outcome, different outcomes—with varying degrees of probability—are
possible. A fan chart presents a range of different outcomes that have varying degrees of probability (based on
past official forecast errors), as illustrated with an example from the United Kingdom in Box 4.6. The IMF’s Debt
Sustainability Analysis (DSA) framework includes the generation of fan charts under a series of standard scenarios, which generally assume unchanged policies and nonpersistent shocks. Complementary approaches (based on
country-specific vector autoregression models, for example) can go beyond DSA and capture the persistence of
shocks over time and the correlation between different shocks, as well as the impact of the realization of contingent
liabilities. As another development of advanced practice, some governments have begun to use fiscal stress tests to
examine the impact of extreme shocks to public finances (IMF, 2016a).



Box 4.6.

United Kingdom: Fan Charts of Macro-Fiscal Aggregates

In the United Kingdom, the official forecasts produced by the Office of Budget Responsibility (OBR) include fan charts (Figure 4.6.1) of the
main macroeconomic and fiscal aggregates. The fan charts display the probability distribution of possible future paths for each variable and
are generated using the standard deviation of previous forecast errors. On the assumption that past forecast errors are a good guide to future
forecasts errors, this approach offers a visually attractive way to demonstrate uncertainty around the baseline projections.

Figure 4.6.1. UK Public Sector Net Borrowing Fan Chart (2008/09–2020/21)
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Source: United Kingdom authorities.
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PRINCIPLE 3.1.2. Specific Fiscal Risks
The government provides a regular summary report on the main specific risks to its fiscal forecasts.
200. In addition to macroeconomic risks, public finances are also subject to specific risks generated from discrete sources and events. As illustrated in Box 4.7, specific risks can be large and may arise from a variety of
sources such as the financial sector, legal claims, subnational governments, public corporations, PPPs, natural
disasters, and variations in the valuation of government assets and liabilities. Some specific fiscal risks are also
highly correlated both with one another and with macroeconomic shocks, which can amplify their impact on
public finances. Macroeconomic downturns tend to trigger the realization of other shocks, such as the failure of financial institutions, severe financial stress on public corporations and subnational governments, the
calling of guarantees, and other contingent liabilities. The inclusion of information on specific fiscal risks in
the annual budget documents helps to ensure that these risks are understood, actively managed, and incorporated in the government’s macroeconomic and fiscal strategy.



Box 4.7.

Specific Fiscal Risks: Sources and Magnitude

A survey of specific fiscal risk materializations during the period 1990–2014, and across 80 advanced and emerging market
economies, revealed that specific fiscal risks can have a large impact and are highly correlated with each other (see Table 4.7.1).
On average, these specific fiscal risks occur every 12 years and have an average fiscal cost of around 6 percent of GDP. However,
the distribution of fiscal costs has a long tail, with several episodes costing more than 10 percent of GDP, and in a few cases
more than 20 percent of GDP.

Table 4.7.1. Fiscal Cost of Specific Contingent Liability Realizations (1990–2014)
Contingent Liability
Financial Sector

Number of Events

Events with
Identified Costs

Average Fiscal Cost
(Percent of GDP)

Maximum Fiscal
Cost (Percent of GDP)

91

82

9.7

56.8

9

9

7.9

15.3

Subnational

13

9

3.7

12.0

SOEs

32

31

3.0

15.1

Natural Disaster

Legal

65

29

1.6

6.0

Corporate

7

6

1.7

4.5

PPPs

8

5

1.2

2.0

Other

5

3

1.4

2.5

Total

230

174

6.1

56.8

Source: Bova and others (2016).

201. There are two broad categories of specific fiscal risks: explicit risks and implicit risks.107 Explicit risks are
those where the government has a clear and firm obligation, or a declared policy, to provide fiscal support
should a predefined event occur. Examples include explicit government guarantees, indemnities, public insurance schemes, or legal action against the government. Implicit risks, on the other hand, arise where there is
no explicit (legal or contractual) obligation or policy to provide fiscal support, but there is an expectation that
107

See, for example, IMF (2008).
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the government would do so should the risks materialize. Examples include bailouts of the financial sector to
prevent systemic crises, support subnational governments or public corporations should they get into financial difficulty, and assistance to victims of natural disasters.
202. Governments should aim to disclose all explicit fiscal risks, as they represent a commitment of public
resources, which must be provided for should the risks materialize. However, in the case of certain
risks, the benefits associated with greater public awareness may need to be weighed against the potential
costs. Specifically, disclosure of the magnitude or likelihood of certain risks could give rise to moral hazard, that is, behavioral responses by private agents that increase the likelihood of the risk materializing,
or increase its potential cost. This is particularly pertinent for implicit risks but could also apply to certain
explicit risks. For example, disclosure of the government’s expectations about the outcome of a pending
court case may prejudice its legal position. For this reason, some governments (e.g., New Zealand) include in the disclosure of exposure to legal claims a disclaimer that reporting the gross amount of the
legal claim does not indicate government’s acknowledgment of any liability.108 Similarly, disclosing the
potential need to provide fiscal support to a bank could trigger a run on that institution. However, following the global financial crisis, the case for disclosing more information on implicit fiscal risks related
to the financial sector (as opposed to an individual financial institution) is stronger—see the discussion
on Principle 3.2.5.
203. Ministries of finance should be responsible for coordinating the collection of data on fiscal risks. Some of
these data should be readily available within the finance ministry (e.g., on the risks associated with public
debt) or the revenue collection agencies. The collection of information from public corporations or subnational governments, however, can be a complex exercise, often involving line ministries and other agencies.
The data collection process can be facilitated by the incorporation of disclosure requirements in accounting
standards—for example, with respect to contingent liabilities and PPPs—and by stipulating that the required
information (e.g., on guarantees and indemnities, or legal actions against the state) be published along with
the budget documentation.

LEVELS OF PRACTICE FOR PRINCIPLE 3.1.2
BASIC PRACTICE: The main specific risks to the fiscal forecasts are disclosed in a summary report
and discussed in qualitative terms.
204. A basic level of practice is to list and discuss the main specific risks in qualitative terms, even if there is
no estimation of their cost or the likelihood that they will materialize. The value of such disclosures is that
they raise awareness among policymakers and the public regarding the existence and nature of the risks
concerned. All the information on specific fiscal risks should be summarized in a single report, even if details
are presented in a variety of other documents such as reports on public debt, financial stability, the public
corporation sector, and local government finances. See Box 4.8 for the example of Tanzania and Côte d’Ivoire
on the disclosure of fiscal risks.

108

International accounting standards also allow for general disclosure where full disclosure can jeopardize the position of a party to the case. IPSAS 19 (paragraph 109) states: “In extremely rare cases, disclosure of some or all of the information required
by paragraphs 97–107 can be expected to prejudice seriously the position of the entity in a dispute with other parties on the
subject matter of the provision, contingent liability or contingent asset. In such cases, an entity need not disclose the information, but shall disclose the general nature of the dispute, together with the fact that, and reason why, the information has not
been disclosed.”
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Box 4.8. Tanzania and Côte d’Ivoire: Disclosure of Fiscal Risks

Since 2015, Tanzania has produced a fiscal risk statement as part of the fiscal surveillance framework in the East African Community
(EAC). The statement discusses the factors that expose the country to fiscal risks, including macroeconomic parameters and assumptions,
unpredictable oversees development assistance, civil service pension liabilities, public corporations, PPPs, and public debt. See http://
www.mof.go.tz/mofdocs/news/latest%20news/FISCAL_RISK_STATEMENT.pdf.
Since 2013, Côte d’Ivoire has produced a medium-term fiscal and budget planning document (Document de Programmation Budgétaire
et Economique Pluriannuelle, DPBEP), which includes a qualitative assessment of fiscal risks. The assessment distinguishes between
risks that could hamper revenue mobilization and those which could affect budget execution. Factors discussed include the political
environment, macroeconomic parameters such as commodity prices, interest rates and exchange rates, tax fraud and evasion, natural
disasters, and delays in investment projects. See http://budget.gouv.ci/sites/default/files/Donnees-budgetaires/13-dpbep_2016_2018_
mis_a_jour_apres_an30_dec_15.pdf.

GOOD PRACTICE: The main specific risks to the fiscal forecast are disclosed in a summary report, along with
estimates of their magnitude.
205. In addition to disclosing the main risks to the public finances, good practice requires some quantification
of risks. At a minimum, these estimates could include the maximum exposure associated with the liabilities
concerned (e.g., the face value of government loan guarantees, or the total bank deposits covered by a government deposit-guarantee scheme). Providing such data helps to inform the prioritization of actions to mitigate
and manage risks. Collating the quantitative information into a single summary report also makes it possible
to consider potential interactions among risks, as well as the government’s combined gross exposure. Regular
publication of a quantitative fiscal risk statement enables policymakers and the public to track the evolution
of risks over time, and the extent to which the risks identified have diminished, increased, or materialized
(an example from the Philippines is in Box 4.9). In some cases, it may not be possible to quantify reliably risk
exposures (e.g., fulfilment of indemnities). In these instances, governments should still disclose the nature of
the risk in qualitative terms.



Box 4.9.

Philippines: Fiscal Risk Statement

The Philippines’ annual Fiscal Risk Statement provides a comprehensive view of the country’s exposure to macroeconomic risks and contingent liabilities associated with the financial sector, government-owned and/or controlled corporations, PPPs, local governments, and
natural disasters. The report provides a quantification of many risks and summarizes the government’s policies to manage and mitigate
them. See http://www.dbm.gov.ph/index.php/dbcc-matters/dbcc-publication/fiscal-risk-statement.
Source: Philippine authorities.

ADVANCED PRACTICE: The main specific risks to the fiscal forecast are disclosed in a summary report, along
with estimates of their magnitude and, where practicable, their likelihood.
206. Advanced practice requires disclosing the likelihood of risks materializing, in addition to quantifying the
government’s gross exposure. This practice provides a more realistic picture of how risks might impact on
the budget and a better estimate of the policy changes that might be required during the budget year to keep
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to the government’s announced fiscal target.109 In addition to the disclosure of fiscal risks, it is useful to provide an explanation of how these risks have been taken into consideration in setting the government’s overall
fiscal stance, and what policies the government is pursuing to reduce and manage these risks. Publishing
estimates of the expected costs of risks materializing (based on historical or a probabilistic analysis) could also
be considered, as shown in the example from Chile in Box 4.10. In cases where estimates of the probability of
realization are too difficult, risks may be classified into categories (e.g., probable, non-remote, and remote)
based on judgements about their likelihood.



Box 4.10. Chile: Reports on Contingent Liabilities

In Chile, an annual report on contingent liabilities, published since 2007, includes estimates of the present value of committed government payments under concession contracts for public works, as well as two measures of the risks associated with minimum-revenue
guarantees—first, an estimate of maximum possible losses and, second, the present value of expected guarantee payments (which
depend implicitly on probability estimates).
Source: Irwin and Mokdad (2010).

PRINCIPLE 3.1.3. Long-Term Sustainability Analysis
The government regularly publishes projections of the evolution of public finances over
the longer term.
207. Social and economic trends and new policy commitments by the government can have significant effects
on the public finances over the longer term. Increased transparency in this area will help improve the understanding of the future costs of current policy decisions, manage long-term risks and pressures on the public
finances, and increase support for sound macroeconomic and fiscal policies.
208. Long-term projections can be particularly valuable in the following areas:

109

•

Public debt. Understanding how public debt dynamics are likely to evolve in the future can help identify
unsustainable fiscal policies.

•

Demographics and social policy. Many advanced and emerging economies have ageing population profiles, which over the next few decades could create significant expenditure pressures in areas such as
pensions, health, and long-term care (see Box 4.11), as well as reducing the tax base.

•

Natural resources. Countries with a reliance on finite natural resources need to plan for the longterm impact on the public finances of the depletion of these resources and the loss of associated
revenues.

•

Economic growth. Some productivity and growth-enhancing reforms may have fiscal benefits that are
relatively small in the short term but become critical to sustainability when viewed over a longer-term
time horizon.

•

Environmental consideration. For some countries, costs related to climate change mitigation and adaptation can be substantial and put pressure on public finances.

Governments that prepare budgets or accounts on an accrual basis record the expected cost of guarantees that meet certain criteria,
such as having a call probability of greater than 50 percent. This means that the expected cost of such risks is already incorporated in
budgets and accounts. Under cash accounting, information on such risk exposures should be published as supplementary disclosures in financial statements and/or as additional information in annual budget documents. A change in the basis of accounting is
neither necessary nor sufficient for adequate disclosure of fiscal risks. See Petrie (2002).
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Box 4.11. Fiscal Implications of Demographic Changes

Demographic changes are anticipated to increase expenditure pressures significantly for most countries (see Figure 4.11.1). Increases
in pension expenditures are projected to increase by around 2 percent of GDP by 2050, while health spending is projected to increase
by around 3 percent of GDP. The increase is anticipated to be greatest for advanced economies, most of which have large and beneficial social security systems.

Figure 4.11.1. Increase in Health and Pension Costs (2015–50)

Source: IMF staff.

LEVELS OF PRACTICE FOR PRINCIPLE 3.1.3
BASIC PRACTICE: The government regularly publishes projections of the sustainability of the main fiscal
aggregates and any health and social security funds over at least the next 10 years.
209. At a basic level, countries should produce projections of the fiscal balance and public debt obligations
over a decade into the future. These projections can take the form of a relatively simple DSA, where
realistic assumptions about the primary fiscal balance, GDP growth rates, and interest rates are used to
project how public debt110 will evolve. This analysis can be used to identify whether public debt is on a
sustainable or increasing path and, by incorporating some sensitivity analysis, can also provide guidance
on how public debt will evolve under less favorable conditions. Where a country has extrabudgetary
funds that provide substantial health-related or social welfare benefits, projections of the expenditures,
revenues, and balances of the funds for the next 10 years and more will help identify any funding gaps
that may become a claim on the budget. These projections should ideally be based on actuarial projections, but at a minimum they should use macroeconomic assumptions consistent with the DSA, and use
demographic projections to identify spending pressures.

110

Public debt can be thought of as a subset of liabilities in terms of a balance sheet. Liabilities are obligations that provide economic benefits to the units holding the corresponding financial claims. The criterion to define a liability as debt is that future
payments of interest and/or principal are due by the debtor to the creditor. Six different instruments comprise gross debt:
(i) debt securities (e.g., treasury bills and bonds); (ii) loans; (iii) other accounts payable (e.g., trade credits and advances, and
other items due to be paid); (iv) Special Drawing Rights (SDRs); (v) currency and deposits; and (vi) insurance, pension, and
standardized guarantee schemes. Contingent liabilities are shown as memorandum items because, by definition, they are not
actual liabilities and, therefore, not considered as debt. For more information, see Dippelsman, Dziobek, and Gutiérrez (2012).
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GOOD PRACTICE: The government regularly publishes multiple scenarios for the sustainability of the main
fiscal aggregates and any health and social security funds over at least the next 30 years using a range of
macroeconomic assumptions.
210. Extending the projections 30–50 years into the future usually requires significantly more sophisticated
modeling approaches to capture the full impact of demographic factors. Such long-term projections should
include information on the key fiscal aggregates—namely, revenues, expenditures, the fiscal balance, and
public debt—and, where possible, some key balance sheet information.111 They should also explicitly present
the results of demographic-related modeling and explain the methodology and assumptions underlying these
projections. In addition, they should discuss the key implications of the projections for policy, such as identifying fiscal gaps, increases in public debt, and slowdowns in potential GDP growth rates.
211. Given the great uncertainty around projecting fiscal variables 30 years or more into the future, and the
importance of the macroeconomic assumptions underlying them, long-term sustainability analysis should
also include sensitivity analysis. Long-term projections are highly uncertain and sensitive to the underlying
assumptions used, such as productivity, labor market participation, cost inflation, and population growth. It
is thus important that these assumptions are explained transparently and supplemented with sensitivity analysis and alternative scenarios. For example, the impact on fiscal aggregates of different assumptions about
GDP growth—through productivity, participation, or population growth—can be large and should be quantified and discussed. This gives not only a sense of the sensitivity of each variable but also a guide to whether
favorable economic conditions would be enough to resolve any projected fiscal pressures or whether policy
changes may be required.
ADVANCED PRACTICE: The government regularly publishes multiple scenarios for the sustainability of the
main fiscal aggregates and any health and social security funds over at least the next 30 years using a range
of macroeconomic, demographic, natural resource, or other assumptions.
212. Advanced practice provides a greater range of sensitivity analyses, particularly tailored to a country’s economic structure. In addition to the macroeconomic assumptions, the projections should explore variations in
demographic projections. Different assumptions about birth, mortality, and migration rates may have a large
impact on the fiscal aggregates. Similarly, for natural-resource-producing countries, differences in commodity
prices and extraction rates can have significant implications for the ability to fund future expenditures. The impact of different scenarios for nondemographic cost drivers can also be explored for certain spending categories,
such as the impact of technological advances on the cost of healthcare services. As baseline projections usually
assume that current policies are maintained into the future, scenarios can also be constructed to illustrate the impact of alternative policy changes on long-term sustainability. An example from Australia is provided in Box 4.12.



Box 4.12. Australia: Intergenerational Reports

The Australian Federal Government publishes an intergenerational report, at least once every five years, assessing the long-term sustainability of public finances under current government policy settings.
Publication of this report is a requirement of the Charter of Budget Honesty Act, 1998. The report contains macroeconomic and fiscal projections (for both the budget balance and the key balance sheet aggregates) over a 40-year period. It includes analysis of the key drivers of
economic growth and the demographic assumptions underpinning these projections. The report contains 40-year spending projections for
each of the main areas of government spending, including health, education, pensions, other social benefits, and defense. It also includes
a sensitivity analysis detailing how the long-term macroeconomic and fiscal projections change in response to alternative macroeconomic
and demographic scenarios.
Source: Commonwealth of Australia (2015).
https://treasury.gov.au/publication/2015-intergenerational-report/what-is-the-intergenerational-report.

111

Such as assets, liabilities, and net worth.
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DIMENSION 3.2. FISCAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Specific risks to the public finances should be regularly monitored, disclosed, and managed.
213. The seven principles under this dimension of the Code focus on several key aspects:
·

Making adequate allocations for contingencies that arise during budget execution (3.2.1);

·

Identifying and managing risks relating to major public assets and liabilities (3.2.2);

·

Regulating government guarantees and disclosing related risk exposure (3.2.3);

·

Regularly disclosing and controlling obligations under public-private partnerships (3.2.4);

·

Analyzing and managing the government’s fiscal exposure to the financial sector (3.2.5);

·

Valuing and managing the government’s ownership and exploitation of exhaustible natural resource assets and associated risks (3.2.6); and

·

Analyzing and managing fiscal exposure to natural disasters and major environmental risks (3.2.7).

214. In addition to their disclosure, specific fiscal risks should be regularly monitored and effectively managed.
Regular monitoring enables policymakers to take measures that reduce risks before they materialize or to accommodate them in budget planning. A broad range of instruments is available to mitigate fiscal risks (Box 4.13).
215. To enhance transparency, governments should disclose their strategies for managing risks. Such strategies
should specify the conditions under which the government is prepared to accept specific fiscal risks (e.g., to
address market failures);112 define the level of risk it is willing to bear; specify the decision-making processes
to be carried out by the government (e.g., a requirement for guarantees to be authorized by the finance minister, the cabinet, or the legislature); and define the instruments that can be used to manage risks.
Table 4.2 provides a list of relevant standards, norms, and guidance material related to dimension 3.2 of the Code.



Box 4.13. Instruments for Managing Specific Fiscal Risks

Direct controls, ceilings, or caps: These instruments are commonly used to limit governments’ total exposure to risk and are most effective where the risks are endogenous to the public sector. Examples of direct controls include annual or multi-annual limits on guarantees, quantitative limits on subnational borrowing and/or requiring subnational governments to comply with fiscal rules, limits on
contingent liabilities from PPPs, or caps on the payments associated with government insurance schemes. Governments can also place
controls on the creation of certain liabilities, by requiring their prior approval by the minister of finance, the cabinet, or the legislature.
Regulations, incentives, and other indirect measures: These instruments vary depending on the type of risk faced and are generally
used where the risks are influenced by the behavior of private counterparts. They usually take the form of regulating individuals or
entities that are a source of risk, or providing incentives that discourage excessive risk taking. Examples include requiring banks to hold
certain amounts of capital, setting and enforcing performance targets on the boards of public corporations, requiring value-for-money
assessments of PPPs, and imposing building requirements in areas prone to natural disasters.
Risk transfer, sharing, or insurance mechanisms: Examples of risk transfer instruments include hedging commodity price risk, insuring public assets against the impact of natural disasters, securitizing or insuring government guarantee schemes; or charging riskrelated fees or insurance premiums to beneficiaries of government guarantees.
Budget provisions: Governments can provide for funds by expensing costs up front in the budget (e.g., the expected cost of guarantees), creating budget contingencies for specific risks (e.g., contingency funds for natural disasters, or incorporating buffers into expenditure and revenue projections), or creating stabilization funds that protect commodity exporters from the impact of lower prices.

112

For example, at the federal level, Canada’s guarantee and loan framework requires a sponsoring public entity to demonstrate that
any project being proposed could not be financed on reasonable terms and conditions without a government loan or guarantee.
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Some risks may be too large to provision for in the budget, too costly to mitigate, or simply not known with a sufficient degree of
precision. Governments should therefore assess whether sufficient fiscal headroom exists to accommodate these risks should they
materialize. For example, governments can take account of risks in setting long-term targets for government debt or net worth (as in
New Zealand), or at least ensure they have a sufficient safety margin relative to the debt ceilings defined in their fiscal rules.
Policymakers may elect to adopt a combination of mitigating measures to manage specific risks and to tailor the approach to prevailing country circumstances. For example, the use of buffer funds can be helpful for countries that do not have access to global capital
markets, as they avoid the need for abrupt changes in fiscal policy.
Source: IMF (2016b).

Table 4.2. Relevant Standards, Norms, and Guidance Material
Standards/Guidance Material

Brief Description

IMF and World Bank Revised
Guidelines for Public Debt
Management, 2014

These guidelines cover both domestic and external public debt, as well as a broad range of other
financial claims on the government.

IMF, Government Finance
Statistics Manual (GFSM, 2014)

Contains definitions and classifications of assets and liabilities (Chapter 7), and reporting standards
for acquisitions and disposals of nonfinancial assets. With some exceptions, the GFSM requires outstanding guarantees and other contingent liabilities to be disclosed as memorandum items to the
balance sheet.

https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/Policy-Papers/Issues/2016/12/31/Revised-Guidelines-forPublic-Debt-Management-PP4855

Defines the financial sector and recommends reporting standards for explicit government interventions to provide public support to financial institutions.
Provides guidance on the classification of revenues (Chapter 5) and natural resource revenues (Chapter 11).
https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/gfs/manual/gfs.htm
International Public Sector
Accounting Standards (IPSAS)

Several IPSASs set standards for assets and liabilities, including IPSAS 5 (borrowing costs), IPSAS 13
(leases), IPSAS 17 (property, plant and equipment), IPSAS 27 (employee benefits), and IPSAS 28, 29
and 30 (accounting for and disclosure of financial instruments, including concessionary loans, and
risk disclosures resulting from financial instruments).
IPSAS 19 calls for recognition of financial guarantees as liabilities in the balance sheet at fair value, where
there is more than a 50 percent likelihood of the guarantee being called. In other cases, IPSAS requires
the disclosure of guarantees in notes to the financial statements as a contingent liability. The cash-basis
IPSAS encourages disclosure of guarantees as supplementary notes to the financial statements.
IPSAS 1 requires disclosure in the notes to the financial statements of information affecting the value
of assets and liabilities in the next financial year. The cash basis IPSAS (Part 2) encourages the supplementary disclosure of information on assets and liabilities.
IPSAS 32 requires governments to recognize an asset and liability for a PPP in defined circumstances. IPSAS 13 (leases) and IPSAS 19 (provisions, contingent liabilities, and contingent assets) may
also be relevant, especially if the PPP is not considered a service concession arrangement.
http://www.ipsasb.org/

IMF Public Sector Debt Statistics: Recommends that PPP assets and associated liabilities be put on the government’s balance sheet if
Guide for Users and Compilers, the government is deemed to be the “economic owner” of the project assets (Chapter 4).
2011
https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/Manuals-Guides/Issues/2016/12/31/Public-Sector-DebtStatistics-Guide-for-Compilers-and-Users-Guide-for-Compilers-and-Users-24905
Public-Private Partnerships

PFRAM is an analytical tool to assess the potential fiscal costs and risks arising from PPP projects.

Fiscal Risks Assessment Model
(PFRAM), 2016

http://www.imf.org/external/np/fad/publicinvestment/index.htm#4
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Table 4.2. (continued)
Standards/Guidance Material
IMF Code of Good Practices on
Transparency in Monetary and
Financial Policies, 1999

Brief Description
Section 7 contains detailed good practices for government financial agencies responsible for the regulation, supervision, and oversight of the financial and payment systems. These include requirements
for disclosure of aggregate data, emergency financial support, and any deposit insurance guarantees.
https://www.imf.org/external/np/mae/mft/code/index.htm

Core Principles for Effective
Deposit Insurance Systems,
2009

Issued by the Bank for International Settlements, and the International Association of Deposit Insurers.
https://www.bis.org/publ/bcbs156.htm

Extractive Industries Transparency EITI is a global standard for the good governance of oil, gas, and mineral resources. It defines global
Initiative (EITI), 2003
minimum standards for the transparency of payments from oil, gas, and mining companies—
including public corporations—to governments.
https://eiti.org/standard/overview
UN Sendai Framework for
Disaster Risk Reduction
2015-2030

A 15-year, voluntary, non-binding agreement which recognizes that the State has the primary role
to reduce disaster risk but that responsibility should be shared with subnational governments, the
private sector, and other stakeholders. The document sets out a comprehensive framework for managing natural disaster risks.
https://www.unisdr.org/we/coordinate/sendai-framework

PRINCIPLE 3.2.1. Budgetary Contingencies
The budget has adequate and transparent allocations for contingencies that arise during
budget execution.
216. Because budgets represent plans for the upcoming year, and some events are uncertain, governments should
establish policies to deal with contingencies. Countries use a variety of procedures and mechanisms to address
uncertainties during in-year budget execution. These mechanisms include unallocated contingency appropriations, virement (transfers) of spending authority within and between appropriations, and supplementary budgets (the latter two are covered under Principle 2.4.2). The use of budgetary contingencies can help in managing
in-year budget uncertainties. It is important, however, that the use of such mechanisms is limited so that they
do not reduce budget credibility or restrict legislative and public accountability for the use of public resources.
Therefore, contingency reserves should be presented clearly in the budget and there should be transparent criteria in place governing the circumstances under which they can be used. Further, all drawdowns of budgetary
contingency reserves should be transparently reported in budget execution and year-end reports.

LEVELS OF PRACTICE FOR PRINCIPLE 3.2.1
BASIC PRACTICE: The budget includes an allocation for contingencies.
217. At the level of basic practice, the budget should include an adequate provision for general contingencies.
The benefit of such an appropriation is that urgent but unforeseen needs can be met without seeking additional appropriations or having to cut spending elsewhere, which may lead to the incurrence of arrears. The
size of the contingency reserve113 should not be so large as to undermine budget discipline nor so small as to
be consistently exhausted part way through the year. In most countries, this implies a contingency appropriation of between 1 percent and 3 percent of total budgeted expenditure (Figure 4.2). However, countries facing
greater uncertainty may want to base the size of the reserve on past overspending against the annual budget.
113

This “contingency reserve” can take several forms. In many countries, it is an unallocated appropriation in the annual budget law,
access to which is regulated based on certain criteria and requires the approval of the ministry of finance, and sometimes the legislature. In other countries, it is a fund with an appropriate amount of financing authorized under the legal framework and replenished
at the beginning of each fiscal year, depending on the drawdown during the previous year.
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Figure 4.2. Size of Contingency Reserves in Selected Countries (Percentage of Total Expenditure)

Sources: IMF Fiscal Transparency Evaluations; OECD Budget Practices; and country budget documentation.

Any unused contingency appropriation should lapse at the end of the budget year and not be carried forward
to the next financial year.
GOOD PRACTICE: The budget includes an allocation for contingencies with transparent access criteria.
218. Publishing a set of criteria that must be met before expenditure may be charged to the contingency reserve
helps ensure that these funds are utilized only for genuine contingencies. The criteria may be set in the
budget law or regulations (see Box 4.14 for an example on South Africa). Such criteria would require that, for
an expenditure to be charged against the contingency appropriation, it:
•

must be urgent and cannot reasonably be held over for consideration in a supplementary budget or the
next annual budget round;

•

must be unforeseeable;

•

must be unavoidable; and

•

cannot be absorbed from within existing budget appropriations.



Box 4.14. South Africa: Contingency Reserve Access Criteria

It is sometimes easier for contingency spending to be defined by what it is not rather than what it is. In South Africa, for example, the
guidelines state that unforeseen and unavoidable expenditures do not include (i) spending that was known when the main budget
was prepared but could not be accommodated in the allocation at that time; (ii) spending increases due to tariff adjustments or price
increases; or (iii) spending to extend existing services or create new services that are not foreseeable and avoidable. Spending made
necessary by adverse weather conditions is an example of unforeseeable and unavoidable expenditure.
Source: National Treasury, Republic of South Africa (2014).

ADVANCED PRACTICE: The budget includes an allocation for contingencies with transparent access criteria
and regular in-year reporting on its utilization.
219. Reporting on the use of contingency appropriations ensures that these resources are ultimately spent as
intended by the legislature. Monthly budget execution reports should show the allocation of the expenditures authorized through the contingency appropriation to the relevant budget head, in accordance with the
government’s administrative, economic, and functional/program classification. Transfers from contingencies
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to specific lines of the budget should be notified to the legislature in these reports. In addition, the midyear
report to the legislature on budget implementation should include information on the usage of contingency
appropriations and their conformity with the access criteria discussed earlier. Spending from contingency
appropriations should also be subject to external audit.

PRINCIPLE 3.2.2. Asset and Liability Management
Risks relating to major assets and liabilities are disclosed and managed.
220. A government’s assets and liabilities can be significant sources of fiscal risk.
•

On the liability side: The risks include uncertainty about future interest rates and the ability to refinance
maturing bonds and, when debt is denominated in foreign currencies, uncertainty about future exchange
rates. Pension liabilities are also subject to risks, including those related to changes in the projections of
life expectancy and changes in contributions, entitlements, and indexation.114

•

On the asset side: Some governments have large portfolios of financial assets held, for example, in sovereign wealth funds. The value of these portfolios of bonds and equities tend to be volatile. As discussed in
Principle 3.3.2, governments may also have large equity positions in public corporations, which require
careful oversight and management, as well as loan portfolios, extended either directly or on-lent from
international financial institutions to other public entities (public corporations, subnational governments)
or third parties. These loans can give rise to fiscal risks because the central government is left bearing the
debt or servicing charges should creditors fail to meet their repayment obligations. The value of nonfinancial assets may also be exposed to risks, such as from natural disasters, the property cycle, and a deterioration in the physical condition of the assets and the need for replacement.115

221. Analyzing, disclosing, and managing risks related to assets and liabilities requires full and reliable information on their market value. Nearly all governments maintain a register of the bonds they have issued
and the loans they have contracted, which makes it possible to report on the risks related to these assets and
liabilities. Sovereign wealth funds and other government asset managers typically also maintain information
on their investment portfolios. Many governments have established state property registries that record and
value their nonfinancial assets (e.g., buildings and motor vehicles), although these registers are not always
comprehensive. Analysis of the overall risks to the government, however, requires the construction of a balance sheet, which is less common (see Dimension 1.2 discussed earlier), as well as estimates of the correlations among the values of major assets and liabilities—that is, the extent to which their values tend to move
together.116
222. Governments should put in place strategies to manage risks associated with their assets and liabilities.
These strategies should set out the government’s overall financial objectives and procedures for managing
the cost/risk trade-offs within an integrated asset and liability management framework.117 Such a framework
considers the various types of assets the government manages and explores whether the financial characteristics associated with those assets can provide insights for managing the cost and risk of the government’s

114

Accounting standards require recognizing in the financial statements the unfunded actuarial liabilities of civil service pension
schemes in which case the government is the employer. Other public pension schemes are treated as social benefits and disclosed as
memorandum items.

115

See Bova and others (2013).

116

For example, a government may have both foreign currency-denominated debt as well as holdings of foreign currency so that its
exposure to the risk of an increase in the value of its public debt will be offset, at least to some extent, by an increase in the value of
its currency holdings.

117

Such a public asset and liability management framework, however, presupposes well-defined macroeconomic and asset and liability
management objectives, and a reliable assessment of future public revenues and on- (and off-) balance sheet liabilities, in addition to
good coordination among the public entities involved.
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liability portfolios. This analysis involves examining the financial characteristics of the asset cash flows, and
selecting liabilities with matching characteristics to help smooth the budgetary impact of shocks on debt servicing costs. The analysis of cash flows also provides a basis for measuring the risks of the liability portfolio
and measuring cost/risk trade-offs relevant for deciding the appropriate debt portfolio (IMF, 2014d).118 Many
governments publish medium-term debt management strategies (see Box 4.15) that explicitly recognize the
relative costs and risks associated with their debt portfolio, and describe how the government intends to
meet its financing objectives at the lowest possible cost, consistent with a prudent degree of risk. Countries
that have financial asset portfolios often publish investment strategies that set out the types of instruments the government can invest in, and their expected rate of return, having regard to the government’s
risk tolerance.



Box 4.15. Medium-Term Debt Management Strategy

A medium-term debt management strategy (MTDS) operationalizes country authorities’ debt management objectives—for example, to
ensure that the government’s financing needs and payment obligations are met at the lowest possible cost, consistent with a prudent
degree of risk. An MTDS has a strong focus on managing the risk exposure embedded in the debt portfolio—specifically, potential variations in the cost of debt servicing and its impact on the budget—and how cost and risk vary with the composition of the debt. While
a sound MTDS can be developed without the use of a quantitative tool, the use of scenario analysis enables debt managers to quantify
the potential risks to the budget of alternative debt management strategies.
In principle, the MTDS should cover total nonfinancial public-sector debt. This comprises the debt of the central government (budgetary,
extrabudgetary, and social security funds), state and local governments, and nonfinancial public corporations. In practice, however, it is
often useful to initially focus on central government debt, where in general data are more readily available. Extending the scope of the
MTDS beyond the central government would require some element of central government control on the borrowing decisions of state
and local governments and nonfinancial public corporations.
The focus of the MTDS is typically on actual direct liabilities of the government rather than contingent liabilities. Nevertheless, contingent liabilities may have an important bearing on the sustainability of debt and the robustness of the MTDS. Consequently, it would be
prudent to consider the potential risk that contingent liabilities could materialize under specific scenarios.
Sources: IMF and World Bank (2009, 2017); and IMF (2014d).

LEVELS OF PRACTICE FOR PRINCIPLE 3.2.2
BASIC PRACTICE: All borrowing is authorized by law and the risks surrounding the government’s debt
holdings are analyzed and disclosed.
223. Basic practice requires a sound legal framework for the incurrence and management of public debt, which
should

118

•

cover all debt transactions and debt guarantees, including by extrabudgetary funds, and any borrowing
or collateralization against future resource revenues, including by a national resource company;

•

clearly assign authority to a single person, usually the minister of finance, to select the instruments necessary for borrowing and contract all debt on behalf of the government;

•

permit borrowing only for the purposes defined by law and up to the limits set by the legislature; and

•

establish and supervise the organization responsible for debt management and issue regulations covering
its role and responsibilities.

See also Das and others (2012).
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224. Vulnerabilities in the government’s debt structure and risks associated with its debt holdings should be
identified, analyzed, and disclosed. Key risks include those arising from changes in interest rates, exchange
rates, and rollover risk.119 Relevant indicators for these risks include the share of variable rate debt issued,
the maturity structure of the debt portfolio, the share of debt maturing in less than one year, and the share
of foreign currency by denomination. In addition, sensitivity analysis can be used to show how the value
of outstanding debt and debt servicing would change in response to changes in interest rates and exchange
rates. One of the most used frameworks to analyze the risks surrounding the government’s debt holdings is
the IMF’s DSA, which identifies vulnerabilities in the debt structure or the policy framework, and assesses a
baseline projection for debt and its sensitivity to macroeconomic shocks (see Box 4.16 and Georgia example
in Box 4.17).120



Box 4.16. Debt Sustainability Analysis

The IMF has developed a formal framework for conducting public and external debt sustainability analyses (DSA) as a tool to better
detect, prevent, and resolve potential crises. This framework, which became operational in 2002, consists of two complementary components: the analysis of the sustainability of total public debt and that of total external debt. Each component includes a baseline scenario,
based on a set of macroeconomic projections that articulate the government’s intended policies, with the main assumptions and parameters clearly laid out, and a series of sensitivity tests applied to the baseline scenario, providing a probabilistic upper bound for the debt
dynamics under various assumptions regarding policy variables, macroeconomic developments, and financing costs. The paths of debt
indicators under the baseline scenario and the stress tests allow analysts to assess the vulnerability of a country to a payments crisis.
Sources: https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/dsa/; and IMF (2018).



Box 4.17. Georgia: Debt Sustainability Analysis

The government produces a biannual debt bulletin detailing the composition of its debt portfolio, and an annual DSA, which explores
the exposure of public debt to interest, growth, and exchange rate shocks. The analysis indicates the biggest exposures related to growth
where a one standard deviation shock would increase debt by 6 percent of GDP by 2019, and the exchange rate, where a US$1 recovery
would reduce the debt by 30 percent of GDP.
Sources: https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/dsa/lic.aspx?cty=GEO&fm=-1&fy=-1&tm=-1&ty=-1&__VIEWSTATEGENERATOR=C685C5F9; and IMF (2017b).

GOOD PRACTICE: All borrowing is authorized by law, and the risks surrounding the government’s financial
assets and liabilities are analyzed and disclosed.
225. Good practice extends the scope of analysis of the government’s balance sheet to encompass risks that relate to nondebt liabilities and financial assets. Disclosure of nondebt liabilities, such as civil servant pensions
and PPPs, and financial assets and the risks around them, can contribute to their improved management. The
approach adopted to assessing and disclosing risks will depend on the nature of asset and liability components, but at a minimum it should include discussion of the key risk factors and how these have impacted the

119

Rollover risk is the risk that a debt cannot be refinanced at the same, or more favorable, terms. It is commonly faced by countries when
their debt is about to mature and needs to be rolled over into new debt. If interest rates or exchange rates change unexpectedly, countries
may have to refinance their debt at a higher rate and incur greater debt servicing charges in the future.

120

For more information on the DSA framework, see IMF (2018).
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balance sheet. In addition, governments could disclose quantitative analysis demonstrating the sensitivity of
the value of financial assets and liabilities to changes in key risk factors.121
ADVANCED PRACTICE: All liabilities and significant asset acquisitions or disposals are authorized by law, and
the risks surrounding the balance sheet are disclosed and managed according to a published strategy.
226. Sound management of the government’s balance sheet ultimately needs to take account of all financial and
nonfinancial assets and the government’s long-term financial objectives. The strategy may involve specifying the different objectives of each portfolio, setting a general policy for managing the trade-off between risk
and return, establishing portfolio benchmarks, taking actions to shift the actual portfolio toward the desired
portfolio over time, and ensuring good reporting and accountability arrangements. Adopting an integrated
balance sheet approach makes it possible to consider interactions between risks in different portfolios, thus
avoiding a suboptimal approach in which risks are managed in isolation from one another.122
227. There should be a clear legal framework regulating the acquisition and disposal of assets. Financial assets
are often traded actively to improve their expected returns, and the regulatory framework should cover the
need for a published investment strategy (see New Zealand example in Box 4.18), the allocation of authority
for investment and divestment decisions, and the reporting and auditing arrangements. For nonfinancial assets, acquisition and divestment decisions are infrequent and discrete, and the legal framework should cover
the authority to make decisions, the processes to be followed, and the disclosure requirements.



Box 4.18. New Zealand’s Investment Statement

The Public Finance Act (1989) of New Zealand requires the Treasury to report to Parliament with an Investment Statement at least every
four years. The statement’s purpose is to increase transparency and accountability over the investment taxpayers have made in the central government’s balance sheet. The Investment Statement must describe and state the current value of the central government’s assets
and liabilities, as well as changes in the last four years and foreseeable changes in the coming four years.
With the objective of better supporting decisions on the future investment strategy and capital allocation, the 2018 Investment Statement explores the link between effective government investment and well-being outcomes. To appraise performance at a government agency, sector,
and system level, the Treasury analyses six investment performance dimensions: effectiveness; efficiency; sustainability; resilience; adaptability;
and for social assets, distribution.
Source: New Zealand authorities.
For more information, see http://www.treasury.govt.nz/government/investmentstatements/2014.

PRINCIPLE 3.2.3. Guarantees
The government’s guarantee exposure is regularly disclosed and authorized by law.
228. Government guarantees are one of the most common sources of fiscal risk for governments (Saxena S., 2017).
The size and composition of these guarantees vary considerably from country to country (Figure 4.3). Guarantees can provide an attractive means of providing support to businesses and households as—unlike direct subsidies, grants, or lending—they are typically not included in measures of the government deficit or debt unless
and until they are called. Excessive reliance on guarantees, however, can complicate fiscal management, because
they tend to be called when macroeconomic conditions and the fiscal position are already deteriorating.
121

For example, for financial asset portfolios, the analysis could assess the impact of changes in interest rates, exchange rates, and
equity prices on the value of the portfolio. For civil servant pension liabilities, it could analyze the impact of changes in wage growth
and other cost drivers. For PPPs, it could assess the impact of possible future changes in demand (e.g., the volume of road traffic) for
those contracts that have demand-linked availability payments.

122

For example, a government may have a natural hedge for a foreign currency liability offset by a separate foreign currency asset, and
paying to transfer the risk to another party would not be warranted.
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Figure 4.3. Stock of Government Guarantees in European Countries (2016)

Source: Eurostat (2018).

229. For the purposes of reporting and management, a distinction can be made between two different classes
of guarantees:
•

One-off guarantees: The most common form of a one-off guarantee is a loan guarantee covering the risk
of nonpayment (default risk) by a borrower. Other forms include exchange rate guarantees, guarantees
related to PPP contracts, and letters of credit.

•

Standardized guarantees (or guarantee schemes): These include umbrella guarantees to financial institutions for specific types of loans—for example, mortgages, student loans, small- and medium-enterprise
loans, and export credits. Other examples are government insurance schemes (e.g., covering bank deposits, agricultural crops, and natural disasters) and pension guarantees (e.g., a minimum annual return
on a defined-contribution scheme, or a minimum pension payment irrespective of the fund balance in a
participant’s account).

LEVELS OF PRACTICE FOR PRINCIPLE 3.2.3
BASIC PRACTICE: All government guarantees, their beneficiaries, and the gross exposure created by them are
published at least annually.
230. Basic practice requires that governments publish the gross exposure of their outstanding stock of guarantees and the related beneficiaries. The information can be disclosed in the annual budget documents and/or
the final accounts and should set out both new guarantees issued during the reporting period and the stock
of existing guarantees. Although not required under the basic practice, it would also be beneficial if for each
guarantee or group of guarantees, the government provided information on the date of issuance, the intended
purpose, the expected duration of the guarantee, any guarantee fees or other revenue received during the
reporting period, and any payments made, recoveries, or financial claims established with respect to called
guarantees. Governments that disclose guarantees and other contingent liabilities often report them in two
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categories: quantifiable and unquantifiable. Guarantees frequently contain a maximum gross exposure—for
example, the amount of a guaranteed loan. Other guarantees are unquantifiable—for example, a government
indemnity against environmental damage.
GOOD PRACTICE: All government guarantees, their beneficiaries, and the gross exposure created by them are
published at least annually. The maximum value of new guarantees or their stock is authorized by law.
231. Because guarantees provide an alternative mechanism for pledging public resources to third parties, good
practice requires governments to place a limit on their exposure. This means that the issuance of guarantees
during the fiscal year should be authorized by the legislature and subject to a ceiling or other restrictions. The
ceiling may apply to the total stock of guarantees (as in Colombia) or to the annual issuance of new guarantees
(as in Canada and Hungary). The total guarantee limit may then be allocated among various agencies, or it
may be held centrally (e.g., by the minister of finance) and allocated during the budget year. Implementing
this practice requires a sound base of information on the stock and recent flows of new guarantee issuance,
and some analysis of the extent to which new guarantees could pose unacceptable risks to fiscal sustainability.
The policy of the federal government of Brazil is shown in Box 4.19.



Box 4.19. Brazil: Policy on Federal Guarantees

Brazil’s Fiscal Responsibility Law permits the federal government, states, federal districts, and municipalities to grant guarantees for internal or external credit operations. For the federal government, the stock of guarantees is currently limited to 60 percent of net current
revenues (Senate Resolution No. 48 [2007]). For states, guarantees are limited to 22 percent of their net current revenue. New guarantees, their beneficiaries, the stock of outstanding guarantees, and guarantee calls are disclosed in the Annual Accounts of the President.
Information on the guarantees is also available in quarterly reports on fiscal management issued by the Treasury.
Source: IMF (2017a).

ADVANCED PRACTICE: All government guarantees, their beneficiaries, the gross exposure created by them,
and their probability of being called are published at least annually. The maximum value of new guarantees
or their stock is authorized by law.
232. Advanced practice requires the government to provide, where feasible, estimates of the probability
of guarantees being called. Reliable estimation of these probabilities can be technically challenging, but
countries such as Australia, Chile, Colombia, Indonesia, Sweden, and Turkey have developed quantitative
methods modeled on standard credit-risk evaluation techniques to estimate default probability and the
associated losses. These countries typically make use of one or more of three main approaches: (i) a credit
rating-based risk assessment, (ii) statistical modeling, and (iii) scenario analyses based on stochastic simulations. For standardized guarantee schemes, historical loss data on the actual pool of guarantees or a
similar pool of guarantees can provide a reasonable estimate of the expected loss due to guarantees being
called. In the absence of historical data, market information, credit rating assessments, or credit scores
derived from composite financial indicators can be used to estimate the probability of default. Where data
allow, governments can also publish estimates of the present values of guarantees, which explicitly or
implicitly incorporate estimates of call probabilities. The approach followed in the United States is shown
in Box 4.20.



Box 4.20. United States: Disclosure on Guarantees

Following the Federal Credit Reforms in the early 1990s, the U.S. government introduced a cost-based recognition of direct and guaranteed loans in the budget. Agencies are required to include an estimate of the present value of the expected costs of loans and guarantees in their budgets. Expected costs are essentially discounted cash outflows, that is, loan disbursements and payments on default of
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a guaranteed loan, adjusted for inflows (origination fees, repayments, interest receipts, and recoveries). The present value is calculated
using a discount rate equal to the rate the government pays on its borrowings of a similar maturity. The part of the cost not covered
by fees is treated as a subsidy. Appropriations are obtained for the subsidized cost of each loan program. The unsubsidized portion is
budgeted below the line as a financing transaction. Subsidy costs are included in the computation of total budget expenditure and the
budget balance. The subsidy cost is reestimated annually. An automatic appropriation covers any overruns.
Source: Government of the United States, Congressional Budget Office (2004).

PRINCIPLE 3.2.4. Public-Private Partnerships
Obligations under public-private partnerships are regularly disclosed and actively managed.
233. Public-private partnerships (PPPs) can create debt-like and/or guaranteed obligations for government and,
therefore, can be a major source of fiscal risk.123 There are several types of PPP instrument. In a typical PPP,
the private partner agrees to finance the construction of an asset and to operate and maintain the asset over
a period (typically) between 10 and 30 years. In return, the government may commit itself to paying for the
services provided by the asset over the life of the PPP contract. Alternatively, the government may allow the
private partner to recoup its costs by charging users of the service a fee but at the same time provide guarantees or similar commitments that reduce the private partner’s risks (e.g., a guarantee of a minimum level of
traffic or revenue, or a commitment to compensate lenders if the contract is terminated before its scheduled
end). Frequently, these debt-like guarantee obligations are excluded from the government’s estimates of its
debt and guarantees, notwithstanding guidance in both IPSAS and GFSM 2014 that most PPPs should be
treated as creating assets and liabilities on the government’s balance sheet. Although PPPs may sometimes
be a useful way of providing public services, they can also be used to circumvent rules that limit direct and
guaranteed debt and therefore exacerbate fiscal risks.
234. There are two complementary ways of ensuring transparency regarding the use of PPPs: putting them on
the government’s balance sheet and disclosing information on their fiscal implications. The first approach
treats PPPs as public investments for accounting purposes even though, from a legal point of view, they are financed and maintained by a private company. This approach is taken by IPSAS and GFSM 2014 when certain
criteria are met that relate to the control of the project and the allocation of its risks and rewards.124 A second
approach (which can be used in addition to the first) is to disclose information on the rights and obligations
that each project creates for the government, and to publish projections of the government’s receipts and
payments over the life of each contract. When projects are not recorded on the balance sheet, the risks they
create can be controlled, to some extent, by imposing limits on the obligations that the government can incur
in PPPs. The IMF has developed a standardized tool (P-FRAM) to assess the fiscal risks associated with PPPs
(see Box 4.21).

123

For more on PPPs, see, for example, Hemming and others (2006); and Funke, Irwin, and Rial (2013). The PPP capital stock accounts
on average for less than 1 percent of GDP in advanced economies but around 5 percent of GDP in emerging markets and low-
income countries: see IMF (2015b).

124

Putting a PPP on the government’s balance sheet means that (i) the private partner’s investment spending counts as government
spending; (ii) the project is recorded as an asset on the government’s balance sheet; and (iii) the government also records a liability
initially equal to the value of the asset. Although this approach is usually associated with accrual accounting, it can also be used with
cash accounting, though no asset would be recorded.
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Box 4.21. PPP Fiscal Risk Assessment Model

There is a widespread consensus on the need to improve project evaluation techniques for PPPs to ensure that only the right projects
are procured. However, better project evaluation techniques cannot, by themselves, ensure the budget affordability of a project. Typically, financing and funding conditions for projects are managed by separate processes. Governments may end up procuring projects
that either cannot be funded within the existing budgetary envelope or expose the public finances to excessive fiscal risks. To address
these concerns, the PPP Fiscal Risk Assessment Model (P-FRAM) has been developed as an analytical tool to quantify the macro-fiscal
implications of PPP projects.
The tool uses a simple, user-friendly, Excel-based platform and follows a four-step decision tree:
•

Who initiates the project? The impact of main fiscal indicators (i.e., deficit and debt) varies depending on the public entity ultimately
responsible for the project (e.g., central or local governments, state-owned enterprises).

•

Who controls the asset? Simple standardized questions assist the user in making an informed decision about the government’s
ability to control a PPP-related asset—through ownership, beneficial entitlement, or other means. If the government is regarded as
controlling the asset, this typically impacts the main fiscal indicators.

•

Who ultimately pays for the asset? P-FRAM allows for three funding alternatives: (i) the government pays for the asset using public
funds (e.g., periodic payments); (ii) the government allows the private sector to collect fees directly from the asset’s users (e.g., tolls);
or (iii) a combination of methods (i) and (ii).

•

Does the government provide additional support to the private partner? Governments may not only fund PPP projects directly but
can also support private partners by providing guarantees (e.g., debt and minimum revenues), equity injections, and tax amnesties,
among other methods.

Once project-specific and macroeconomic data are introduced, P-FRAM automatically generates standardized outputs: (i) project cash flows over the whole life cycle; (ii) fiscal tables and charts, both on a cash and accrual basis—that is, government’s
cash statement, income statement, and balance sheet; (iii) debt sustainability analyses with and without the PPP project; and
(iv) sensitivity analyses of the main fiscal aggregates to changes in the macroeconomic and project-specific parameters. These
outputs can be compared to the country-specific reporting standards of PPP transactions to evaluate how closely they conform
to best practices.
For access to the Excel-based tool and the user manual, visit: http://www.imf.org/external/np/fad/publicinvestment/index.htm.

LEVELS OF PRACTICE FOR PRINCIPLE 3.2.4
BASIC PRACTICE: The government at least annually publishes its total rights, obligations, and other
exposures under public-private partnership contracts.
235. Basic practice involves the disclosure of the government’s rights and obligations and other exposures
under PPPs (see Box 4.22 for an example from Uganda). For each PPP project (or group of similar projects),
budget documents and year-end financial statements should provide information on:
•

total future service payments and receipts (e.g., concessions and operating lease fees) for the following
20–30 years, as relevant; and

•

details of contract provisions that give rise to direct or contingent payment obligations or receipts (e.g.,
concessions and operating lease fees, guarantees, shadow tolls, profit-sharing arrangements, or events
triggering contract renegotiation).

In addition, it is desirable for governments to provide information on the amount and terms of financing and
other support for PPPs provided through government on-lending or via publicly owned or controlled financial institutions.

©International Monetary Fund. Not for Redistribution

122

FISCAL TRANSPARENCY HANDBOOK

4.22. Uganda: Annual Disclosure of Contingent Liabilities Related to Public-Private
	Box
Partnership Contracts
In Uganda, there is a well-defined legal and institutional framework for PPPs, adopted in the PPP ACT 2015, and estimates of contingent
liabilities related to PPP contracts are published annually. The PPP Act requires a high-level PPP committee to validate PPP projects and
provide overall guidance on PPP policy, and a PPP unit at the Ministry of Finance that is expected to monitor and report on PPPs, including PPP-related contingent liabilities. For example, the Public Debt, Guarantees, and Grants report contains estimates of contingent
liabilities over the period 2016–2019 for seven ongoing PPP projects, based on the explicit guarantees provided by the government. But
these estimates do not cover the lifetime of the projects, which often extends far beyond 2020.
Source: IMF (2017e).

GOOD PRACTICE: The government at least annually publishes its total rights, obligations, and other
exposures under public-private partnership contracts and the expected annual receipts and payments over
the life of the contracts.
236. Good practice requires, in addition to the above, that forecasts of the government’s payments and receipts over the life of the PPP contracts be published. This practice is particularly important, and relatively
straightforward, for PPPs in which the government pays for the service provided by the private partner. It
can also be done for other PPP contracts by estimating/forecasting the expected annual receipts and payments
over the life of the contracts. The published information should cover
•

the annual service payments and receipts (e.g., concessions and operating lease fees) over the life of the
PPP contracts;

•

details of contract provisions (e.g., guarantees, shadow tolls, profit-sharing arrangements, and events triggering contract renegotiation) that give rise to contingent payments or receipts annually; and

•

the amount and terms of financing and other support for PPPs that the government expects to provide
annually through on-lending or publicly owned or controlled financial institutions.



Box 4.23. Chile: Framework for Managing Public-Private Partnerships

Disclosure of PPP information: The PPP management framework in Chile relies heavily on quantitative analysis. PPPs are subject to
cost-benefit analysis and generally must have an expected annual social rate of return exceeding a specified threshold. The Ministry of
Finance uses a spreadsheet-based model to estimate the cost of possible guarantees, to set fees, and to report information on the costs
and risks of guarantees. The government has also initiated a long-term planning system for all PPP commitments, which includes an
assessment of the budget affordability of new projects, provisions for future contract modifications and disputes, and an assessment of
long-term sustainability. All PPP contracts are published.
Legal requirements and limits: The Ministry of Public Works must obtain approval from the Ministry of Finance at several stages of
the contract preparation, including when the bidding documents are issued and at the end of the procurement process. The Ministry
of Finance requires that all risks associated with the project be identified and that a project’s economic and social benefits be evaluated. Projects must be approved by both the Minister of Finance and the Minister of Public Works, as well as by the Comptroller and
Auditor-General and the President. Most project risks are borne by a special-purpose vehicle (SPV) or transferred to third parties through
insurance. Where the government provides minimum revenue guarantees, it charges a fee for bearing this risk. An annual appropriation
is also included in the budget to cover the potential loss from contingent liabilities created by PPPs.
Source: Irwin and Mokdad (2010).
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ADVANCED PRACTICE: The government at least annually publishes its total rights, obligations, and other
exposures under public-private partnership contracts and the expected annual receipts and payments over
the life of the contracts. A legal limit is also placed on accumulated obligations.
237. Advanced practice, in addition, requires that the government places a legal limit on accumulated PPP obligations. When PPPs are treated as “on balance sheet”, the government’s obligations will be constrained by fiscal
rules that limit debt. Where PPP liabilities are not included in the definition of debt, it is also possible to impose
PPP-specific limits on the incurrence of PPP obligations. These limits can take several forms, such as quantitative
ceilings on overall fiscal exposure to PPPs, including direct service payments and contingent liabilities (e.g., Brazil, El Salvador, Hungary, Peru). There should also be an appropriate gatekeeping role for the ministry of finance
in assessing the risks related to PPPs and fiscal sustainability (see Chile example in Box 4.23).

PRINCIPLE 3.2.5. Financial Sector Exposure
The government’s potential fiscal exposure to the financial sector is analyzed, disclosed, and
managed.
238. Financial crises have been historically the single most important specific risk to the public finances. Governments are often exposed to both explicit and implicit risks from the financial sector. These can include explicit
risks emanating from government guarantees of bank deposits, and implicit risk exposures associated with securing liquidity and the flow of credit when financial institutions are severely stressed. As was evident during
the global financial crisis, governments may elect to bail out troubled banks and other deposit-taking institutions, as well as other non-deposit-taking institutions, such as insurance companies, to prevent major defaults
and further contagion.125 In the event of a sovereign debt crisis, the weakening of banks’ balance sheets can create additional demands for financial support. Government bailouts (or rescues) of a financial corporation may
take various forms.126 For example, the government might provide recapitalization through a capital injection,
assume a failed corporation’s liabilities, provide loans or acquire equity in financial corporations, guarantee
borrowing by a bank, or purchase assets from a corporation at prices greater than their true market value.
239. Governments have traditionally shied away from publicly discussing their implicit exposures to the financial sector. This has partly been for fear of exacerbating potential moral hazard and increasing the risk to
government. In the run-up to the global financial crisis, even the few governments that published a statement
of fiscal risks typically did not mention the potential risks arising from the financial sector. Some information
on these risks was often available, however, from other sources, such as central banks’ reports on financial
stability and Financial Sector Assessment Programs (FSAPs), which are comprehensive and in-depth assessments of the stability of the financial system prepared by the IMF and World Bank. Each FSAP concludes with
the preparation of a Financial System Stability Assessment, publication of which is voluntary but presumed.127
240. In the wake of the global financial crisis, some governments have become more open to disclosing fiscal
risks emanating from the financial sector. While governments should be very cautious about disclosing problems of individual financial institutions, there are some standard indicators of the financial sector risks that
could be reported. For example, the government’s maximum theoretically possible loss could be indicated by
125

For example, for the 10 countries that experienced the largest unanticipated increase in general government gross debt between 2007
and 2010, the financial sector interventions, on average, amounted to 3.8 percent of GDP (See IMF, 2012a).

126

A bailout may in effect constitute nationalization if the government acquires control of the corporation it is bailing out, and this will
change the classification of the corporation from the private to the public sector.

127

See http://www.imf.org/external/np/fsap/fssa.aspx that describes the FSAP and includes many associated Financial System Stability
Assessment (FSSA) country reports. Following the global financial crisis, the IMF in September 2010 made it mandatory for 25 juris
dictions with systemically important financial sectors to undergo financial stability assessments under the FSAP every five years.
This number was subsequently increased to 29 countries.
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the total consolidated liabilities of the financial sector (net of reserves). The government could also publish
indicators of the liabilities covered by explicit government guarantee schemes, the level and recent growth of
credit and asset prices, and indicators of the creditworthiness and liquidity of banks.128 Finally, governments
could discuss the steps they have taken, or are planning to take, to mitigate these risks. Such strategies can
include strengthening prudential regulation and supervision, removing blanket guarantees to protect depositors or to support loss-making or failing financial institutions, redesigning deposit insurance schemes, and
strengthening the regulatory framework for and oversight of government-owned financial corporations.

LEVELS OF PRACTICE FOR PRINCIPLE 3.2.5
BASIC PRACTICE: The authorities quantify and disclose their explicit support to the financial sector at least
annually.
241. Basic practice requires annual publication of information on the government’s explicit support to the financial sector, such as government-provided or government-backed deposit insurance schemes. Information on such schemes should include their objectives and type, how they are financed, the definition of eligible
depositors and covered institutions, the ceiling on covered deposits, and the percentage of the total deposits
and depositors that are covered. In addition to deposit insurance, governments may guarantee certain other
bank liabilities, which should also be disclosed. Finally, details of the government’s ownership interest in the
financial sector should be published.
GOOD PRACTICE: The authorities quantify and disclose their explicit support to the financial sector at least
annually and regularly undertake an assessment of financial sector stability.
242. Good practice requires, in addition, that the authorities publish an assessment of the stability of the financial sector. Such reports are often prepared by central banks or other financial supervisory agencies. These
reports discuss various factors that affect the soundness of the financial sectors, such as the state of the macroeconomy. They also typically disclose a variety of indicators for the risks posed by the financial sector, including whether financial and nonfinancial assets are fairly valued, the extent of banks’ nonperforming loans,
the capital that banks have accumulated to absorb losses, and their ability to withstand temporary liquidity
shocks.
ADVANCED PRACTICE: The authorities quantify and disclose their explicit support to the financial sector at
least annually and regularly undertake an assessment of financial sector stability, based on a plausible range
of macroeconomic and financial market scenarios.
243. Advanced practice requires, in addition, that financial sector stability be assessed against a range of scenarios. Such analysis can help to identify the main vulnerabilities that could trigger a financial crisis, and
increase the prospect that remedial actions will be taken to reduce exposures. An assessment should stress
test the financial sector against solvency and liquidity risks by considering an alternative economic scenario in
which GDP grows at a lower rate than the central forecast rate over a specified period.129 Stress tests can also
assess exposures under alternative scenarios for market risks (e.g., interest rates or exchange rates), as well as
analyze linkages among financial institutions within a country and across borders. An example of financial
sector risk disclosure in Finland is shown in Box 4.24.
244. Although implicit guarantees to the financial sector are not disclosed on government balance sheets, it is
important to understand their size, and the likelihood that they are realized. There are various approaches
to assessing and valuing such guarantees, one of which is the contingent claims analysis (CCA) described in
Box 4.25.
128

See Irwin (2015).

129

A stress test is an analysis designed to determine whether a financial institution has enough capital to withstand the impact of adverse developments.
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Box 4.24. Finland: Reports on Financial Stability

The Bank of Finland, the Financial Supervisory Authority, and the European Central Bank (ECB) all publish comprehensive reports on
financial-sector risks. The Bank of Finland’s reports on financial stability, for example, provide a detailed description of the risks faced by
banks, drawing on many different indicators. The ECB’s October 2014 report on the results of a stress test and an asset-quality review
presents further information on the risks faced by the three largest Finnish banks under an adverse economic scenario. In addition, the
government includes a discussion of financial-sector risks and financial soundness indicators in its annual statement of fiscal risks.
Source: IMF (2015a).



Box 4.25. Contingent Claims Analysis

Contingent claims analysis (CCA) involves observing the different market pricing of debt and equities, exploiting the fact that in the event
of default, equity holders will be wiped out, but debt holders still carry some expectation of receiving government support. Equity prices
and balance sheet data can be used in a CCA framework to estimate expected losses and associated credit spreads (“fair-value CDS”).
These spreads are frequently higher than observed bank CDS spreads since equity holders do not benefit from implicit guarantees but
debt holders do. The difference in the observed and fair-value CDS spreads indicates the size of the implicit government guarantee.
This implicit subsidy can be applied to the stock of outstanding debt liabilities, or more specifically the expected value of the loss upon
default, to determine a market-based estimate of the expected value of the contingent liability at any given time.
While useful, CCA carries some caveats. CDS markets can be thin or nonexistent for many banks, especially in smaller markets. During
financial crises, CDS spreads become highly volatile and unreliable, and the calculations assume that equity holders are wiped out in full,
whereas in the global financial crisis they were bailed out to some extent. Recent regulatory changes are designed to ensure that more
creditors are bailed in than during the global financial crisis.
Source: Jobst and Gray (2013).

PRINCIPLE 3.2.6. Natural Resources130
The government’s interest in exhaustible natural resource assets and their exploitation is
valued, disclosed, and managed.
245. For natural resource–rich countries, uncertainty concerning the volume and value of their resource endowments can be one of the most significant fiscal risks. There are over 50 countries that are classified as rich in
hydrocarbons and minerals.131 Some countries with significant natural resource assets have developed a comprehensive framework for reporting these assets, revenues, and risks. An example from Norway is provided
in Box 4.26. Thirty-one countries are currently compliant with the Extractive Industry Transparency Initiative (EITI) standards, by which information on the oil, gas, and mining industries is published.132 However,
few countries, even among advanced economies, systematically include statements of the value of natural
resources in their budget documents or financial statements. This reflects in part the difficulty of measuring
these assets and forecasting the volume and value of production.

130

A detailed assessment of natural resource revenue management issues is provided in Pillar IV of the Code.

131

Countries are considered rich in hydrocarbons and/or mineral resources if more than 25 percent of their revenues or total export
proceeds derive from this source. See IMF (2007), Appendix 1.

132

See https://eiti.org/.
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LEVELS OF PRACTICE FOR PRINCIPLE 3.2.6
BASIC PRACTICE: The government publishes annual estimates of the volume and value of major natural
resource assets, as well as the volume and value of the previous year’s sales and fiscal revenue.
246. Governments with significant natural resource holdings should publish estimates of the stock of these
assets and the volume and value of the previous year’s sales and fiscal revenue. Estimating the total stock of
a natural resource requires the aggregation of field-by-field production and reserve estimates. This requires
a clear definition of the point in the exploration and development cycle at which an asset is recognized. An
appropriate revenue classification is also required, as well as accounting and reporting systems that separately capture natural resource revenues in fiscal reports. Countries are encouraged to comply with the EITI
standard, which calls for regular reporting by governments of their natural resource revenues, and by companies of the payments they make. EITI requires that these data be published and made subject to independent
validation, a process that involves participation by civil society. There may be confidentiality clauses in the
government’s contracts with individual resource companies that present an obstacle to publicly disclosing
information on field-by-field extraction rates and company-by-company sales revenues. Where possible, governments may consider avoiding such constraints in future contracts so that the information can be disclosed.
GOOD PRACTICE: The government publishes annual estimates of the volume and value of major natural
resource assets under varying price scenarios, as well as the volume and value of the previous year’s sales and
fiscal revenue.
247. Good practice, in addition, requires that governments disclose the estimated value of natural resource
assets under different price scenarios. Because of the volatility of natural resource prices, such analysis adds
an important dimension to the assessment of fiscal sustainability, especially in countries that are substantial
producers of natural resources (see Box 4.26 for the Norway example).



Box 4.26. Norway: Reporting on Natural Resources

Norway provides comprehensive information on natural resource assets and respective revenues and risks in several reports. These
include the following:
“Resource Accounts” are published annually by the Petroleum Directorate and provide an estimation of the proven and unproven petroleum resources by type of resource (e.g., oil, gas, condensate) and by sea area in cubic meters. They also disclose reserves, contingent
resources, and undiscovered resources and compares them to the previous year’s values. The report is based on the UN Framework
Classification System 2009, which ensures comparability of resource estimates across various classification systems.
The “Petroleum Resources on the Norwegian Continental Shelf” provides an analysis of the exploration developments and presents
an updated estimate of undiscovered resources. It also advises on exploration activities.
The “National Budget” presents the different sources of fiscal revenues and a projected path for petroleum prices, which is updated at
least annually. There is also an indication of how gross revenues would change if prices were lower or higher.
The “Medium-Term Macroeconomic Program” contains a discussion of the potential impact of lower petroleum prices.
Source: Norwegian authorities.

ADVANCED PRACTICE: The government publishes annual estimates of the volume and value of major natural
resource assets under varying price and extraction scenarios, as well as the volume and value of the previous
year’s sales and fiscal revenue.
248. Advanced practice requires, in addition, the analysis of varying extraction scenarios. Long-term price and
extraction scenarios illustrate the fiscal impact of faster rates compared to slower rates of resource extraction,
requiring a further layer of analysis. Because the resources are finite, it is important to address alternative options concerning possible exploitation rates, paying attention to the intergenerational distribution of income
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flows, as well as the distribution of spending and the immediate social impact of resource industries. Such
analysis helps to inform and illuminate public deliberation and debate over the complex efficiency, sustainability, and intergenerational equity issues involved.

PRINCIPLE 3.2.7. Environmental Risks
The potential fiscal exposure to natural disasters and other major environmental risks is analyzed, disclosed, and managed.
249. Natural disasters can be a major source of fiscal risk in some countries. Between 1994 and 2013, total economic losses globally from natural disasters were estimated to be at US$2.6 trillion, equivalent to 4 percent
of world GDP (Guha-Sapir, Below, and Hoyois, 2016; IMF, 2016b). Natural disasters may affect countries at
different income levels.133 Financial costs can be significant for low-income countries as most of the vulnerable
population lack adequate insurance mechanisms. Disasters often result in direct fiscal costs as governments
provide support and face the cost of repairing or replacing public infrastructure. Governments are also exposed to potential fiscal costs from climate change—costs related to adaptation and mitigation—and other
environmental hazards, such as pollution or site degradation associated with natural resource extraction or
nuclear power production, the storage or transportation of hazardous substances, and pandemics. The government’s exposure may be explicit—for example, greenhouse gas reduction obligations in international treaties, indemnities against environmental risks, or the costs of repairing state assets—or implicit, such as public
expectations or political pressure to provide assistance and relief to the victims of natural disasters.
250. Countries that publish a fiscal risk statement, and are prone to natural disasters, typically include a discussion of the risks from such disasters. This assessment should provide, where feasible, quantitative estimates of the potential fiscal impact of natural disasters, based on historical experiences, and the government’s
strategies for preventing, mitigating, and managing them. Such strategies could include putting in place an
early warning system and disaster preparedness and response mechanisms; transferring risks to third parties
through disaster insurance, or mandating insurance for individuals, businesses, or public entities; and creating budget provisions or buffer funds to meet the costs of natural disasters, should they occur. The World
Bank has developed a comprehensive approach to disaster risk reduction focused, among other things, on
protecting the government’s financial position (Ghesquierre and Mahul, 2010).
251. The UN Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015–2030 sets out four priority action areas for
disaster risk management.134 These areas comprise: (i) understanding disaster risk in all its dimensions of vulnerability, capacity, exposure of persons and assets, hazard characteristics, and the environment; (ii) strengthening disaster risk governance—at the national, regional, and global levels—for better prevention, mitigation,
preparedness, response, recovery, and rehabilitation; (iii) investing public as well as private resources in disaster
risk reduction; and (iv) enhancing disaster preparedness for effective responses and to “Build Back Better” in
recovery, rehabilitation, and reconstruction.

LEVELS OF PRACTICE FOR PRINCIPLE 3.2.7
BASIC PRACTICE: The government identifies and discloses the main fiscal risks from natural disasters in
qualitative terms.
252. Governments should disclose the main natural disasters to which they are exposed, based on historical
experience. Natural disasters can be broken down into three subcategories—sudden impact disasters (floods,
earthquakes, tidal waves, tropical storms, volcanic eruptions, and landslides); slow-onset disasters (droughts,
famine, environmental degradation, deforestation, pest infestation, and desertification); and epidemic diseases, which often break out following a disaster.
133

While they may cause greater loss of life in poor countries, richer countries tend to experience greater financial costs due to their
exposure to high-value assets.

134

https://www.unisdr.org/we/coordinate/sendai-framework.
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GOOD PRACTICE: The government identifies and discloses the main fiscal risks from natural disasters,
quantifying them on the basis of historical experiences.
253. Governments should, where feasible, publish quantitative estimates of the potential fiscal impact of natural disasters based on their past incidence. Such information could be based on historical experiences and be
coordinated by a central agency, drawing together data from line ministries and agencies, revenue authorities,
subnational governments, and external donors, as required. The assessment of historical experiences of fiscal
impacts should take into account the following:
•

Supplementary budget allocations for disaster relief and reconstruction;

•

Expenditure on disaster relief and reconstruction financed by virement, charges against the budget contingencies reserve, or a disaster fund;

•

International disaster relief financing, which should be scored on a net basis, after deducting any relief
provided directly by the government through the budget or other means;

•

Any disaster-related insurance receipts or other favorable fiscal impacts (e.g., lower debt servicing costs
on catastrophe bonds); and

•

Estimated indirect revenue losses due to the negative impact of natural disasters on economic activity and
tax bases.

ADVANCED PRACTICE: The government identifies and discloses the main fiscal risks from natural disasters,
quantifying them on the basis of historical experiences, and managing them according to a published strategy.
254. Advanced practice, in addition, requires the development and publication of a strategy for managing the
fiscal risks from natural disasters. Such a strategy could include putting in place an early warning system and
disaster preparedness and response mechanisms, as well as transferring risks to third parties through disaster
insurance; mandating insurance for individuals, businesses, or public entities; or directly reducing fiscal exposure by creating budget provisions or buffer funds. The strategy could also cover the possibility of new or
increased sources of exposure, for instance, from increased climate variability. The development of a national
strategy requires coordination across government—both national and subnational—improving the availability of data, and increased specialist technical capacity. Box 4.27 provides examples of Colombia and Turkey.



Box 4.27. Colombia and Turkey: The Management of Risks from Natural Disasters

Colombia is exposed to significant fiscal risks from natural disasters. The government discloses extensive information on the fiscal impact of past disasters and has taken a range of measures to manage associated risks. These measures aim at securing financing, including
through taxation, and enhancing institutional coordination and international cooperation. They include the establishment of a National
Disaster Fund (1984), enactment of a National Plan for Disaster Prevention and Assistance (1998), adoption of constitutional laws to direct resources to disaster prevention and response (2001), establishment of an external credit line to reduce fiscal vulnerability to natural
disasters (2004), and participation in a World Bank Catastrophe Drawdown Option—a contingent credit line—that provides immediate
liquidity in the aftermath of a natural disaster. In 2012, a financial strategy to reduce the state’s fiscal vulnerability when faced with a
natural disaster was introduced. The strategy adopts a layered approach that involves use of contingency reserves for high-frequency
low-impact risks; borrowing and contingent credit for intermediate risks; and risk transfer for high risks.
The Turkish government published a National Disaster Management Strategy in its 10th Development Plan 2014–2018, which included
a discussion of risks related to natural disasters and strategies for their mitigation. Turkey has established a Disaster and Emergency Management Administration Presidency (AFAD), which is responsible for preparing the National Disaster and Emergency Response Plan and the
National Earthquake Strategy and Action Plan (2012-2023). AFAD is also responsible for coordinating disaster management efforts, which
include risk preparedness at the national, provincial, and local levels. Finally, the government has established compulsory earthquake insurance coverage, which is administered by the Treasury through the Turkish Catastrophe Insurance Pool (TCIP). This pool is kept outside the
government budget and is funded by premiums collected from policy holders based on the expected insurance costs of future earthquakes.
Sources: Government of Colombia; and IMF (2017d).
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DIMENSION 3.3. FISCAL COORDINATION
Fiscal relations and performance across the public sector should be analyzed, disclosed, and
coordinated.
255. Effective fiscal policymaking and fiscal risk management require appropriate coordination of decision
making between central government and other parts of the public sector. This dimension of the Code includes two principles relating to:
•

Identifying and monitoring risks emanating from subnational governments (3.3.1); and

•

Identifying and monitoring risks emanating from public corporations (3.3.2).

256. In many countries these entities enjoy a substantial degree of autonomy in decision making (including
on fiscal issues) which can have a large macroeconomic and fiscal impact, especially when the entities have significant own resources and/or have access to borrowing domestically and internationally.
Subnational governments and public corporations can also pose significant fiscal risks if the central government provides them with explicit or implicit guarantees. Where constitutionally and institutionally
feasible, monitoring and controlling the level of fiscal risks to which these entities are exposed are therefore important.
Table 4.3 provides a list of relevant standards, norms, and guidance material related to dimension 3.3 of the Code.
Table 4.3. Relevant Standards, Norms, and Guidance Material
Standards/Guidance Material
IMF, Government Finance Statistics
Manual (GFSM, 2014)

Brief Description
GFSM defines the government sector and its subsectors—central, state, and local government
(Chapter 2C). Also defines public corporations and classifies them as either nonfinancial public
corporations or financial public corporations.
https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/gfs/manual/gfs.htm

International Public Sector Accounting
Standards (IPSAS)

IPSASs apply to the financial statements of national and subnational governments, but
do not require consolidation of subnational governments with the central government,
unless the central government is deemed to control subnational governments. IPSAS 22
establishes requirements for governments that choose to disclose information about the
general government sector and that prepare their financial statements under the accrual
basis. IPSAS 1 stipulates that Government Business Enterprises (GBEs) should comply with
International Accounting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board.
http://www.ipsasb.org/

PEFA, 2016

Includes one related indicator: PI-8 on the transparency of inter-governmental fiscal relations,
which covers the extent of consolidation of fiscal data for general government.
www.PEFA.org

IMF Guidelines for Fiscal Risk Disclosure
and Management, 2009

These guidelines set out the responsibilities of different levels of government for disclosing
information on fiscal risks—in particular, for authorizing decisions on borrowing, investment,
and the issuance of contingent obligations.

OECD Guidelines on the Corporate
Governance of State-Owned
Enterprises, revised 2015

Contains a framework for corporate governance, including the duties and responsibilities of
ministers and the management board of state enterprises, the appointment of board members, oversight arrangements, and reporting and audit requirements.
http://www.oecd.org/publications/oecd-guidelines-on-corporate-governance-of-stateowned-enterprises-2015-9789264244160-en.htm
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PRINCIPLE 3.3.1. Subnational Governments
Comprehensive information on the financial condition and performance of subnational governments, individually and as a consolidated sector, is collected and published.
257. The subnational government sector can account for a substantial share of general government financial
activity. In some countries, subnational government borrowing, off-budget activities, and associated contingent liabilities can also be significant (Figure 4.4). Subnational liabilities may benefit from explicit guarantees
from the central government, and/or from strong expectations that the central government will step in to
support entities that are in financial difficulties even in the absence of any explicit guarantee. Expectations of
bailouts can weaken market discipline and lead to excessive risk taking by subnational authorities (Ahmad and
Brosio, 2006). The materialization of risks from subnational governments can be costly, with the fiscal costs of
a subnational bailout averaging about 3.5 percent of GDP over the period 1990–2014 (Bova and others, 2016).

Figure 4.4. Liabilities of Subnational Governments in OECD Countries (2016) (Percentage of GDP)
60

50

30

HUN
GRC
IRL
ISR*
LUX
SVK
SVN
TUR
CZE
EST
POL
KOR
NZL*
MEX*
GBR
PRT
LVA
LUS
AUS
NLD
DNK
ITA
FRA
ISL
FIN
SWE
AUT
NOR
USA
BEL
DEU
ESP
JPN*
CAN

40

Source: OECD Fiscal Decentralization database.
Note: Data labels use International Organization for Standardization (ISO) country codes.

258. International and regional statistical standards have recently focused on expanding the scope of fiscal
reporting to encompass the general government. The consolidation of fiscal data from subnational governments and the central government is particularly informative when subnational governments have significant
tax powers, expenditure responsibilities, and borrowing capacity or receive sizable transfers from central government. Subnational governments should also publish fiscal data themselves to demonstrate accountability
to their legislative bodies and citizens.
259. Approaches to managing subnational fiscal risks need to take account of a country’s political and institutional structures. For example, the authority of the central government to impose direct limits on subnational
borrowing, and to enforce these limits, will depend on the subnational government’s degree of constitutional
independence. Table 4.4 sets out some common approaches to managing fiscal risks from subnational governments and the conditions that underpin these different approaches.
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Table 4.4. Different Approaches to Managing Subnational Fiscal Risks
Direct Controls
Approach

Require central approval to
borrow
Set annual limits on
borrowing

Rules-Based Regulations

Cooperation

Market Discipline

Fiscal rules (e.g., deficit or
debt rules) set through national legislation

Limits or rules established
through negotiation
agreements

No direct controls on
borrowing

Centralize borrowing in a
single authority
Advantages

High degree of central
control

Transparent

Enhanced responsibility

Emphasis on self-control
with external constraints

Preconditions

Constitutional and legal
underpinnings

Credible rules

Culture of fiscal discipline

Well-developed capital
markets

Transparent reporting

Transparent reporting

Monitoring and enforcement
mechanisms
Country
Examples

India, Georgia

Spain

Track record of no
bailouts
Austria, Denmark,
Australia

United States, Canada

Source: Ter-Minassian, 1997, updated by IMF staff.

LEVELS OF PRACTICE FOR PRINCIPLE 3.3.1
BASIC PRACTICE: The financial condition and performance of subnational governments are published
annually.
260. All countries should report on the financial position of their subnational governments at least annually.
This report should provide a summary of the fiscal operations of the subnational government sector, as well
as the financial position and performance of individual entities.135 Reports should include indicators of the
financial health of subnational governments such as their overall balance, the operating balance, accounts
payable, the level of and changes in debt, and the debt service to revenue ratio.
GOOD PRACTICE: The financial condition and performance of subnational governments are published
annually, and there is a limit on their liabilities or borrowing.
261. Good practice, in addition, requires that some limits be imposed on subnational borrowing or liabilities to
cap the overall exposure. Such limits might comprise a prohibition on certain forms of borrowing (e.g., from
external sources), on the purpose of borrowing (e.g., only to finance public investment), or, on the total stock
of debt or the debt service to revenue ratio. The central government, ideally a unit in the finance ministry or
treasury, should maintain sufficient capacity to monitor subnational governments’ compliance with these limits through timely and reliable reporting systems. Depending on the political and institutional autonomy of
subnational governments, the central government may also require legal authority to intervene and to impose
remedial actions in the case of breach of the limits (see Box 4.28 for examples from Colombia and Iceland). In
countries where the central government does not have the authority to impose limits on subnational borrowing, the subnational governments may themselves adopt rules limiting their borrowing.

135

For example, this report could be produced by the ministry of finance or by the ministry responsible for subnational governments.
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Box 4.28. Colombia and Iceland: Monitoring Regime for Subnational Governments

Colombia, following the excessive growth in subnational government’s expenditure and debt during the 1990s, took several measures
to ensure sustainability of subnational finances. The central government closely monitors financial performance of subnational governments using a variety of indicators, controls subnational borrowing where necessary, and regularly submits to Congress a report on the
financial viability of subnational governments. At the heart of the monitoring and control system is the so-called Traffic Lights Law, adopted in 1997, which mandates that each subnational government is assigned a rating based on its debt to payment capacity ratio. Only
those countries assigned a favorable rating (green zone) can borrow within their debt sustainability limits. Among other things, the legal
framework has provisions for dealing with financial insolvency, including provisions for the adoption of a national government–provided
fiscal-rescue package to regain viability. The central government is not authorized to guarantee subnational domestic debt. Subnational
governments’ external borrowing proposals are subjected to a rigorous approval process and are rare. A unified fiscal responsibility law
imposes constraints and strict sanctions for noncompliance with national legislation.
In Iceland, under the 2011 Local Government Act of 2011, fiscal rules were imposed on municipalities, along with enhanced oversight
arrangements and enforcement mechanisms for noncompliers. These rules include:
i.

a three-year rolling balanced budget rule for municipalities and a limit on the ratio of debt and other balance sheet liabilities to
revenue of 150 percent;

ii.

a three-tier system for monitoring municipal finances based on the principle of earned autonomy, in which municipalities breaching
fiscal rules are subject to increasing monitoring; and

iii.

a Municipal Fiscal Oversight Committee (MFOC), an independent body with the power to impose sanctions on municipalities that
breached the rules.

Municipalities are classified into one of three categories depending on the extent to which they comply with the two fiscal rules, with
those in higher risk categories subject to increased monitoring and reduced autonomy: (i) municipalities that comply with both fiscal
rules are subject to minimal reporting and have full autonomy within the limits of the rules; (ii) municipalities in breach of one of the
two fiscal rules are subject to increased monitoring, need to agree a 5- to 10-year fiscal adjustment strategy with the MFOC, and are
restricted to borrowing in local currency; and (iii) municipalities with excessive debt (more than 250 percent of revenues), in addition to
the restrictions of municipalities in category (ii), must also obtain approval for all major revenue, expenditure (including investment), and
borrowing decisions from the MFOC. Further sanctions are available for the MFOC to enforce compliance, including “naming and shaming” noncomplying municipalities, withholding transfers, and recommending to the minister of local government to vest fiscal powers of
a municipality in a financial management board.
Sources: Government of Colombia; and IMF (2016b).

ADVANCED PRACTICE: The financial condition and performance of subnational governments is published
quarterly, and there is a limit on their liabilities or borrowing.
262. Advanced practice requires quarterly reporting on the financial condition and performance of subnational governments. Annual fiscal data on subnational governments are not sufficiently frequent for
fiscal management purposes, especially during a fiscal crisis. Quarterly data can be used as an early
warning system, preventing the accumulation of risks. Key fiscal indicators that can be monitored include borrowing levels, debt outstanding as a ratio of revenues, and the ratio of salaries to total operating
expenditure (Ahmad and Brosio, 2006). Aside from potential legal mandate issues, particularly in federal
systems of government, the main challenge in publishing quarterly data is for accounting and reporting
systems to generate sufficiently accurate and timely information. To enable uniform reporting and comparisons across subnational governments, it is helpful for financial reporting standards at the central and
subnational level to be harmonized. An example is Finland where each municipality and joint municipal
board publishes accrual accounts on a quarterly basis, with summary information published on the website of Statistics Finland.
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PRINCIPLE 3.3.2. Public Corporations
The government regularly publishes comprehensive information on the financial performance
of public corporations, including any quasi-fiscal activity undertaken by them.
263. Public corporations account for a substantial share of public-sector financial activity and can pose
significant fiscal risks to the government. Despite large-scale privatizations since the 1980s, the value of
public corporations still accounts for over 11 percent of the market capitalization of all listed companies
worldwide and is even higher in many emerging market economies—for example, Brazil (18 percent),
India (22 percent), China (44 percent) (Allen and Alves, 2016; Kowalski and others, 2013136). Liabilities
of public corporations can comprise a substantial share of total public sector liabilities and vary widely
among countries (Figure 4.5).

Figure 4.5. Liabilities of Financial and Nonfinancial Public Corporations (2015) (Percentage of GDP)
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Sources: Eurostat; country authorities; and IMF staff estimates.
Note: Data labels use International Organization for Standardization (ISO) country codes.

264. Public corporations may expose the government to a range of fiscal risks, particularly if their debts
are implicitly or explicitly guaranteed by the government. Risks can originate from the variability
in the value of these debts, and in the taxes, royalties, and dividends paid by profitable corporations.
Loss-making corporations may require periodic or ongoing fiscal support in the form of direct budget
subsidies or capital injections. Risks can also originate from loans provided to corporations and contingent fiscal risks associated with explicit government guarantees on their debt. Finally, the ability to shift
fiscal activity from the government to public corporations can itself create fiscal risks by blurring transparency and accountability. Many countries have established a regime of financial oversight to mitigate
and manage such risks (Allen and Alves, 2016).

136

Based on 2011 data from Forbes Global 2000, which ranks top 2,000 public companies in the world. The criteria for ranking include
four elements: sales, profit, assets, and market value.
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LEVELS OF PRACTICE FOR PRINCIPLE 3.3.2
BASIC PRACTICE: All transfers between the government and public corporations are disclosed on at least an
annual basis.
265. Governments should disclose all transfers between the government and public corporations on a regular
basis. This basic level of transparency facilitates some scrutiny of the main types of flows between government and its public corporations, including the following:
•

Taxes and royalties paid by public corporations (including tax arrears). Because of their size and the
opportunities for corruption and irregularities, there is often particular public interest in the transparency of tax and royalty payments made by government-owned natural resource companies (see
Principle 3.2.6);

•

Dividends paid by corporations to the government, and profit transfers from the central bank;

•

Capital transfers or injections to corporations, write-offs of debt, and pension liabilities that exceed the
pension scheme’s assets;

•

Operating subsidies paid by the government for the costs of specific activities conducted by corporations
or to compensate for operating losses;

•

Payments by the government for services provided by corporations or the central bank; and

•

Loans or on-lending by the government to corporations.

While the aim should be to disclose information pertaining to each corporation, if a government decides to
disclose this information at an aggregate level, at a minimum all material items should be disclosed separately
to enable an assessment of the fiscal risks associated with individual corporations.
GOOD PRACTICE: All transfers between the government and public corporations are disclosed and, based on
a published ownership policy, a report on the overall financial performance of the public corporations sector
is published on at least an annual basis.
266. Governments should regularly report on the financial performance of the public corporate sector. These
reports should include information on key financial aggregates (e.g., revenues, expenses, net profits, assets,
and liabilities) as well as data on the largest corporations. Ideally, the government should also present summary tables that consolidate information from the main companies’ audited financial statements (e.g., income
statements, statements of cash flow, and balance sheets).
267. Reports on, and analysis of, the financial performance of public corporations should include a range of
indicators of the companies’ profitability, risks, and financial relations with the government. The choice
of specific indicators depends on country circumstances, including the type of industry a corporation is representing, the level of risk, and comparisons with the private sector (Allen and Alves, 2016), but typically
focuses on the following:
•

Financial performance: As measured by indicators such as the profit margin (earnings/revenue ratios),
return on equity (earnings/equity), and return on assets (earnings/assets);

•

Financial risk: As measured by indicators such as liquidity (current assets to current liabilities ratio), leverage (assets/equity), and solvency (liabilities/revenue); and

•

Transactions with the government: In the form of dividend payments, grants, and other subsidies; changes
in the government’s equity holdings in a company; and guarantees given or called.

268. Good practice also requires that the government publish a report that explains its ownership policy for its
corporations. The ownership policy should provide a clear statement of the government’s policy and financial objectives as shareholder of public corporations, the mandate given to the government in exercising these ownership rights, the main functions carried out by the government, and its commercial and noncommercial
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policy objectives. It should also explain the main principles and policies that have been set by the government
in its governance framework for public corporations—namely, reporting requirements, dividend policy, and
principles of financial assistance from the state (see OECD, 2010). An example from Norway is shown in
Box 4.29.



Box 4.29. Norway: State Ownership Strategy

The State Ownership Policy—which also requires the government to prepare annual reports on the implementation of the policy and the
performance of the corporations—includes:
•

a list of the corporations in which the state has a shareholding, and the ministries with which the companies are affiliated;

•

a statement of the government’s objectives, setting out the key goals of state ownership;

•

mandatory requirements of public corporations, including the need for a positive rate of return for commercial companies and efficient operation of social companies; a rational, predictable, and flexible dividend policy; and reporting requirements;

•

the state’s expectations of the companies, including objectives for the ownership of individual companies, and social responsibility
considerations;

•

policy on the remuneration of senior managers of public corporations, which must be competitive but not market leading;

•

the division of responsibilities for supervising the companies between the central ownership entity, line ministries, and other government bodies;

•

the legal framework for the ownership of public corporations, as well as laws relating to state subsidies, equal access to information,
good governance, transparency, and financial management; and

•

the relationship between the board of directors, the management, and the shareholders, which specifies the obligations of the board
and management, execution of the shareholders’ role through annual general meetings, and remuneration arrangements for board
members.

Source: Norwegian Ministry of Trade, Industry and Fisheries, 2014.
https://www.regjeringen.no/en/topics/business-and-industry/state-ownership/statens- eierberetning-2013/the-state-ownership-report/id2395364/

ADVANCED PRACTICE: All direct and indirect support between the government and public corporations is
disclosed and, based on a published ownership policy, a report on the overall financial performance of the
public corporations sector, including estimates of any quasi-fiscal activities undertaken, is published on at
least an annual basis.
269. In addition to disclosing direct transfers and support, advanced practice requires that the government disclose all forms of indirect support provided to public corporations (see Box 4.30 for Lithuania example).
Such support may include:
•

government guarantees of public corporation borrowing;

•

any reduced rates of tax, customs duties, or royalties imposed on public corporations compared to the
rates and allowances that apply to private sector companies;

•

interest rate subsidies;

•

any departure from normal economy-wide regulatory requirements for public corporations;

•

any preferential treatment accorded in public procurement; and

•

any implicit guarantees provided by the government to public corporations, which may reduce their borrowing costs.
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270. Many public corporations carry out quasi-fiscal activities (QFAs), which are operations undertaken in pursuit of a public policy objective that remain partially or fully uncompensated, and worsen the corporations’ financial position relative to the strictly commercial profit maximizing level. QFAs can take a range
of forms, such as public service obligations, when the company charges less than commercial (cost recovering)
prices for the provision of goods and services, such as energy or water, thus providing an implicit subsidy to
consumers; and subsidized purchases, when the company pays above commercial prices to specified suppliers (e.g., agricultural supplies purchased from domestic farmers).137
271. QFAs should be clearly distinguished in reports on public corporations prepared by the government as
well as in the annual reports of individual companies. Disclosure of such information should describe the
type of QFA, the rationale for performing the activity through the corporation rather than directly through
the state budget, the opportunity cost of the activity, and the mechanism designed to compensate the public
corporation for any negative impact on its financial position. Quantification of indirect transfers—particularly
in the form of policy measures, such as preferential procurement policies or tax concessions—and QFAs can
be challenging. More often, the data required for quantification will need to be acquired from the concerned
corporations. An estimate in the form of an order of magnitude—for example, as a percentage of GDP, or as a
range of fiscal impact rather than a point estimate—can also be useful.



Box 4.30. Lithuania: Annual Reports of Public Corporations

The government of Lithuania requires public corporations to present annual reports (and interim reports every six months), which include information on their business strategy, financial and nonfinancial targets, assessment of performance relative to targets, dividend
policy, financial position, investment plans, and social initiatives.
In addition, an annual performance monitoring report includes a summary of the Lithuanian state ownership policy; sets financial
performance objectives for public corporations and obliges them to prepare strategies to comply with these targets; and specifies the
governance arrangements for the companies, including the establishment of independent boards and the criteria for selecting members
of these boards.
The annual report also includes consolidated financial information for public corporations and for individual companies, including income and balance sheet statements, summary financial ratios, dividends and taxes paid to the state budget, and details of QFAs and
their fiscal impact. Public corporations account for and disclose information on QFAs, reflecting the associated revenues and costs as
well as any residual losses.
Source: OECD (2015b).
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Accounting basis: Defined in 2000 by the International Federation of Accountants’ (IFAC) Public Sector Committee
(PSC), the predecessor of the International Public Sector Accounting Board (IPSASB), as “the body of accounting
principles that determine when the effects of transactions or events should be recognized for financial reporting
purposes. It relates to the timing of the measurements made, regardless of the nature of the measurement.” There
are many variations of the concept of the accounting basis. The PSC identified two basic reference points (cash and
accrual) and two variations (modified cash and modified accrual).
Accounting policies: According to IPSAS, “the specific principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices applied by
an entity in preparing and presenting financial statements.”
Accounting system: The set of accounting procedures, internal mechanisms of control, books of account, and plan
and chart of accounts that are used for administering, recording, and reporting on financial transactions. Systems
should embody double-entry bookkeeping, record all stages of the payments and receipts process needed to recognize accounting transactions, integrate asset and liability accounts with operating accounts, and maintain records
in a form that can be audited.
Accrual accounting: Accrual accounting systems recognize transactions or events at the time economic value is created, transformed, exchanged, transferred, or extinguished, and all economic flows (not just cash) are recorded.
Accrual reporting: Reporting based on accrual accounting systems.
Advance release calendar: A calendar that indicates the dates on which regular publications of statistics or other
fiscal data will be available to the public.
Annual financial statements: A comprehensive presentation of the government’s financial position and financial
performance at the end of each fiscal year, which in most countries are subject to audit by the supreme audit institution before being submitted to the legislature for review and subsequently published. Where accrual-basis
accounting is used, the annual financial statements will usually include a balance sheet, an operating statement, a
cash-flow statement, and notes. Where cash-basis accounting is used, the statements will comprise a cash receipts
and payments or operating statement.
Appropriations: An authority under a law given by the legislature to the executive, valid for a specified period of
time, to spend public funds for a specified purpose. Annual appropriations are made through annual budget laws.
Supplementary budgets/appropriations are sometimes made by the legislature and amend the annual budget law.
A standing appropriation is sometimes used for authority extending beyond a single budget year under separate
legislation (e.g., social security laws). In some countries, such as the United States, the term authorization is used
to denote a general law setting up a program and permitting appropriation, but not giving any specific authority
to spend. In most countries, agencies and departments require specific executive authorization (“apportionment,
allotment, or warrant”) before they may incur an obligation against an appropriation.
Assets: Any economic resource controlled by an entity as a result of past transactions or events and from which the
economic owner may obtain future economic benefits over a period of time. Types of financial assets include cash,
deposits, loans, bonds, shares and other equities, financial derivatives, and accounts receivable. Examples of nonfinancial assets include buildings, machinery, equipment, inventories, valuables, land, subsoil mineral deposits,
and leases.
Augmented balance: The overall balance plus any losses incurred by the central bank, and any issuance of government debt to recapitalize public financial institutions not recorded in the overall balance.
137
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Balance sheet: A comprehensive and consolidated statement of the assets, liabilities, and net worth of the government or the public sector drawn up at a defined point in time, usually the end of the fiscal year.
Borrowing: Includes all direct borrowing by public sector entities, such as bonds, treasury bills, and bank loans, as
well as indirect borrowing such as accounts payable, including expenditure arrears and unpaid tax refunds.
Budget calendar: A calendar indicating the key dates in the process of preparing and approving the budget. This
calendar would include the date on which the budget circular is issued; the time period during which the finance
ministry discusses the budget submissions of ministries, departments, and agencies; the date on which the draft
budget should be submitted by the executive to the legislature; the period during which the legislature holds budget hearings; and the date on which the budget appropriations bill should be passed by the legislature.
Budget documentation: The documents that are published with the executive’s annual budget submission to the legislature or that are related to the process of preparing the budget. In addition to the draft appropriation bill, these
documents could include a fiscal strategy statement, a medium-term budget framework, a fiscal risk statement, and
a report on the execution of the budget for the previous year.
Budgetary central government: The ministries, departments, agencies, and other entities belonging to the central
government whose spending, revenues, and borrowing activities are included in the central government’s annual
budget. There may be extrabudgetary entities whose activities are excluded from the annual budget, and thus from
the definition of budgetary central government.
Cash accounting: An accounting system that recognizes transactions and events when cash is received or disbursed.
Cash reporting: Reporting based on cash-accounting systems.
Central government: All government entities that are included in the budgetary central government, plus any units
funded by extrabudgetary funds and nonmarket nonprofit institutions that are controlled by the central government. Depending on legal arrangements, social security funds are often considered part of central government.
Chart of accounts: A financial organization tool that provides an organized and coded listing of all the individual
accounts that are used to record transactions and make up the ledger system.
Commitments: A stage in the expenditure process at which a contract or other forms of planned expenditures are
approved before work is performed or goods and services are delivered. A commitment thus entails a potential
obligation for a government to pay in future when the contract is honored by its counterpart. A commitment is not
equivalent to a liability. The term is also used in a more general sense to mean firm promises of the government
made in policy statements. Since commitments usually mature as payments, their control is an essential part of
expenditure control and prevention of expenditure arrears.
Consolidation: A process of presenting the assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenditures of a group of public-sector
entities (often a controlling government unit and its controlled entities) as if they constituted a single entity. Internal transactions and balances should be eliminated.
Contingency funds or reserves: A separate fund or a budget provision set aside to meet unforeseen and unavoidable
requirements that may arise during the budget year. Certain types of contingency (e.g., meeting loan guarantee
obligations) may be specified as a potential use for such funds.
Contingent liabilities: Obligations that are contingent on the occurrence of some uncertain future event (e.g., the
calling of a government guarantee). They are therefore not yet liabilities, and may never be if a triggering event
does not materialize. Contingent liabilities may be explicit (i.e., established by law or through a contract between
the government and a third party) or implicit (e.g., based on a public expectation that the government will provide
support to an entity should it be in financial difficulties).
Data Dissemination Standards: Standards that enhance the availability of timely and comprehensive statistics, and
which contribute to sound macroeconomic policies and the efficient functioning of financial markets. The Special
Data Dissemination Standard (SDDS) is a set of global benchmarks, developed by the IMF, for disseminating macroeconomic statistics to the public. The Enhanced General Data Dissemination System (e-GDDS) is a framework
for countries with less developed statistical systems to improve data transparency and governance by publishing
essential data for the analysis of macroeconomic conditions. The SDDS Plus Standard is the highest tier of the SDDS
and is aimed at economies with systemically important financial sectors.
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Debt Sustainability Analysis (DSA): The Debt Sustainability Framework (DSF), developed by the World Bank and the
IMF, guides the borrowing decisions of low- and middle-income countries, matching their financing needs with
their current and prospective ability to repay debt. The DSA is a tool that is used as part of the DSF to conduct a
structured examination of a country’s debt sustainability.
Earmarked taxes: Taxes raised and allocated by a mechanism specified in policy or law to specific expenditure programs, often through an extrabudgetary entity (see extrabudgetary entities).
Economic classification: A classification that identifies the types of expense incurred according to the economic process involved; for example, the payment of wages and salaries or the purchase of goods and services or plant and
equipment. The term is generally used to identify the nature and economic effects of government operations.
Expenditure (or payment) arrears: Amounts that are both unpaid and past the due date for payment. Payment
arrears represent the stock of invoices that have not been paid by the date specified in a contract, within a normal
commercial period for similar transactions, or within a specific period set by laws and regulations. Examples of
arrears include bills overdue from suppliers, overdue salaries or transfers, or overdue debt repayment or debt service payments.
Extrabudgetary entities: Entities that operate under the authority or control of government whose budgets are not
included in the annual budget of the government that is submitted to the legislature. Such entities may not be subject to the same level of scrutiny or accounting standards as those included in the annual budget. A wide variety
of extrabudgetary arrangements are used, including extrabudgetary funds (e.g., social security funds) set up under
separate legislation that may or may not have a separate annual appropriation, or extrabudgetary accounts.
Financial derivative: A financial instrument whose value is derived from one or more underlying assets and through
which specific financial risks (e.g., interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, equity and commodity price risk, and
credit risk) can be traded in financial markets. Examples include futures, swaps, and options.
Fiscal aggregates: Summary fiscal indicators, including on the flow-side total expenditure, total revenue, net lending/net
borrowing, and the overall fiscal balance, and on the stock-side gross and net debt, total assets, total liabilities, and
net worth.
Fiscal council: A permanent agency with a statutory or executive mandate to assess publicly and independently
from partisan influence the government’s fiscal policies, plans, and performance against macroeconomic objectives
related to the long-term sustainability of public finances, short- and medium-term macroeconomic stability, and
other policy objectives. The council may also be mandated to prepare short- and medium-term macroeconomic
and fiscal forecasts that are used by the government in preparing the budget, or to validate the government’s own
forecasts.
Fiscal forecasts: Forecasts of the main fiscal aggregates (revenue, expenditure, borrowing, and public debt), and their
components such as revenue by categories of tax and nontax revenue, and expenditure by administrative, functional, and economic classification.
Fiscal legislation: Laws or regulations relating to the formulation of fiscal policy; principles of fiscal responsibility; the preparation, approval, and execution of the budget; and the accounting, reporting, and auditing of fiscal
information.
Fiscal policy targets and rules: Medium-term objectives or targets for key fiscal indicators such as debt, the fiscal
deficit, revenue collection, or expenditure. These targets may include limits on the growth rate or level of these
indicators and be formalized as rules that are set in legislation or in pronouncements by the government. In addition, the government may legislate or announce procedural rules for the conduct of fiscal policy, for example,
transparency in policymaking, timely disclosure of fiscal information, or the correction of fiscal imbalances within
a specified period.
Fiscal reports: Retrospective reports on fiscal developments, including in-year and year-end budget outturn/execution reports, fiscal statistics, and annual financial statements.
Fiscal risks: Potential shocks to government revenues, expenditures, assets, or liabilities that may cause fiscal outcomes to depart from expectations or forecasts. Fiscal risks can be classified into macroeconomic risks that arise
when forecasts of key macroeconomic variables are different from forecast; or specific risks such as the realization
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of contingent liabilities, natural disasters, or other uncertain events such as the bailout of a public corporation or
financial institution.
Fiscal statistics: Retrospective reports on the government’s financial performance that provide fiscal data based on
international statistical standards such as the IMF’s Government Finance Statistics Manual (GFSM, 2001 or 2014),
or the System of National Accounts (SNA, 1993 or 2008), or the European System of National Accounts (ESA, 1995
or 2010).
Fiscal sustainability: The ability of a government to sustain its current spending, revenue raising, and other policies without threatening government liquidity or solvency, or defaulting on some of its liabilities or promised
expenditures.
Fiscal transparency: Fiscal transparency refers to the information available to the public about the government’s fiscal policymaking process; the clarity, reliability, frequency, timeliness, and relevance of public fiscal reporting; and
the openness of such information. Clarity is the ease with which reports can be understood by users. Reliability is
the extent to which reports are an accurate representation of government fiscal operations and finances. Frequency
(or periodicity) is the regularity with which reports are published. Timeliness refers to the time lag involved in the
dissemination of these reports. Relevance refers to the extent to which reports provide users (legislatures, markets,
and citizens) with the information they need to make effective decisions. Openness refers to the ease with which
the public can influence and hold governments to account for their fiscal policy decisions.
Functional classification: The functional classification of expenses provides information on the purpose for which
an expense was incurred. The United Nations’ Classification of Functions of Government (COFOG) is a detailed
classification of the functions, or socioeconomic objectives, that general government entities aim to achieve through
various kinds of expenditure. It is generally used to measure the allocation of resources by government for the promotion of various activities and objectives (e.g., health, education, transportation, and communication).
General government: All resident institutional units that fulfill the functions of government as their primary activity.
The general government sector comprises the following: all entities of the central, state, regional, provincial, municipal, or local government; all extrabudgetary entities, including social security funds, at each level of government;
and all nonmarket nonprofit institutions that are controlled and financed mainly by government units. Therefore,
the general government sector can also be defined as all the public institutional entities and units that are nonmarket producers. It does not include public corporations that are market producers, even when these companies are
owned and controlled by the government.
Governance: The process by which decisions are made and implemented. Within government, governance is the
process by which public institutions conduct public affairs and manage public resources. Good governance refers to
the management of government in a manner that is essentially free of abuse and corruption, and with due regard
for the rule of law.
Government guarantee: The most common type is a government-guaranteed loan, which requires the government
to repay any amount outstanding in the event of default. In some contracts with a public or private sector entity
(e.g., PPPs), the government may provide a guarantee that requires it to pay compensation if the revenue outturn
or quantity demanded is below the guaranteed level. Similarly, contracts may also contain exchange rate or price
guarantees.
Government (or general) ledger accounts: The book where all transactions by the central government, as a debit or
a credit, are recorded. The government ledger is generally maintained by a government’s general accounting office.
Gross (net) debt: All liabilities that require the payment of interest and/or principal by the debtor to the creditor at a date
or dates in the future. Thus, all liabilities in the government finance statistics (GFS) system are debt, except for shares and
other equity and financial derivatives. Net debt is calculated as gross debt minus financial assets corresponding to debt
instruments. For some purposes, it may be useful to calculate debt net of highly liquid assets, which is, in most cases, is
equal to gross debt minus financial assets in the form of currency and deposits. However, in some cases, debt securities
held for debt management purposes could be included as highly liquid financial assets.
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS): A set of accounting standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). Many of the standards forming part of IFRS are known by the older name of
International Accounting Standards.
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International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS): A set of accounting standards issued by the IPSAS
Board for use by governments and other public-sector entities in the preparation of general purpose financial reports. These standards are comparable to the IFRS that relate to private-sector entities.
In-year fiscal reports: Budget outturn/execution reports and fiscal statistics that are produced every month or
quarter within the financial year, and also include full-year reports that are produced shortly after the end of
the financial year.
Liability: In the GFSM, a liability is established when an entity is obligated, under specific circumstances, to provide funds or other resources to another entity. Liabilities include Special Drawing Rights (SDRs); currency and deposits; debt securities; loans; equity and investment fund shares; insurance, pension, and standardized guarantee
schemes; financial derivatives and employee stock options; and other accounts payable. In IPSAS, a liability is
defined as a current obligation of an entity for an outflow of resources that result from a past event. At a minimum,
the balance sheet (statement of financial position) should include line items of transfers payable, payables under
exchange transactions, provisions, and other financial liabilities.
Macroeconomic forecasts: Projections of key macroeconomic variables such as GDP, consumption, investment, employment, inflation, interest rates, exchange rates, and developments in the world economy. Such forecasts are an
important input for making projections of fiscal aggregates such as public spending, revenue, borrowing, and debt.
Macroeconomic risks: Risks that arise when the forecasts of macroeconomic indicators (GDP, employment, exchange
rates, etc.) differ from the outturns.
Major audit qualifications: Major audit qualifications include any of the following: (i) a disclaimer audit opinion; (ii)
an adverse audit opinion; and (iii) any other audit qualification, the financial impact of which has been estimated
by the auditor to be of the order of one percent of GDP or larger.
Major revisions: Revisions to historical fiscal statistics that are large enough to have a macro-critical impact on the
key fiscal aggregates, and in particular, any revision of the order of one percent of GDP or larger.
Medium-term budget framework (MTBF): A set of institutional arrangements for prioritizing, presenting, and managing revenue and expenditure over a period of three to five years.
Moral hazard: The possibility that a signal or expectation of future government support may induce an undesirable
change in the behavior of the management of a public or private sector entity or enterprise. For example, the entity
may be encouraged to engage in more risky activities because some of its potential losses are seen as being effectively underwritten by the government.
Multi-annual contracts: Contracts between the government and the private sector with a term of more than a year,
such as PPPs, long-term leases, and medium- or long-term procurement arrangements.
Natural resource company (NRC): A nonfinancial public corporation (state-owned enterprise) that is involved in the
exploration, extraction, processing, or sale of minerals or oil.
Net/gross operating balance: A summary measure of the sustainability of the reporting sector’s or subsector’s operations. It is represented by the change in net worth due to transactions (calculated as revenue minus expense). The
gross operating balance equals revenue minus expenses excluding the consumption of fixed capital.
Net lending/borrowing: A summary measure indicating the extent to which the government is either putting financial resources at the disposal of other sectors in the economy or abroad, or is utilizing the financial resources generated by other sectors in the economy or from abroad. It may therefore be viewed as an indicator of the financial
impact of government activity on the rest of the economy and the rest of the world. Net lending/borrowing equals
the net operating balance minus net investment in nonfinancial assets. It is also equal to the net acquisition of financial assets minus the net incurrence of liabilities.
Net worth: Total assets less total liabilities at the end of an accounting period. Some analysis focuses on only the financial assets of the general government sector rather than its total assets. As a result, net financial worth is defined
as the total value of financial assets less total liabilities.
Nondebt liabilities: Liabilities that do not require payment(s) of interest and/or principal by the debtor to the creditor
at a date, or dates, in the future. They include equity and investment fund shares (which entitle its holders only
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to dividends and a claim on the residual value of the liabilities), and employee stock options (which do not supply
funds or other resources, but rather shift the exposure to risks from one party to another).
Nonmarket nonprofit institutions (NPIs): Legal or social entities created for the production of nonmarket goods
and services, but whose status does not permit them to be a source of income, profit, or other financial gain for the
entities that establish, control, and mainly finance them. An entity is a nonmarket producer if most of its output is
not sold at an economically significant price. NPIs controlled by the government are classified in the general government sector.
Nonperforming loan: Nonperforming loans are those for which: (i) payments of principal and/or interest are past
due by three months (90 days) or more, (ii) interest payments equal to three months’ (90 days) interest or more
have been capitalized (reinvested in the principal amount) or payment has been delayed by agreement, or (iii) evidence exists to reclassify a loan as nonperforming even in the absence of a 90-day past-due payment, such as when
the debtor files for bankruptcy.
Outputs and outcomes: In a performance-assessment framework for government, outputs are defined as the goods
or services produced by government agencies (e.g., an increase in the number of teaching hours delivered, or in
the volume of welfare benefits assessed and paid), and outcomes are defined as the effects on social, economic, or
other indicators arising from the delivery of outputs (e.g., an increase in a country’s PISA scores, or improved social
equity).
Overall balance: This term corresponds to the GFSM 1986 terminology of “Overall Deficit/Surplus,” which is defined
as revenue plus grants received less expenditure less “lending minus repayments.” The balance so defined is equal
(with an opposite sign) to the sum of net borrowing by the government, plus the net decrease in government cash,
deposits, and securities held for liquidity purposes. The basis of this balance concept is that government policies
are held to be deficit- or surplus-creating, and thus the revenue or expenditures associated with these policies are
“above the line.” Borrowing or a rundown of liquid assets, however, is deficit financing or “below the line.” It
should be noted that the term lending minus repayments included above the line covers government transactions in
debt and equity claims on others undertaken for purposes of public policy rather than for management of government liquidity or earning a return.
Participatory budgeting: A form of budgeting in which citizens’ groups and other nongovernmental organizations
participate directly in the process of preparing the budget or in monitoring its implementation. Public participation has proven especially valuable in providing feedback on the quality and timeliness of delivery of key public
services in areas such as agriculture, education, the environment, and health.
Primary balance: Equals net lending/borrowing excluding interest expense or net interest expense.
Program budgeting/program classification: Presentation of proposed expenditures in a budget according to the
intended objectives and results of the associated programs, which may be defined as groups of related activities
carried out by a government. A program classification applies this principle across all government activities. Program budgets allocate expenditures by program and are often associated with performance budgets, or results-based
budgets in which indicators are used to measure whether expenditure policies and programs are achieving their
desired objectives, outputs, or outcomes.
Public corporation: A legal entity that is owned or controlled by the government and that produces goods or services
for sale in the market at economically significant prices. There are two main classes of public corporation: nonfinancial corporations and financial corporations.
Public-private partnership (PPP): A group of long-term arrangements where the private sector supplies infrastructure assets and services that have been traditionally provided or financed by the government. PPPs typically comprise a long-term contract between a private party and a government entity for providing a public asset or service,
in which the private party bears significant risk and management responsibility, and remuneration is linked to
performance.
Public sector: The public sector consists of all resident institutional units controlled directly or indirectly by resident
government entities—namely, all entities of the general government sector and resident public corporations.
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Quasi-fiscal activities (QFAs): Operations carried out by public corporations to further a public policy objective that
worsens their financial position relative to a strictly commercial profit-maximizing level. QFAs can take a variety of
forms, including selling goods and services (e.g., energy, water) at less than their commercial cost or paying more
than commercial prices to selected suppliers.
Sensitivity analysis: In macroeconomic and fiscal forecasting, a “what-if” type of analysis to determine the sensitivity
of the forecast outcomes to changes in the assumptions or parameters. If a small change in a parameter results in a
relatively large change in the outcomes, the outcomes are said to be sensitive to that parameter.
Specific fiscal risk: A fiscal risk that is related to specific sources and triggering events, such as the calling of a guarantee, a natural disaster, or the rescue of a bank.
Special Drawing Right (SDR): The SDR is an international reserve asset, created by the IMF in 1969 to supplement
its member countries’ official reserves. SDRs can be exchanged for freely usable currencies. The value of the SDR
is based on a basket of five major currencies—the US dollar, the euro, the Chinese renminbi, the Japanese yen, and
the British pound.
Subnational governments: Decentralized government entities, created by constitution or law, units that have legislative, judicial, or regulatory authority over a geographically delineated part of the country. These entities are
governed by bodies whose members are elected by universal suffrage of persons resident within the delineated
area, and have some autonomy with respect to budgets, staff, and assets. Subnational governments include state,
provincial, or regional governments, as well as municipalities and other local governments.
Supplementary budgets/appropriations: See appropriations.
Supreme Audit Institution (SAI): Highest national auditing authority within the constitutional system that is responsible for auditing the management of public funds. SAIs may perform compliance, financial, or performance audits.
They should be organizationally, administratively, and financially independent of the government. Most SAIs are
members of the International Organization of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI), which acts as a professional
standard-setting body.
Tax arrears: Taxes due to government but not paid within the prescribed time.
Tax expenditures: Revenue foregone, attributable to provisions in the tax law that allow special exclusions, exemptions, deductions, credits, concessions, preferential rates, or deferral of tax liabilities for select groups of taxpayers
or specific activities. These exceptions may be regarded as alternatives to other policy instruments, such as spending or regulatory programs.
User charges: Payments made by consumers, both individual and companies, to meet all or part of the cost of goods
and services provided to them by the public sector.
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